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Part |
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forwaaking statements” as defined under securities.|dlesy of these statements can
be identified by the use of terminology such adid¥es,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “may,Will,” “projects,” “continues,” “estimates,”
“potential,” “opportunity” and similar expressioriBhese forward-looking statements may be foundRisk Factors” “ Business” and other
sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Ouwuatresults or experience could differ signifidaritom the forward-looking statements.
Factors that could cause or contribute to thederdifices include those discussed Risk Factors” as well as those discussed elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. You should cangfabnsider that information before you make aregtment decision.

You should not place undue reliance on these statenwhich speak only as of the date that theyweade. These cautionary
statements should be considered in connectionamyhwritten or oral forward-looking statements thvat may issue in the future. We do not
undertake any obligation to release publicly anysiens to these forward-looking statements aftengletion of the filing of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K to reflect later events orwinstances or to reflect the occurrence of unaraieip events.

The following discussion of our financial conditiand results of operations should be read in catijom with our Consolidated Financ
Statements and the notes thereto appearing elsewhtis Annual Report on Form 10-K. In additionthe other information in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, investors should carefullysidar the following discussion and the informatiorder “Risk Factors’ when evaluating
us and our business.

Iltem 1. Business
Overview

BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. (BioMarin, we, us arpdevelops and commercializes innovative pharmmgcas for serious diseases anc
medical conditions. We select product candidatesligeases and conditions that represent a signifienmet medical need, have well-
understood biology and provide an opportunity tditst-to-market or offer a significant benefit avexisting products. Our product portfolio is
comprised of four approved products and multiplestigational product candidates. Approved prodinciside Naglazyme (galsulfase),
Kuvan (sapropterin dihydrochloride), Aldurazymedlaidase) and Firdapse (amifampridine phosphate).

Naglazyme received marketing approval in the Un8&ates (U.S.) in May 2005, in the European UniBd)(in January 2006 and
subsequently in other countries. Kuvan was gramtarketing approval in the U.S. and EU in Deceml@€72and December 2008, respectiv
In December 2009, the European Medicines AgencyEEBMjranted marketing approval for Firdapse, whigs launched in the EU in April
2010. Aldurazyme, which was developed in collaboratvith Genzyme Corporation (Genzyme), was apptaae2003 for marketing in the
U.S., EU and subsequently other countries. Netymbevenues during 2012 for our approved prodiNaglazyme, Kuvan, Firdapse and
Aldurazyme were $257.0 million, $143.1 million, $24million and $82.2 million, respectively.

We are conducting clinical trials on several inigegtional product candidates for the treatmentasfous diseases including: Vimizim™
(formerly referred to as GALNS), an enzyme replagentherapy for the treatment of Mucopolysacchaigldype IV or Morquio Syndrome
Type A, or MPS IV A, PEG-PAL, an enzyme substitattberapy for the treatment of phenylketonuria KUPBMN-701, an enzyme
replacement therapy for Pompe disease, a glycdgesge disorder, BMN-673, an orally available p@WDP-ribose) polymerase, or PARP
inhibitor for the treatment of patients with centaancers and BMN-111, a peptide therapeutic f®tridatment of achondroplasia.
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We are conducting or planning to conduct preclinitevelopment of several other enzyme product aiaids for genetic and other
metabolic diseases, including BMN-190 for the tmeatt of late infantile neuronal ceroid lipofusciip®r LINCL, a form of Batten disease.
We expect to initiate a Phase 1 clinical trial ®8-190 in the first half of 2013.

A summary of our various commercial products angbmdevelopment programs, including key metricefflBecember 31, 2012, is
provided below:

2012
Research &
2012
Total Net Developmen
Orphan Product
Drug Revenues Expense

Program Indication Designatior Stage (in millions) (in millions)

Naglazyme MPS VI (1) Yes Approved $ 257.( $ 12.4

Aldurazyme (2 MPS I (3) Yes Approved $ 82.2 $ 1.2

Kuvan PKU (4) Yes Approved $ 143.1 $ 14.1

Firdapse (5 LEMS (6) Yes Approved in the EU onl $ 14.2 $ 5.4

Vimizim for MPS IV A MPS IVA(7) Yes Clinical Phase . N/A $ 97.C

PEG-PAL PKU Yes Clinical Phase : N/A $ 26.7

BMN-701 for Pompe disea: POMPE (8) Yes Clinical Phase 1/. N/A $ 31.€
BMN-673, PARP inhibitor for the treatment of patie Not yet Not yet

with cancel determinec determinec Clinical Phase 1/. N/A $ 9.7
BMN-673, PARP inhibitor for the treatment of patie Not yet Not yet

with hematological malignancit determinec determinec Clinical Phase 1/. N/A $ 1.7

BMN-111, peptide therapeutic for the treatment
of Achondroplasi: Achondroplasie Yes Clinical Phase : N/A $ 12.1

(1) Mucopolysaccharidosis VI, or MPS"

(2) The Aldurazyme total product revenue noted alisthe total product revenue recognized by @aordance with the terms of our agreement withz@®e Corporation. See “
Commercial Produc—Aldurazyme” below for further discussiol

(3) Mucopolysaccharidosis I, or MP<

(4) Phenylketonuria, or PKI

(5) Marketing approval from the EMEA for Firdapse waarded in December 2009. We launched FirdapseeiEthin April 2010

(6) Lambert Eaton Myasthenic Syndrome, or LE

(7) Morquio A Syndrome, or MPS 1V,

(8) Pompe disease, a glycogen storage disc

Commercial Products
Naglazyme

Naglazyme is a recombinant form of N-acetylgalaatose 4-sulfatase (arylsulfatase B) indicated fdrgmts with
mucopolysaccharidosis VI, or MPS VI. MPS VI is adilitating life-threatening genetic disease for ethno other drug treatment currently
exists and is caused by the deficiency of arylsatfa B, an enzyme normally required for the brewakdof certain complex carbohydrates
known as glycosaminoglycans, or GAGs. Patients Mit5 VI typically become progressively worse angdexience multiple severe and
debilitating symptoms resulting from the build-ujcarbohydrate residues in tissues in the bodys&lsgmptoms include: inhibited growth,
spinal cord compression, enlarged liver and splgémt, deformities and reduced range of motion)estied deformities, impaired cardiovascular
function, upper airway obstruction, reduced pulmgranction, frequent ear and lung infections, iin@d hearing and vision, sleep apnea,
malaise and reduced endurance.

Naglazyme was granted marketing approval in the lo.$lay 2005 and in the EU in January 2006. WekaaNaglazyme in the U.S.,
EU, Canada, Latin America, Turkey, and Russia usimgown sales force and commercial organizatiatdi#onally, we use local distributors
in several other regions to help us pursue registrand/or market Naglazyme on a hamed patiens bilaglazyme net product sales for 2012
totaled $257.0 million, as compared to $224.9 onillffor 2011. Naglazyme net product sales for 20&fev$192.7 million.
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Kuvan

Kuvan is a proprietary synthetic oral form of 6R-BH naturally occurring enzyme co-factor for pHatanine hydroxylase, or PAH,
indicated for patients with PKU. Kuvan is the fidstig for the treatment of PKU, which is an inhegimetabolic disease that affects at least
50,000 diagnosed patients under the age of 4(idé¢lreloped world. We believe that approximatelya380% of those with PKU could
benefit from treatment with Kuvan. PKU is causedalyeficiency of activity of an enzyme, PAH, whislrequired for the metabolism of
phenylalanine, or Phe. Phe is an essential amiidf@aend in all protein-containing foods. WithoutfEcient quantity or activity of PAH, Phe
accumulates to abnormally high levels in the blaedulting in a variety of serious neurological @ications, including severe mental
retardation and brain damage, mental iliness, seszand other cognitive problems.

Kuvan was granted marketing approval for the treatnof PKU in the U.S. in December 2007. We makketan in the U.S. and Canada
using our own sales force and commercial orgamimatfuvan has been granted orphan drug statugiti8., which confers seven years of
market exclusivity in the U.S. for the treatmenfPtfU, expiring in 2014. We expect that our patemitsprovide market exclusivity beyond the
expiration of orphan status. Kuvan net productséde 2012 were $143.1 million, as compared to $ billion for 2011. Kuvan net product
sales for 2010 were $99.4 million.

In May 2005, we entered into an agreement with M&erono S.A. (Merck Serono) for the further depatent and commercialization
Kuvan and any other product containing 6R-BH4, BEGPAL for PKU. Through the agreement, as amende®@¥ 2Merck Serono acquire
exclusive rights to market these products in afitteries outside the U.S., Canada and Japan, anatained exclusive rights to market these
products in the U.S. and to market Kuvan in Canktiack Serono markets Kuvan in the EU and seveharacountries outside the U.S.,
Canada and Japan. Under the agreement with Merok&ewe are entitled to receive royalties, on anty-by-country basis, until the later of
the expiration of patent right licensed to Merckd®® or ten years after the first commercial séléne licensed product in such country. Over
the next several years, we expect a royalty of@pprately four percent on net sales of Kuvan by ékeBerono. We also sell Kuvan to Merck
Serono at or near cost, and Merck Serono resa@lpribduct to end-users outside the U.S., Canaddapah. The royalty earned from Kuvan
product sold by Merck Serono in the EU is includsda component of net product revenues in the gpedoned. In 2012, we earned $1.9
million in net royalties on net sales of $46.8 foill of Kuvan by Merck Serono, compared to 2011 wiverearned $1.6 million in net royalties
on net sales of $40.4 million. In 2010, we earn@® $nillion in net royalties on net sales of $2Million. We recorded collaborative agreem
revenue associated with shared Kuvan developmeis aothe amounts of $2.0 million in 2012, $0.%liom in 2011 and $0.7 million in 2010.

On February 19, 2013, we announced results fronPé&l-016 ASCEND study, a randomized controlled &\zaluating
neuropsychiatric outcomes in PKU patients treatid uvan. The study evaluated medically importsyrnptoms similar to attention deficit
hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in PKU patients whadsieod levels of Phe are reduced by Kuvan. The amynendpoint of the study was
evaluated using an attention deficit hyperactivitiing scale (ADHD-RS), commonly used to evalugtagoms of inattentiveness and
hyperactivity. Kuvan improved the ADHD-RS (p=0.088)iven by a statistically significant changelire inattention component of the score
(p=0.036).

Aldurazyme

Aldurazyme has been approved for marketing in tif& WEU and other countries for patients with mudggaccharidosis |, or MPS I.
MPS | is a progressive and debilitating life-thezahg genetic disease, for which no other drugrmeat currently exists, that is caused by the
deficiency of alpha-L-iduronidase, a lysosomal en@ynormally required for the breakdown of GAGsiétdas with MPS | typically become
progressively worse and experience multiple sesackdebilitating symptoms resulting from the builgl-of carbohydrate residues in all tissue:
in the body. These symptoms include: inhibited ghpwlelayed and
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regressed mental development (in the severe fortimeodisease), enlarged liver and spleen, joirardgties and reduced range of motion,
impaired cardiovascular function, upper airway oligton, reduced pulmonary function, frequent est lung infections, impaired hearing and
vision, sleep apnea, malaise and reduced endurance.

We developed Aldurazyme through collaboration v8#nzyme. Under our collaboration agreement, weesgonsible for
manufacturing Aldurazyme and supplying it to Geney@enzyme records sales of Aldurazyme and is medjto pay us, on a quarterly basi
39.5% to 50% royalty on worldwide net product sale recognize a portion of this royalty as produvatsfer revenue when product is
released to Genzyme and all of our obligations Heeen fulfilled. Genzyme'return rights for Aldurazyme are limited to defee product. Th
product transfer revenue represents the fixed atqmemunit of Aldurazyme that Genzyme is requiregay us if the product is unsold by
Genzyme. The amount of product transfer revenuleew@intually be deducted from the calculated rgyatien the product is sold by Genzy
Additionally, Genzyme and we are members of a 50rbided liability company that: (1) holds the iflextual property relating to Aldurazyme
and other collaboration products and licensesualhsntellectual property on a royalty-free basisis and Genzyme to allow us to exercise ou
rights and perform our obligations under the age@sirelated to the restructuring, and (2) engagessearch and development activities that
are mutually selected and funded by Genzyme and us.

Our Aldurazyme net product revenues totaled $82libmfor 2012 as compared to $82.8 million forl20and $71.2 million for 2010.
The net product revenues for 2012, 2011 and 20di0de $80.4 million, $74.2 million and $68.0 miliorespectively, of royalty revenue on
net Aldurazyme sales by Genzyme. Net sales of Aldgme by Genzyme totaled $193.1 million for 201852 million for 2011 and $166.8
million for 2010. Incremental Aldurazyme net protitransfer revenue of $1.8 million, $8.6 milliomd$3.2 million for 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively, reflect incremental shipments of Aityme to Genzyme to meet future product demanthdriuture, to the extent that Genzyme
Aldurazyme inventory quantities on hand remain &iant, we expect that our total Aldurazyme revenu#l approximate the 39.5% to 50%
royalties on net product sales by Genzyme.

Firdapse

Firdapse is a form of 3, 4-diaminopyridine (amifaidme phosphate), or 3, 4-DAP for the treatmeritBMS. Firdapse was originally
developed by AGEPS, the pharmaceutical unit oPRtes Public Hospital Authority, or ARP. Firdapse was granted marketing approval ii
EU in December 2009. In addition, Firdapse has lpganted orphan drug status in the EU, which carifem years of market exclusivity in the
EU. We launched Firdapse on a country-by-countsisoia Europe beginning in April 2010. Firdapse pretduct revenues in 2012 were $14.2
million, compared to $13.1 million and $6.4 milliam2011 and 2010, respectively. In October 2012 Jisensed to Catalyst Pharmaceutical
Partners, Inc. the North American rights to devedod market Firdapse. In exchange for the North #gaa rights to Firdapse, we may rece
royalties of 7% to 10% on net product sales of &gk in North America.

LEMS is a rare autoimmune disease with the prinsgrigptoms of muscle weakness. Muscle weakness ind EMaused by
autoantibodies to voltage gated calcium channelditg to a reduction in the amount of acetylchoteleased from nerve terminals. The
prevalence of LEMS is estimated at four to tenmaiion, or approximately 2,000 to 5,000 patientgtie EU and 1,200 to 3,100 patients in the
U.S. Approximately 50% of LEMS patients diagnosestdnsmall cell lung cancer. Patients with LEMS ¢gly present with fatigue, muscle
pain and stiffness. The weakness is generally mandked in the proximal muscles particularly of bags and trunk. Other problems include
reduced reflexes, drooping of the eyelids, faciedkness and problems with swallowing. Patientsxafteort a dry mouth, impotence,
constipation and feelings of light headedness andihg. On occasion these problems can be lifatbning when the weakness involves
respiratory muscles. A diagnosis of LEMS is gergmalade on the basis of clinical symptoms, elecirognaphy testing and the presence of
auto antibodies against voltage gated calcium atlan@urrently approved treatments of LEMS can
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consist of strategies directed at the underlyingignancy, if one is present. Therapy of small aaflg cancer is limited and outcomes are
generally poor. Immunosuppressive agents have toieeihbut success is limited by toxicity and diffity administering the regimens. A
mainstay of therapy has been 3, 4-DAP, but itsimgeactice has been limited by the drug’s avaligbi

Products in Clinical Development

We are developing Vimizim, an enzyme replacemesrtaiby for the treatment of MPS IV A, a lysosomatage disorder. In November
2012, we announced the top-line results of a pivitase 3 clinical trial for Vimizim for the treagmt of MPS IV A. The top-line results
demonstrated that the study met the primary endpbichange in six-minute walk distance compareith&iplacebo at 24 weeks in subjects
receiving weekly infusions of Vimizim at the dodetwo milligrams per kilogram per week. This Ph&siial was a randomized, double-blind,
placebo-controlled study designed to evaluate tlheaey and safety of Vimizim in patients with MP® A. The trial was conducted at 31
centers worldwide including Brazil, Japan, Taiwarpst Western European countries, Canada and thaNk®nrolled 176 patients in this tr
The trial explored doses of two milligrams per gilam per week and two milligrams per kilogram ewettyer week for a treatment period of
weeks.

In addition, in November 2011, we announced thigsitidn of a Phase 2 study for Vimizim in patiemith MPS IVA who are under five
years of age. The primary objective of the Phaggp8t-label, multinational clinical study is to evaluale safety and tolerability of infusions
of Vimizim at a dose of 2.0 milligrams per kilogrgrar week over a 52-week period in 10 to 15 padigrith MPS IVA who are under five
years of age. The secondary objectives are to atealurinary keratin sulfate levels and growth vityod his study is ongoing

PEG-PAL is an investigational enzyme substitutiverapy that we are developing as a subcutaneadion for the treatment of PKU.
In preclinical models, PEG-PAL produced a rapidsetdependent reduction in blood phenylalanine her|Bvels, the same endpoint that was
used in the Kuvan studies. In June 2009, we anreglresults from a Phase 1 open-label, single-dims®-escalation clinical trial of PERAL
for PKU. Significant reductions in blood Phe levaisre observed in all patients in the fifth dostwdport of the Phase 1 trial. In addition, there
were no serious immune reactions observed andtmitdbderate injection-site reactions were in linthwur expectations. In September 2009
we initiated a Phase 2, open-label dose findingadi trial of PEG-PAL. The primary objective ofistctlinical trial is to optimize the dose and
schedule that produces the most favorable safefjigoand Phe reduction. The secondary objectifekenclinical trial are to evaluate the
safety and tolerability of multiple dose levelsREG-PAL, to evaluate the immune response to PEG;RAd to evaluate steady-state
phamacokinetics in all patients and accumulatioRBEG-PAL in a subset of patients enrolled in thiisical trial. Preliminary results from this
clinical trial were presented in August 2010 andveéd that of the seven patients who received at t@e milligram per kilogram per week of
PEG-PAL for at least four weeks, six patients haskieved Phe levels below 600 micromoles per Igid to moderate self-limiting injection
site reactions are the most commonly reported ityxilm April 2011 we initiated an extension of tRbase 2 study to find the quickest and
safest induction dosing regimen to an efficacioasntenance dose. This study is ongoing. We expeditiate a Phase 3 clinical trial of PEG-
PAL in the second quarter of 2013.

BMN-673 is a PARP inhibitor, a class of moleculeatthas shown clinical activity against cancer®iving defects in DNA repair that
we are investigating for the treatment of certainaers. In January 2011, we announced the intiati@ Phase 1/2 clinical trial for BMN-673
for the treatment of patients with solid tumorseTdiinical trial is an open-label study of oncelyladrally administered BMN-673 in
approximately 85 patients ages 18 and older witraaded or recurrent solid tumors. The primary dibjecf the study is to establish the
maximum tolerated dose of daily oral BMN-673. Tlkeeandary objective of the study is to establishstifety, pharmacokinetic profile and
recommended Phase 2 dose. The study, to datestadnighed a preliminary dose that is generally-tedérated and reaches steady state with
repeated daily doses, and we are currently expgribeanumber of patients treated at that dose ekpansion phase of the study will focus on
cancers characterized by BRCA mutations, Ewing’'ssaa and small cell lung cancer.
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In July 2011, we initiated a Phase 1/2 clinicalltfor BMN-673 for the treatment of patients wittivanced hematological malignancies.
This clinical trial is a two-arm, open-label dosea&ation study to determine the maximum tolerdtesk and to assess the safety,
pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and prelimiaffigacy of once daily, orally administered BMN-6irSpatients with acute myeloid
leukemia, myelodsplastic syndrome, chronic lympliedgukemia or mantle cell lymphoma. This studyl emnroll approximately 80 patients.
Currently, the study is in a dose-escalation phase.

BMN-701 is a novel fusion of insulin-like growthdi@r 2 and alpha glucosidase (IGF2-GAA) in develeptrfor Pompe disease. We
acquired the BMN-701 program in August 2010 in ceetion with the acquisition of ZyStor Therapeutics,. (ZyStor). In January 2011, we
announced the initiation of a Phase 1/2 clinidal for BMN-701. This clinical trial is an open-labstudy to evaluate the safety, tolerability,
pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamic and clinicavigtof BMN-701 administered as an intravenous &idm every two weeks at doses of 20
milligrams per kilogram. We have completed enrolhinef this study with 22 patients between the agfels3 and 65 years old with late-onset
Pompe disease for a treatment period of 24 wedies pfimary objectives of this study are to evaluhéesafety and tolerability of BMNMO1 as
well as determine the antibody response to BMN-AbE secondary objectives of the study are to deterthe single and multi-dose
pharmacokinetics of BMN-701 and determine mobdihd functional exercise capacity in patients réngiBMN-701. Pompe disease is a
lysosomal storage disorder caused by a deficiem&AA, which prevents cells from adequately degrgdjlycogen. This results in the storage
of glycogen in lysosomes, particularly those in oleigells, thereby damaging those cells and caysiogressive muscle weakness which in
turn can result in death due to pulmonary or cardiaufficiency. We expect to report tlipe results from this study in the first quarté2613.

BMN-111 is a peptide therapeutic in developmentli@rtreatment of achondroplasia. In September 20@Znnounced the results of a
Phase 1 clinical trial for BMN-111. The primary ebjive of the Phase 1 clinical trial was to assessafety and tolerability of single and
multiple doses of BMN-111 in normal healthy adwtunteers up to the maximum tolerated dose. BMN144& generally well-tolerated over
the range of single and repeat doses studied. Ricakimetic data indicated that the dose levelsistucbsulted in exposure levels that are
expected to stimulate growth based on non-cliffiodings. We expect to start the Phase 2 studedigiric patients in mid-2013.

Manufacturing

We manufacture Naglazyme, Aldurazyme, Vimizim, PEGSL and BMN-111 in our approved Good Manufacturitrgctices (GMP)
production facilities located in Novato, Californiialing and packaging are performed by contraghufacturers. We believe that we have
ample operating capacity to support the commedgaiand of both Naglazyme and Aldurazyme throudbast the next five years as well as
the clinical requirements and initial launch of \faim, if approved.

In August 2011, we acquired a bulk biologics mantifeing plant located in Shanbally, County of Cdrkjand. This 142,000-squafeet
facility which was completed and validated in 20085 approved by the Irish Medicines Board in 20¥@.are not currently manufacturing :
products in this facility. We currently intend tamufacture Vimizim in this facility. However, betowe can manufacture any product in this
facility, including Vimizim, substantial modificaths to the facility will be required and we willegtto requalify and validate certain systen
the facility. The addition of the Shanbally fagilivill increase our operating capacity to suppbet tommercial demand of Vimizim, if
approved.

Our Novato, California facilities have been licethdy the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), ther&arean Commission (EC) and
health agencies in other countries for the comrakpebduction of Aldurazyme and Naglazyme. All of dacilities and those of any thihrty
manufacturers will be subject to periodic inspattieonfirming compliance with applicable law andsiiobe GMP certified before we can
manufacture our drugs for commercial sales.
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Kuvan is manufactured on a contract basis by d4hérty. There are two approved manufacturerseftttive pharmaceutical ingredient,
or API, for Kuvan. Firdapse, BMN-701 and BMN-67& aach manufactured on a contract basis by a plairy- There is one approved
manufacturer of the API for Firdapse.

In general, we expect to continue to contract wiitside service providers for certain manufactusagvices, including final product
vialing and packaging operations for our recombirgarzymes and API production and tableting for Kkuaad Firdapse. Third-party
manufacturers’ facilities are subject to periogisgections to confirm compliance with applicable End must be GMP certified. We believe
that our current agreements with third-party mactuiigers and suppliers provide for ample operataqgacity to support the anticipated
commercial demand for Kuvan and Firdapse. In aeitatances, there is only one approved contraoufaaturer for certain aspects of the
manufacturing process. In such cases, we attengretent disruption of supplies through supply egrents, maintaining safety stock and
other appropriate strategies. Although we have mexgerienced a disruption in supply from our cactimanufacturers, we cannot provide
assurance that we will not experience a disrugtiche future.

Raw Materials

Raw materials and supplies required for the pradoatf our products and product candidates ardalai in some instances from one
supplier, and in other instances, from multipleigps. In those cases where raw materials are ardjlable through one supplier, such
supplier may be either a sole source (the onlygeized supply source available to us) or a singlece (the only approved supply source for
us among other sources). We have adopted poliziadempt, to the extent feasible, to minimize i material supply risks, including
maintenance of greater levels of raw materialsntwmg and implementation of multiple raw materisdsircing strategies, especially for critical
raw materials. Although to date we have not expegd any significant delays in obtaining any rawerials from our suppliers, we cannot
provide assurance that we will not face shortagms one or more of them in the future.

Sales and Marketing

We have established a commercial organizationudtiafy a small salesforce to support our produetlidirectly in the U.S., Europe,
South America and certain other significant markiets other selected markets, we have signed agmetsnwith other companies to act as
distributors of Naglazyme. Most of these agreemgateerally grant the distributor the right to marke product in the territory and the
obligation to secure all necessary regulatory agdsofor commercial or named patient sales. Addélanarkets are being assessed at this timr
and additional agreements may be signed in thegutt/e believe that the size of our sales for@popriate to effectively reach our target
audience in markets where Naglazyme, Kuvan andapsd are directly marketed. We utilize third-pdotyistics companies to store and
distribute our products.

Genzyme has the exclusive right to distribute, rebahd sell Aldurazyme globally and is requireghtiochase its requirements
exclusively from us.

Customers

Our Naglazyme, Kuvan and Firdapse customers indudaited number of specialty pharmacies and esets) such as hospitals and
foreign government agencies, which act as retail®esalso sell Naglazyme to our authorized Euromhstnibutors and to certain larger
pharmaceutical wholesalers, which act as intermiegidetween us and end-users and generally detoak significant quantities of
Naglazyme. During 2012, 43% of our net Naglazymevah and Firdapse product revenues were genergtialde customers. Genzyme is
sole customer for Aldurazyme and is responsiblerfarketing and selling Aldurazyme to third-parties.

Despite the significant concentration of customtrs,demand for Naglazyme, Kuvan and Firdapseivedprimarily by patient therapy
requirements and we are not dependent upon anyididi distributor with respect to Naglazyme, Kuvarirdapse sales. Due to the pricing
of Naglazyme, Kuvan and Firdapse and the limitemhioer of patients, the specialty pharmacies and egadérs generally carry a very limited
inventory, resulting in sales of Naglazyme, Kuvad &irdapse being closely tied to emsker demand. However, in certain countries padity
in Latin America, governments place large periaaigers for Naglazyme. The timing of these ordersaeaate significant quarter to quarter
variation in our revenue.
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Competition

The biopharmaceutical industry is rapidly evolvargd highly competitive. The following is a summanalysis of known competitive
threats for each of our major product programs:

Naglazyme, Aldurazyme and Vimizi

Small companies and academic groups continue toaeavarious approaches to treating MPS VI, MBEMPS IVA however, we are
not aware of any active competitive program foryene replacement therapy for MPS VI, MPS | or MPSAlthat has entered clinical trials.

Bone marrow transplantation has been used tosezxatrely affected patients, generally under theohd@o, with some success. Bone
marrow transplantation is associated with high riitypand mortality rates as well as with probleimiserent in the procedure itself, including
graft versus host disease, graft rejection and dawailability, which limits its utility and applation. There are other developing technologies,
including gene therapy, that are potential competithreats to enzyme replacement therapies. Homeseknow of no such technology that
has entered clinical trials related to MPS VI, MRS MPS IV A.

Kuvan and PEC-PAL

There are currently no other approved drugs fotréstment of PKU. PKU is commonly treated with adical food diet that is highly-
restrictive and unpalatable. We perceive mediaadioas a complement to Kuvan and PEG-PAL and sigjréficant competitive threat.
Dietary supplements of large neutral amino acidéXR), have also been used in the treatment of PKius treatment may be a competitive
threat to Kuvan and PEG-PAL. However, because LN#\A dietary supplement, the FDA has not evaluatgdclaims of efficacy of LNAA.
At least one company has filed a drug master fite the FDA for production of the active ingrediémtKuvan. However, we have no
knowledge that any company has filed an abbreviaéeddrug application, or ANDA, for Kuvan or penfioed the bioequivalence study that
would be required for an ANDA. See the ANDA disdassunder “The Hatch-Waxman Act” for additional anfnation.

Firdapse and LEMS

There are no other approved drugs for the treatwfddEMS. Current options rely on intravenous imraglobulin, plasmapherisis and/or
immuno suppressant drugs. In some countries, 3,RB BAavailable, as a base, through various compogmharmacies, as a special or
magistral formulation, or through investigator spored studies. Firdapse is the only approved veidi@,4 DAP. One other aminopyridine,
4AP, has been approved in the U.S. by another paautical company. However, this is for the treathuod fatigue associated with Multiple
Sclerosis. The role of 4AP in LEMS is unproven andertain.

BMN-673

There are several other PARP inhibitors ahead oNB33 in clinical development for the treatmenwvafious solid and hematologic
malignancies. None of these PARP inhibitors howghvas yet been approved by the FDA or any otharatgry agency.

BMN-701

There are two approved enzyme replacement therfpi@ompe disease in the U.S. and at least twe nmopreclinical studies. Gene
therapy is also being tested in clinical trials angharmaceutical company initiated a Phase Zaliniial to test its small molecule chaperone
as a combination therapy with enzyme replacememagy.
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BMN-111

There are currently no approved drugs for thetmeat of achondroplasia. There are other peptideaiily development for
achondroplasia, although BMN-111 is the only peptiterapeutic that has entered clinical trialssicirondroplasia.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

Our success depends on an intellectual propertjotiorthat supports our future revenue streamsalsd erects barriers to our
competitors. We are maintaining and building ouepaportfolio through: filing new patent appliaats; prosecuting existing applications and
licensing and acquiring new patents and patenticaijuns. Furthermore we seek to protect our owrnprsf know-how, trade secrets and
trademarks through an active program of legal meishas including registrations, assignments, comfidéity agreements, material transfer
agreements, research collaborations and licenses.

The number of our issued patents now stands abaippately 213, including approximately 62 patessuied by the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office (USPTO). Furthermore, our portfaf pending patent applications totals approximye@&4 applications, including
approximately 58 pending U.S. applications.

With respect to Naglazyme, we have 17 issued patardiuding three U.S. patents. Claims cover duapureN -acetylgalactosamine-4-
sulfatase compositions of Naglazyme, methods atitrg deficiencies o -acetylgalactosamine-4-sulfatase, including MPSnvthods of
producing and purifying such ultrapuxe-acetylgalactosamine-4-sulfatase compositions,naetthods of detecting lysosomal enzyme-specific
antibodies. These patents will expire between Z0@ghpositions of matter, methods of use) and 2@2&tfods of detecting).

With respect to Kuvan and BH4, we own, co-own orenicensed a number of patents and pending papghications that relate
generally to formulations and forms of our drugstabce, methods of use for various indications uddeelopment and dosing regimens. We
have rights to 31 issued patents including 12 i$dlé. patents with claims to a stable tablet fdation of BH4, methods of treating PKU
using a once daily dosing regimen, methods of amtnation of Kuvan with food, crystalline forms BH4, and methods of producing BH4.
These patents will expire between 2024 and 2029.

We have rights to 33 issued patents, includinds&. patents, related to Aldurazyme. These patawsr our ultra-pure alpha-L-
iduronidase composition of Aldurazyme, methodsedting deficiencies of alpha-L-iduronidase by aulstering pharmaceutical compositions
comprising such ultra-pure alpha-L-iduronidase,ethod of purifying such ultra-pure alpha-L-iduroaséeé and the use of compositions of ultra
pure biologically active fragments of alpha-L-idoigdase. These patents will expire in 2019 and 208@re are U.S. patents on alpha-L-
iduronidase owned and controlled by a third-pafte have examined such issued U.S. patents, theddlhS. and foreign applications and
their file histories, the prior art and other infation. Corresponding foreign applications werediin Canada, Europe and Japan. The
European application was rejected and abandonedaamibt be re-filed. The Japanese application lsadapsed and cannot befiled. Claims
in the related Canadian application issued in 200& believe that such patents may not survive Hestge to patent validity but that it is
unlikely that a court in any country would ordertastop marketing the only life-saving drug tteaturrently approved for this disease.
However, the processes of patent law are uncestadrany patent proceeding is subject to multipkntinipated outcomes. We believe that
in the best interest of our joint venture with Gane to market Aldurazyme with commercial diligenceprder to provide MPS | patients with
the benefits of Aldurazyme. We believe that thesemts and patent applications do not affect ollityato market Aldurazyme in Europe.

We have patent protection in the European Pategaidization (EPO) countries for Firdapse for thatireent of LEMS and we have no
issued patents in the U.S. for Firdapse for thattnent of LEMS.
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With respect to Vimizim, we own or have licenseauanber of patents and pending patent applicatiwgisrelate generally to
compositions of matter, methods of use and metbbgdsoduction. We have rights to 11 issued patgmdsiding five issued U.S. patents with
claims to compositions of purified recombinant Neigtgalactosamine-6-sulfate sulfatase (Vimizim) Inogis of treating Morquio Syndrome
and sulfatase-modifying factor | (SUMF1) polypepsdand nucleic acids used in the manufacture of2ifim Issued U.S. patents cover
SUMF1 compositions (set to expire in 2019), pudfiecombinant Vimizim compositions (set to expire029) and methods of treating
Morquio Syndrome (set to expire in 2029). We alawehissued U.S. and European patents that covéod®bdf production and are set to
expire in 2024.

Government Regulation

We operate in a highly regulated industry, whichubject to significant federal, state, local amcbign regulation. Our present and future
business has been, and will continue to be, sutgextvariety of laws including the Federal Foodudpand Cosmetic Act, or FDC Act, the
Public Health Service Act, the Medicaid rebate paog the Veterans Health Care Act of 1992, anddtbeupational Safety and Health Act,
among others.

The FDC Act and other federal and state statutdsegulations govern, among other things, therigstesearch, development,
manufacture, safety, effectiveness, labeling, g@raecord keeping, approval, advertising and ptampimport and export of our products. As
a result of these laws and regulations, produceldgment and product approval processes are vegnsive and time consuming.

FDA Approval Process

Pharmaceutical product development in the U.Scaflyi involves preclinical laboratory and animadte the submission to the FDA of
investigational new drug application, or IND, whictust become effective before clinical testing masnmence, and adequate and well-
controlled human clinical trials to establish tladety and effectiveness of the drug for each intdicafor which FDA approval is sought.
Satisfaction of FDA pre-market approval requirersdgpically takes many years and the actual timeired may vary substantially based
upon the type, complexity and novelty of the prddradisease.

Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluationywad as animal trials, to assess the charactesistnd potential pharmacology and toxi
of the product. The conduct of the preclinicalsasust comply with federal regulations and requeets, including good laboratory practices.
The results of preclinical testing are submitteth® FDA as part of an IND along with other infotioa, including information about product
chemistry, manufacturing and controls and a progpasiaical trial protocol. Long term preclinicalss, such as animal tests of reproductive
toxicity and carcinogenicity, may continue aftee tND is submitted.

A 30-day waiting period after the submission oftefdD is required prior to the commencement oficlihtesting in humans. If the FDA
has not objected to the IND within this 30-day pdrithe clinical trial proposed in the IND may hbegi

Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational new drug to healthy volunteers digpés under the supervision of a
qualified investigator. Clinical trials must be clutted in compliance with federal regulations, goliaical practices, or GCP, as well as undel
protocols detailing the objectives of the triak farameters to be used in monitoring safety ameffiectiveness criteria to be evaluated. Each
protocol involving testing on U.S. patients andseduent protocol amendments must be submittecetBA as part of the IND.

The FDA may order the temporary or permanent discoation of a clinical trial at any time or imposther sanctions if it believes that
the clinical trial is not being conducted in acarde with FDA requirements or presents an unacbkptesk to the clinical trial patients. The
study protocol and informed consent informationgatients in clinical trials must also be submitteén institutional review board, or IRB, 1
approval. An IRB may also require the clinical taathe site to be halted, either temporarily empanently, for failure to comply with the
IRB’s requirements, or may impose other conditions.

10
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Clinical trials to support new drug applications NDAS, or biological product licenses, or BLAsy foarketing approval are typically
conducted in three sequential phases, but the pimaag overlap. In Phase 1, the initial introductidthe drug into healthy human subjects or
patients, the drug is tested to assess metabgisangnacokinetics, pharmacological actions, sidect$fassociated with increasing doses and,
possible, early evidence on effectiveness. Phasi2lly involves trials in a limited patient poptida, to determine the effectiveness of the
drug for a particular indication or indications,sdge tolerance and optimum dosage, and to idestifynon adverse effects and safety risks. |
a compound demonstrates evidence of effectivemabamacceptable safety profile in Phase 2 evalositiPhase 3 trials are undertaken to
obtain the additional information about clinicaliedcy and safety in a larger number of patientgically at geographically dispersed clinical
trial sites. After completion of the required ctial testing, an NDA or BLA is prepared and submiitie the FDA. FDA approval of the NDA
BLA is required before marketing of the product niigin in the U.S. The NDA or BLA must include ttesults of all preclinical, clinical and
other testing, a compilation of data relating te pmoduct’'s pharmacology, chemistry, manufactuce@mtrols, proposed labeling and a
payment of a significant user fee (currently ex@eg®1,958,000), among other things. The manufactand/or sponsor under an approved
NDA or BLA are also subject to annual product astablishment user fees, currently exceeding $98)@d@roduct and $526,000
establishment. These fees are typically increagegtldoFDA annually.

The FDA has 60 days from its receipt of an NDA &ABo determine whether the application will be epted for filing based on the
agency’s threshold determination that it is sudfitly complete to permit substantive review. TheARDay request additional information
rather than accepting an NDA or BLA for filing. Gnthe submission is accepted for filing, the FDAibe an in-depth review. The FDA has
agreed to certain performance goals in the revieM®As or BLAs. Most such applications for non-pitg drug products are reviewed within
ten to twelve months. The goal for initial reviefwoost applications for priority review of drugbat is, drugs that the FDA determines
represent a significant improvement over existhmrapy, is six months to eight months. The reviescgess may be extended by the FDA for
three additional months to consider new informatiahmitted during the review or clarification redjag information already provided in the
submission. The FDA may also refer applicationsnfovel products or products that present diffiquiestions of safety or efficacy to an
advisory committee, typically a panel that includbsicians and other experts, for review, evalmatind a recommendation as to whether the
application should be approved. The FDA is not labloy the recommendation of an advisory committeéjttgenerally follows such
recommendations. Before approving an NDA or BLA BDA will typically inspect one or more clinicates to assure compliance with GCP.
Additionally, the FDA will inspect the facility dhe facilities at which the drug is manufacturedde FDA will not approve the product unless
compliance with current good manufacturing practiae cGMPs, is satisfactory and the NDA or BLA t@ins data that provide substantial
evidence that the drug is safe and effective innteation studied.

After the FDA evaluates the NDA or BLA, includiniget manufacturing procedures and facilities, itéssan approval letter, or a comp
response letter. A complete response letter ostline deficiencies in the submission and may recgubstantial additional testing or
information in order for the FDA to reconsider tiqgplication. If and when those deficiencies havenbeddressed, the FDA will re-initiate
review. If it is satisfied that the deficienciesrbabeen addressed, the FDA will issue an appret@rl The FDA has committed to reviewing
such resubmissions in two or six months dependinthe type of information included. It is not unakthowever, for the FDA to issue a
complete response letter because it believeshkalrug is not safe enough or effective enougheoabse it does not believe that the data
submitted are reliable or conclusive.

An approval letter authorizes commercial markeththe drug with specific prescribing informaticor specific indications. As a
condition of NDA or BLA approval, the FDA may regaia risk evaluation and mitigation strategy, oM to help ensure that the benefits of
the drug outweigh the potential risks. REMS caruide medication guides, communication plans foltheare professionals, and elements to
assure safe use, or ETASU. ETASU can include, teunat limited to, special training or certificatifor prescribing or dispensing, dispensing
only under certain circumstances, special monitpand the use of patient registries. The
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requirement for REMS can materially affect the ptitd market and profitability of the drug. Moreayeroduct approval may require
substantial post-approval testing and surveillanaaonitor the drug’s safety or efficacy. Once geal product approvals may be withdrawn if
compliance with regulatory standards is not mai@dior problems are identified following initial rkating.

Disclosure of Clinical Trial Information

Sponsors of clinical trials of FDA-regulated prothjéncluding drugs and biologics, are requiredegister and disclose certain clinical
trial information. Information related to the pradupatient population, phase of investigationdgtsites and investigators, and other aspects
the clinical trial are then made public as parthef registration. Sponsors are also obligatedgousis the results of their clinical trials after
completion. Disclosure of the results of thesddri@n be delayed until the new product or newdaititon being studied has been approved.
Competitors may use this publicly-available infotioa to gain knowledge regarding the progress ektipment programs.

The Hatch-Waxman Act

Upon approval of a drug through an NDA, applicantsrequired to submit to the FDA each patentdhaérs the applicant’s product or
FDA approved method of using this product. Thogemta are then published in the FDA's Approved Dirugducts with Therapeutic
Equivalence Evaluations, commonly known as the @eaBook. Drugs listed in the Orange Book can, in tbe cited by potential competitors
in support of approval of an ANDA. Generally, an BN provides for marketing of a drug product thas fae same active ingredients in the
same strength(s), route of administration, and gio$arm as the listed drug and has been shownghrbioequivalence testing to be
therapeutically equivalent to the listed drug. ANBpplicants are not required to conduct or subesitiits of pre-clinical or clinical tests to
prove the safety or effectiveness of their drugdpad, other than the requirement for bioequivaleesting. Drugs approved in this way are
commonly referred to as “generic equivalents” ® fiated drug, and can often be substituted bymhaeists under prescriptions written for the
original listed drug.

The ANDA applicant is required to certify to the ABoncerning any patents listed for the approvextipct in the FDA’s Orange Book.
Specifically, the applicant must certify that: tfie required patent information has not been fi{@pthe listed patent has expired,; (iii) the &dt
patent has not expired, but will expire on a patticdate and approval is sought after patent atipir; or (iv) the listed patent is invalid or will
not be infringed by the new product. A certificatithhat the new product will not infringe the alrgabproved product’s listed patents or that
such patents are invalid is called a Paragraphettification. If the applicant does not challenge tisted patents, the ANDA application will
not be approved until all the listed patents claigihe referenced product have expired. Alternbtj\fer a patent covering an approved metl
of use, an ANDA applicant may submit a statemenihé&FDA that the company is not seeking approwathie covered use.

If the ANDA applicant has submitted a Paragraplcévtification to the FDA, the applicant must alend notice of the Paragraph IV
certification to the NDA and patent holders onae ANDA has been accepted for filing by the FDA. ™MIRA and patent holders may then
initiate a patent infringement lawsuit in respotséhe notice of the Paragraph IV certificationeThing of a patent infringement lawsuit
within 45 days of the receipt of a Paragraph IMifieation automatically prevents the FDA from apping the ANDA until the earlier of 30
months, expiration of the patent, settlement ofldlwesuit or a decision in the infringement casd théavorable to the ANDA applicant.

The ANDA application also will not be approved liaiy non-patent exclusivity, such as exclusivay débtaining approval of a new
chemical entity, listed in the Orange Book for therenced product has expired. Federal law prevideeriod of five years following approval
of a drug containing no previously approved acthaety, during which ANDAs for generic versionstbbse drugs cannot be submitted un
the submission contains a Paragraph IV challengglited patent, in which case the submission beagnade four years following the original
product approval. Federal law provides for a pedbthree years of exclusivity
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following approval of a listed drug that containeydously approved active ingredients but is apptbin a new dosage form, route of
administration or combination, or for a new coratitof use, the approval of which was required tsuggported by new clinical trials
conducted by or for the sponsor, during which tBAEannot grant effective approval of an ANDA basedthat listed drug. Both of the five-
year and thre-year exclusivity periods, as well as any unexpatents listed in the Orange Book for the listatdcan be extended by six
months if the FDA grants the NDA sponsor a peribdemliatric exclusivity based on studies submitigdhe sponsor in response to a written
request.

Section 505(b)(2) New Drug Applicatior

Most drug products (other than biological productsiain FDA marketing approval pursuant to an ND/Ao ANDA. A third alternative
is a special type of NDA, commonly referred to &eation 505(b)(2) NDA, which enables the applidantely, in part, on the FDA'’s finding
of safety and efficacy data for an existing progdoctpublished literature, in support of its apation.

Section 505(b)(2) NDAs often provide an alternathpgo FDA approval for new or improved formulatoor new uses of previously
approved products. Section 505(b)(2) permits tlirggfiof an NDA where at least some of the informatiequired for approval comes from
studies not conducted by or for the applicant amdvhich the applicant has not obtained a righieéérence. The applicant may rely upon
certain preclinical or clinical studies conducted &n approved product. The FDA may also requireganies to perform additional studies or
measurements to support the change from the appprreeluct. The FDA may then approve the new prodactidate for all or some of the
labeled indications for which the referenced pradhas been approved, as well as for any new indicéor which the Section 505(b)(2) NDA
applicant has submitted data.

To the extent that the Section 505(b)(2) appliéamnelying on prior FDA findings of safety and efiicy, the applicant is required to
certify to the FDA concerning any patents listedtfee approved product in the Orange Book to timeesaxtent that an ANDA applicant wou
Thus, approval of a Section 505(b)(2) NDA can bleykd until all the listed patents claiming theerehced product have expired, until any
non-patent exclusivity, such as exclusivity forabing approval of a new chemical entity, listedhie Orange Book for the referenced produc
has expired, and, in the case of a Paragraph Itification and subsequent patent infringement suitjl the earlier of 30 months, settlement of
the lawsuit or a decision in the infringement ctist is favorable to the Section 505(b)(2) NDA agaoht.

Orphan Drug Designation

Naglazyme, Aldurazyme, Kuvan and Firdapse havevederphan drug designations from the FDA. Orptiarg designation is granted
by the FDA to drugs intended to treat a rare dise@asondition, which for this program is definesdheaving a prevalence of less than 200,000
individuals in the U.S. Orphan drug designation nngsrequested before submitting a marketing agtitin. After the FDA grants orphan drug
designation, the generic identity of the therapeatjent and its potential orphan use are disclpabticly by the FDA. Orphan drug exclusive
marketing rights may be lost if the FDA later detares that the request for designation was maltgdafective or if the manufacturer is une
to assure sufficient quantity of the drug.

Orphan drug designation does not shorten the regyleeview and approval process, nor does it gl®any advantage in the regulatory
review and approval process. However, if an orplvaiy later receives approval for the indicationvidrich it has designation, the relevant
regulatory authority may not approve any other impgibns to market the same drug for the same atidic, except in very limited
circumstances, for seven years in the U.S. Althanlgthining approval to market a product with orpdaing exclusivity may be advantageous,
we cannot be certain:

« that we will be the first to obtain approval foryaairug for which we obtain orphan drug designat
» that orphan drug designation will result in any coencial advantage or reduce competition
« that the limited exceptions to this exclusivity Wibt be invoked by the relevant regulatory autlyo
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Pediatric Information

Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act of 2007ERR NDAs or BLAs or supplements to NDAs or BLAs sticontain data to assess
the safety and effectiveness of the drug for théretd indication(s) in all relevant pediatric supplations and to support dosing and
administration for each pediatric subpopulationvithich the drug is safe and effective. The FDA rgegnt deferrals for submission of data or
full or partial waivers. Unless otherwise requitgdregulation, PREA does not apply to any drugafoindication for which orphan drug
designation has been granted. The Best Pharmaalsuiac Children Act (BPCA), provides sponsors @As with an additional six-month
period of market exclusivity for all unexpired patt®r non-patent exclusivity on all forms of theigrcontaining the active moiety, if the
sponsor submits results of pediatric studies sjpedly requested by the FDA under BPCA within ragditimeframes. The Biologics Price
Competition and Innovation Act, or BPCIA, providgsonsors of BLAs an additional six-month extensarall unexpired non-patent market
exclusivity on all forms of the biological contaigi the active moiety pursuant to the BPCA if thaditions under the BPCA are met.

Accelerated Approve

Under the FDA'’s accelerated approval regulatidms,RDA may approve a drug for a serious or lifedtening illness that provides
meaningful therapeutic benefit to patients ovestixg treatments based upon a surrogate endpainistheasonably likely to predict clinical
benefit. In clinical trials, a surrogate endpostaimeasurement of laboratory or clinical signa disease or condition that substitutes for a
direct measurement of how a patient feels, funstimmsurvives. Surrogate endpoints can often besaned more easily or more rapidly than
clinical endpoints. A drug candidate approved as liasis is subject to rigorous post-marketing daanpe requirements, including the
completion of Phase 4 or post-approval clinicall$rito confirm the effect on the clinical endpofgilure to conduct required post-approval
studies, or confirm a clinical benefit during pasarketing studies, will allow the FDA to withdrahetdrug from the market on an expedited
basis. All promotional materials for drug candidadg@proved under accelerated regulations are subjpdior review by the FDA.

Fast Track Designation

The FDA is required to facilitate the developmemd @xpedite the review of drugs that are intendedhe treatment of a serious or life-
threatening condition for which there is no effeettreatment and which demonstrate the potentiatitivess unmet medical needs for the
condition. Under the fast track program, the spoo$@a new drug candidate may request that the BBgignate the drug candidate for a
specific indication as a fast track drug concureith or after the filing of the IND for the drugndidate. The FDA must determine if the drug
candidate qualifies for fast track designation witBO days of receipt of the sponsor’s request.

In addition to other benefits such as the abilityise surrogate endpoints and have greater intmnactith the FDA, the FDA may initia
review of sections of a fast track drug’s NDA orMbefore the application is complete. This rollimyiew is available if the applicant
provides and the FDA approves a schedule for thengsion of the remaining information and the aggolt pays applicable user fees.
However, the FDA's time period goal for reviewing application does not begin until the last sectibthe NDA or BLA is submitted.
Additionally, the fast track designation may behaitawn by the FDA if the FDA believes that the desition is no longer supported by data
emerging in the clinical trial process.

Priority Review

Under the FDA policies, a drug candidate is eligifalr priority review, or review within a six togtit month time frame from the time a
complete NDA is submitted, if the drug candidateviales a significant improvement compared to madketrugs in the treatment, diagnosis o
prevention of a disease. A fast track designatad dandidate would ordinarily meet the FDA's ciisifior priority review. For biologics,
priority
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review is further limited only for drugs intendemtteat a serious or life-threatening diseaseivelab the currently approved products.

Pos-Approval Regulatory Requirements

Following FDA approval, a product is subject totaar post-approval requirements. For instancefFDA closely regulates the post-
approval marketing and promotion of approved pregluncluding standards and regulations for diteetonsumer advertising, off-label
promotion, industry-sponsored scientific and edocat activities and promotional activities invaig the Internet.

Approved products may be marketed only for the @y indications and in accordance with the prowisiof the approved labeling.
Changes to some of the conditions established aparoved application, including changes in indaa, labeling, or manufacturing proces
or facilities, may require a submission to and appl by FDA before the change can be implemented\NBA or BLA supplement for a new
indication typically requires clinical data similar that in the original application, and the FDgea the same procedures and actions in
reviewing NDA or BLA supplements as it does in ewing NDAs and BLAs.

Adverse event reporting and submission of periogiiorts is required following FDA approval of an NBr BLA. The FDA also may
require post-marketing testing, known as Phasstihtg risk evaluation and mitigation strategies] aurveillance to monitor the effects of an
approved product or place conditions on an appritnalcould restrict the distribution or use of greduct. In addition, quality control as well
as the manufacture, packaging, and labeling praesduust continue to conform to cGMPs after apdrdwaug and biological product
manufacturers and certain of their subcontract@sequired to register their establishments withEDA and certain state agencies, and are
subject to periodic unannounced inspections byrhA during which the agency inspects manufactufaugjities to access compliance with
cGMPs. Accordingly, manufacturers must continuexpend time, money and effort in the areas of pctidn and quality control to maintain
compliance with cGMPs. Regulatory authorities mathdraw product approvals or request product redgalh company fails to comply with
regulatory standards, if it encounters problemk¥ahg initial marketing, or if previously unrecoged problems are subsequently discovered

Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 20

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act@f@, as amended by the Health Care and EducatioonRiiation Act of 2010
(PPACA), is a sweeping measure intended to expaatthtare coverage within the U.S., primarily trglhahe imposition of health insurance
mandates on employers and individuals and expamgitre Medicaid program.

The Biologics Price Competition and Innovation AE2009 (BPCIA), which was enacted as part of tRACA, created an abbreviated
approval pathway for biological products that aeendnstrated to be “biosimilar” or “interchangeabhdth an FDA-licensed reference
biological product. Biosimilarity sufficient to refence a prior FDA-licensed product requires thate be no differences in conditions of use,
route of administration, dosage form, and strengtigl, no clinically meaningful differences betwela biological product and the reference
product in terms of safety, purity, and potencyodiilarity must be shown through analytical stsgdenimal studies, and at least one clinical
study, absent a waiver from the Secretary of HemdthHuman Services. In order to meet the highetl@dwf interchangeability, a sponsor
demonstrate that the biosimilar product can be eepkto produce the same clinical result as thereete product, and for a product that is
administered more than once, that the risk of $witg between the reference product and biosimiladyct is not greater than the risk of
maintaining the patient on the reference produotbisimilar or interchangeable products have lamroved under the BPCIA to date.
Complexities associated with the larger, and ofteme complex, structures of biological productswali as the process by which such
products are manufactured, pose significant hutdl@mplementation that are still being evaluatgdh® FDA. A reference biologic is granted
twelve years of exclusivity from the time of filgtensure of the reference product
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and no application for a biosimilar can be subrdifta four years from the date of licensure of teference product. The first biologic product
submitted under the abbreviated approval pathwatyishdetermined to be interchangeable with theregice product has exclusivity against a
finding of interchangeability for other biologiosrfthe same condition of use for the lesser afifg year after first commercial marketing of
first interchangeable biosimilar, (ii) eighteen rtfmnafter the first interchangeable biosimilarpprved if there is not patent challenge,

(iii) eighteen months after resolution of a lawsaer the patents of the reference biologic in fafathe first interchangeable biosimilar
applicant, or (iv) 42 months after the first inteangeable biosimilar's application has been appatdva patent lawsuit is ongoing within the
42-month period.

The PPACA also imposes a new fee on certain matureas and importers of branded prescription dfegsluding orphan drugs under
certain conditions). The annual fee will be aportid among the participating companies based dnaanpanys sales of qualifying produc
to, or use by, certain U.S. government programmgduhe preceding year. Other provisions of the f@w which have varying effective dates,
may also affect us and will likely increase certairour costs. For example, the Medicaid rebate wats increased and the volume of rebated
drugs has been expanded to include beneficiaridketlicaid managed care organizations. Among ottiags, the PPACA also expands the
340B drug discount program (excluding orphan druigsjuding the creation of new penalties for nampliance and includes a 50% discount
on brand name drugs for Medicare Part D particgpanthe coverage gap, or “donut hole”. The lave atssised the definition of “average
manufacturer price” for reporting purposes, whiolld increase the amount of the Medicaid drug e=bpaid to states. Substantial new
provisions affecting compliance also have been dddbich may require us to modify our business icas with health care practitioners.

In addition, drug manufacturers will be requirecctdlect and report information on payments or $fars of value to physicians and
teaching hospitals, as well as investment intetesli by physicians and their immediate family menslduring the preceding calendar year.
The reported data will be posted in searchable famma public web site. Failure to submit requinefimation may result in civil monetary
penalties. Although the statute requires repoiipd/arch 31, 2013 of payments and other transfevaloe made in calendar year 2012, the
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), isasied a final rule that will go into effect in AR2013 and will require manufacturers to
begin collecting required information on Augus2013, with the first reports due March 31, 2014rtirer, the PPACA amends the intent
requirement of the federal anti-kickback and criahinealthcare fraud statutes. A person or entitjonger needs to have actual knowledge of
these statutes or specific intent to violate thenaddition, the government may assert that a clagtluding items or services resulting from a
violation of the federal anti-kickback statute ciituges a false or fraudulent claim for purposeheffalse claims laws.

Other Regulatory Requirements

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pimaceutical products, several other types of statefederal laws have been applied tc
restrict certain marketing practices in the phamugical industry in recent years. These laws ineladti-kickback statutes and false claims
statutes. The federal healthcare program anti-kicklstatute prohibits, among other things, knowiragid willfully offering, paying, soliciting
or receiving remuneration to induce or in returngarchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging ferparchase, lease or order of any healthcare
item or service reimbursable under Medicare, Madioa other federally financed healthcare prograftgs statute has been interpreted to
apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical metouéss on the one hand and prescribers, purchasdrrmulary managers on the other.
Violations of the anti-kickback statute are puntdeaby imprisonment, criminal fines, civil monetgrgnalties and exclusion from participation
in federal healthcare programs. Although theresamember of statutory exemptions and regulatorg bafbors protecting certain common
activities from prosecution or other regulatory@ms, the exemptions and safe harbors are dranowly, and practices that involve
remuneration intended to induce prescribing, pwsehar recommendations may be subject to scrdtthgy do not qualify for an exemption
or safe harbor.

16



Table of Contents

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person florawingly presenting, or causing to be presentdd|sa claim for payment to the
federal government, or knowingly making, or caudimpe made, a false statement to have a falsa gaid. Recently, several pharmaceutical
and other healthcare companies have been prosamuded these laws for allegedly inflating drug psthey report to pricing services, which
in turn are used by the government to set MediaateMedicaid reimbursement rates, and for allegpdiyiding free product to customers
with the expectation that the customers wouldfbileral programs for the product. In addition, @iermarketing practices, including off-label
promotion, may also violate false claims laws. Tiggority of states also have statutes or regulatgmilar to the federal anti-kickback law
and false claims laws, which apply to items andises reimbursed under Medicaid and other statgrpros, or, in several states, apply
regardless of the payor. Sanctions under thesededed state laws may include civil monetary pges| exclusion of a company’s products
from reimbursement under government programs, onahfines and imprisonment. Several states nowiregunarmaceutical companies to
report expenses relating to the marketing and ptiomof pharmaceutical products and to report giftd payments to individual physicians in
these states. Other states prohibit providing warmther marketingelated activities. Still other states require plosting of information relatir
to clinical studies and their outcomes. In additi@alifornia, Connecticut, Nevada, and Massachsisetjuire pharmaceutical companies to
implement compliance programs or marketing codestedtly, several additional states are considesinglar proposals. Compliance with
these laws is difficult and time consuming, and panies that do not comply with these state laws &l penalties.

Regulation in the European Uniol

Drugs are also subject to extensive regulationidetsf the U.S. In the EU, for example, there teatralized approval procedure that
authorizes marketing of a product in all countoéshe EU (which includes most major countries ur@pe). If this procedure is not used,
approval in one country of the EU can be used taintapproval in another country of the EU undev simplified application processes, the
mutual recognition procedure or the decentralizetgdure, both of which rely on the principle oftoral recognition. After receiving
regulatory approval through any of the Europeairsteggion procedures, pricing and reimbursement@mls are also required in most
countries.

A similar system for orphan drug designation existthe EU. Naglazyme, Aldurazyme and Kuvan reagiwghan medicinal product
designation by the European Committee for Orphadi®ieal Products. Orphan designation does not shdtte regulatory review and
approval process for an orphan drug, nor doewd tfiat drug any advantage in the regulatory rexaad approval process. However, if an
orphan drug later receives approval for the indicator which it has designation, the relevant tatpry authority may not approve any other
applications to market the same drug for the santieation, except in very limited circumstances,tén years in the EU.

Anti-Corruption Legislation

The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA), taoll we are subject, prohibits corporations andviddals from engaging in certain
activities to obtain or retain business or to iaflae a person working in an official capacitysltliegal to pay, offer to pay or authorize the
payment of anything of value to any foreign goveentrofficial, government staff member, politicalyeor political candidate in an attempt to
obtain or retain business or to otherwise influem@®rson working in an official capacity. Similaws exist in other countries, such as the
United Kingdom that restrict improper payments tblpc and private parties. Many countries have lavghibiting these types of payments
within the respective country. Historically, phaceatical companies have been the target of FCPAotrat anti-corruption investigations and
penalties.

Employees

As of January 4, 2013, we had 1,089 full-time emipés, 457 of whom are in operations, 315 of whomraresearch and development,
149 of whom are in sales and marketing and 168hafnwvare in administration.
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We consider our employee relations to be good.dbysloyees are not covered by a collective barggiagreement. We have not
experienced employment related work stoppages.

Research and Development

For information regarding research and developregpénses incurred during 2012, 2011 and 2010 teseq, “Management Discussi
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©pkrations—Research and Development Expense”.

Geographic Area Financial Information

Our chief operating decision makerd., our chief executive officer) reviews financiafdrmation on a consolidated basis, for the
purposes of allocating resources and evaluatirapfirml performance. There are no segment manaderske held accountable by the chief
operating decision maker, or anyone else, for djgers, operating results and planning for levelsamponents below the consolidated unit
level. Accordingly, we consider ourselves to hawingle reporting segment and operating unit stingct

Net product revenues by geography are based cenpsitlocations for Naglazyme, Kuvan and Firdajse are based on Genzyme's
U.S. location for Aldurazyme. Although Genzyme sdéldurazyme worldwide, the royalties we earneds@mzyme’s net sales are included in
the U.S. as our transactions are with Genzyme.

The following table outlines net product revenuggibographic area (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Net product revenue
United State: $249,74! $224,63( $196,97¢
Europe 108,13t 100,34 90,32
Latin America 74,39( 56,95( 41,58
Rest of the Worlc 64,22¢ 55,71¢ 40,82(
Total net product revenu $496,49° $437,64° $369,70:

Total revenue generated outside the U.S. was $25illion, $217.1 million and $173.9 million, in theears ended December 31, 2012,
2011 and 2010, respectively.

The following table outlines non-monetary long-ivessets by geographic area (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011

Non-monetary lon-lived assets
United State: $649,17. $652,20°
Internationa 80,06 80,45¢
Total lon¢-lived asset: $729,25. $ 732,66t

The decrease in non-monetary long-lived assetsrigapily attributed to amortization of intangiblesets and deprecation of property,
plant and equipment, offset by capital expenditures
Other Information

We were incorporated in Delaware in October 1996tzagan operations on March 21, 1997. Our prin@gatutive offices are locatec
770 Lindaro Street, San Rafael, California 94904 eur telephone number is

18



Table of Contents

(415) 506-6700. Our annual reports on Form 10-kartguly reports on Form 10-Q, proxy statements;erreports on Form 8-K and
amendments to those reports and statements fileadroshed pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) ef$lecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, or the Exchange Act, are available fredafge atvww.bmrn.conas soon as reasonably practicable after we elecaibnfile such
reports with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Casion, or SEC. Such reports, statements and atfemation may be obtained by visiting
the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F StreetWé&shington, DC 20549 or by calling the SEC aDD-SEC-0330. Additionally, these
reports are available at the SEC’s websitietigt//www.sec.govInformation contained in our website is not prthis or any other report that
we file with or furnish to the SEC.

ltem 1A. RiskFactors

An investment in our securities involves a highrde@f risk. We operate in a dynamic and rapidlgiradiing industry that involves
numerous risks and uncertainties. The risks anctamties described below are not the only onegage. Other risks and uncertainties,
including those that we do not currently considextenial, may impair our business. If any of the&ksigliscussed below actually occur, our
business, financial condition, operating resultscash flows could be materially adversely affecliéds could cause the trading price of our
securities to decline, and you may lose all or gdryour investment.

If we fail to obtain or maintain regulatory approval to commercially market and sell our drugs, or ifapproval is delayed, we will
be unable to generate revenue from the sale of theeproducts, our potential for generating positive ash flow will be diminished, and the
capital necessary to fund our operations will be ioreased.

We must obtain and maintain regulatory approvahéwket and sell our drug products in the U.S. andrisdictions outside of the U.S.
In the U.S., we must obtain FDA approval for eanlgdhat we intend to commercialize. The FDA appiqrocess is typically lengthy and
expensive, and approval is never certain. Prodiistebuted abroad are also subject to governnamilation by international regulatory
authorities. Naglazyme, Aldurazyme and Kuvan haeeived regulatory approval to be commercially ratelt and sold in the U.S., EU and
other countries. Firdapse has received regulatopycval to be commercially marketed only in the Bllthough we announced in November
2012 that our Phase 3 study of Vimizim™, an enzyepéacement therapy for patients with MPS IVA (Mo Syndrome), had met its
primary endpoint, Vimizim has not received regutatapproval in the U.S., EU or any other jurisdictiand may never receive approval. Also,
even if we receive priority review timelines frotretFDA for Vimizim, there is no assurance thatFReA will comply with such timelines and
there may be delays and ultimately the FDA maydkeobt to approve Vimizim.

As part of the recent reauthorization of PDUFA, r@walogics are included in a new product reviewguemn intended to enhance FDA-
sponsor communications to lead to greater firstecgpproval decisions. As part of this program ligations for new biologics are subject to
either a 12-month standard or 8-month priority eawperiod that begins from the date of applicasobmission. However, since this is a new
product review program and no products have comgl#tis new review process, the priority reviewigetmay take longer than eight months
and the standard review period may take longer #zamonths. Similarly, although the EMA has an &reged approval process, the timelines
mandated by the regulations are subject to thalmligsof substantial delays.

In addition, the FDA and its international equivakehave substantial discretion over the approra@tgss for pharmaceutical products.
such, these regulatory agencies may in the endgree that we have demonstrated the requisite ¢éyrbduct safety and efficacy to grant
approval and may require additional data. If wéttabbtain regulatory approval for our product diiates, including Vimizim, we will be
unable to market and sell those drug products. iBecaf the risks and uncertainties in pharmacdudieelopment, our product candidates
could take a significantly longer time to gain risgary approval than we expect or may never gapr@gl. We also rely on independent third-
party contract research organizations, or CROSleto
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some of our ex-U.S. and ex-EU marketing applicatiand important aspects of the services performedds by the CROs are out of our direct
control. If we fail to adequately manage our CRiDthe CRO elects to prioritize work on our progtielow other projects or if there is any
dispute or disruption in our relationship with &@ROS, the filing of our applications may be delayed

From time to time during the regulatory approvalgass for our products and our product candidategngage in discussions with the
FDA and comparable international regulatory autiesiregarding the regulatory requirements fordrwrelopment programs. To the extent
appropriate, we accommodate the requests of theategy authorities and, to date, we have geneladlyn able to reach reasonable
accommodations and resolutions regarding the uyidgrissues. However, we are often unable to deteritne outcome of such deliberations
until they are final. If we are unable to effectivand efficiently resolve and comply with the indges and requests of the FDA and other non-
U.S. regulatory authorities, the approval of owdurct candidates may be delayed and their valuebheagduced.

After any of our products receive regulatory appifpthey remain subject to ongoing regulation, Wwhian impact, among other things
product labeling, manufacturing practices, adversmt reporting, storage, expiration, distributiadyertising and promotion, and record
keeping. If we do not comply with the applicablgukations, the range of possible sanctions inclisisance of adverse publicity, product
recalls or seizures, fines, total or partial suspmrs of production and/or distribution, suspensibmarketing applications, and enforcement
actions, including injunctions and civil or crimimqaosecution. The FDA and comparable internatiosagllatory agencies can withdraw a
product’s approval under some circumstances, ssitheafailure to comply with regulatory requirenteat unexpected safety issues. Further,
the FDA often requires post-marketing testing amdeillance to monitor the effects of approved prad. The FDA and comparable
international regulatory agencies may conditionrapgl of our product candidates on the completibsuch post-marketing clinical studies.
These post-marketing studies may suggest thatduprecauses undesirable side effects or may preseésk to the patient. If data we collect
from post-marketing studies suggest that one ofpproved products may present a risk to safegygtivernment authorities could withdraw
our product approval, suspend production or plaberanarketing restrictions on our products. Ifulegpry sanctions are applied or if
regulatory approval is delayed or withdrawn, theigaf our company and our operating results valllolversely affected. Additionally, we
will be unable to generate revenue from the satbese products, our potential for generating pasitash flow will be diminished and the
capital necessary to fund our operations will lréased.

If we fail to obtain or maintain orphan drug exclusvity for some of our products, our competitors maysell products to treat the
same conditions and our revenues will be reduced.

As part of our business strategy, we intend to igvgome drugs that may be eligible for FDA and &phan drug designation. Under
the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may designate a prbda@n orphan drug if it is intended to treatra tisease or condition, defined as a ps
population of fewer than 200,000 in the U.S. Thmpany that first obtains FDA approval for a destgdaorphan drug for a given rare disease
receives marketing exclusivity for use of that dfagthe stated condition for a period of sevenrge@rphan drug exclusive marketing rights
may be lost if the FDA later determines that theuesst for designation was materially defectivef tihé manufacturer is unable to assure
sufficient quantity of the drug. Similar regulatiare available in the EU with a ten-year periochafket exclusivity.

Because the extent and scope of patent protecaiiosome of our drug products is limited, orphangdidesignation is especially important
for our products that are eligible for orphan ddsgignation. For eligible drugs, we plan to relytloa exclusivity period under the Orphan D
Act to maintain a competitive position. If we dotmdtain orphan drug exclusivity for our drug protiuthat do not have broad patent
protection, our competitors may then sell the sdmg to treat the same condition and our reventikb&evreduced.

Even though we have obtained orphan drug designédiocertain of our products and product candislated even if we obtain orphan
drug designation for our future product candidade® to the uncertainties
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associated with developing pharmaceutical produgtsnay not be the first to obtain marketing apptdar any particular orphan indication.
Further, even if we obtain orphan drug exclusifitlya product, that exclusivity may not effectivelsotect the product from competition
because different drugs can be approved for the samdition. Even after an orphan drug is approtieel FDA can subsequently approve the
same drug for the same condition if the FDA coneguthat the later drug is safer, more effectivemakes a major contribution to patient care.
Orphan drug designation neither shortens the dpusdnt time or regulatory review time of a drug, gives the drug any advantage in the
regulatory review or approval process.

We may face competition from biological products aproved through an abbreviated regulatory pathway.

Our Naglazyme and Aldurazyme products, as welleatim of our product candidates, including Vimiziane regulated by the FDA as
biologics under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmétat, or the FDC Act, and the Public Health SesvAct. Biologics require the submissi
of a Biologics License Application (BLA), and apped by the FDA prior to being marketed in the UHsstorically, a biologic product
approved under a BLA was not subject to the gertketig review and approval provisions of the FDC.Atdwever, the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act of 2010, as amended by the tHeahre and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010callectively, the PPACA, created a
regulatory pathway for the abbreviated approvabiotogical products that are demonstrated to hesimilar” or “interchangeable” with an
FDA-approved biological product. In order to mdwet standard of interchangeability, a sponsor meistathstrate that the biosimilar product
can be expected to produce the same clinical rasuhe reference product, and for a product thatiministered more than once, that the risk
of switching between the reference product andifidkesr product is not greater than the risk of ntaining the patient on the reference prod
Such biosimilars would reference biological produmpproved in the U.S. The law establishes a pefid@ years of data exclusivity for
reference products, which protects the data irotiggnal BLA by prohibiting sponsors of biosimilait®m gaining FDA approval based in part
on reference to data in the original BLA. Our produapproved under BLAS, as well as products ireligment that may be approved under
BLAs, could be reference products for such abbtedi®LAs.

To obtain regulatory approval to market our products, preclinical studies and costly and lengthy preitlical and clinical trials are
required and the results of the studies and trialgre highly uncertain.

As part of the regulatory approval process, we mastluct, at our own expense, preclinical studigbé laboratory and clinical trials on
humans for each product candidate. We expect thauof preclinical studies and clinical trialstttize regulatory authorities will require w
vary depending on the product candidate, the diseasondition the drug is being developed to asklesnd regulations applicable to the
particular drug. Generally, the number and sizeliofcal trials required for approval increasesdhen the expected patient population that
may be treated with a drug. We may need to perfoutiiple preclinical studies using various dosed fommulations before we can begin
clinical trials, which could result in delays inraability to market any of our product candidatestthermore, even if we obtain favorable
results in preclinical studies, the results in haommay be significantly different. After we havendacted preclinical studies, we must
demonstrate that our drug products are safe argheibus for use in the targeted human patientsder to receive regulatory approval for
commercial sale.

Adverse or inconclusive clinical results would stepfrom filing for regulatory approval of our prect candidates. Additional factors tl
can cause delay or termination of our clinicall¢riaclude:
» slow or insufficient patient enrolimer
» slow recruitment of, and completion of necessastitintional approvals at, clinical site
* longer treatment time required to demonstrate afic
» lack of sufficient supplies of the product candé]:
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» adverse medical events or side effects in treaa¢idmgs;
* lack of effectiveness of the product candidate pédisted; an
» regulatory requests for additional clinical trie

Typically, if a drug product is intended to treathaonic disease, as is the case with some of mualugt candidates, safety and efficacy
data must be gathered over an extended periochef twvhich can range from nine months to three yeansore. We also rely on independent
third-party contract research organizations, or GRO perform most of our clinical studies and mangortant aspects of the services
performed for us by the CROs are out of our dicecttrol. If we fail to adequately manage our CR@sdf there is any dispute or disruption in
our relationship with our CROs, our clinical trimgy be delayed. Moreover, in our regulatory subioiss, we rely on the quality and validity
of the clinical work performed by third-party CROBany of our CROs’ processes, methodologies sulte were determined to be invalid or
inadequate, our own clinical data and results afated regulatory approvals could adversely be aiggh

If we continue to incur operating losses for a pedd longer than anticipated, we may be unable to cdimue our operations at
planned levels and be forced to reduce our operatis.

Since we began operations in March 1997, we haga begaged in very substantial research and dewelapand operated at a net loss
until 2008. Although we were profitable in 2008 a&@iL0, we operated at a net loss in 2009, 2012aad. Based upon our current plan for
investments in research and development for egistitd new programs, we expect to operate at asefdr at least the next 12 months. Our
future profitability depends on our marketing aetlisg of Naglazyme, Kuvan and Firdapse, the susfoésontinued commercialization of
Aldurazyme by Genzyme, the receipt of regulatorgrapal of our product candidates, our ability tesessfully manufacture and market any
approved drugs, either by ourselves or jointly vathers, our spending on our development progrardgtee impact of any possible future
business development transactions. The extentrdlitwre losses and the timing of profitability dmghly uncertain. If we fail to become
profitable or are unable to sustain profitability @ continuing basis, then we may be unable tameatour operations at planned levels and be
forced to reduce our operations.

If we fail to comply with manufacturing regulations, our financial results and financial condition wil be adversely affected.

Before we can begin commercial manufacture of eadycts, we, or our contract manufacturers, muttiolvegulatory approval of our
manufacturing facilities, processes and qualityesys. In addition, our pharmaceutical manufactufagjjities are continuously subject to
inspection by the FDA and international regulatanyhorities, before and after product approval. @anufacturing facilities in the U.S. have
been approved by the FDA, the European Commis&@), (and health agencies in other countries fomhaufacture of Aldurazyme and
Naglazyme. The manufacturing facility located ira8bally, Cork, Ireland that we purchased in 201 Xws/et been approved by the FDA
EMA. In addition, our third-party manufacturefacilities involved with the manufacture of Naglazg, Kuvan, Firdapse and Aldurazyme h
also been inspected and approved by various regulatithorities.

Due to the complexity of the processes used to faature our products and product candidates, wehleaynable to continue to pass or
initially pass federal or international regulatémgpections in a cost effective manner. For theesegason, any potential third-party
manufacturer of Naglazyme, Kuvan, Aldurazyme arrdapse or our product candidates may be unablenply with GMP regulations in a
cost effective manner and may be unable to injtiatlcontinue to pass a federal or internationglit&tory inspection.

If we, or third-party manufacturers with whom wentract, are unable to comply with manufacturingutetions, we may be subject to
fines, unanticipated compliance expenses, recalkmure of our products, total or partial suspamsif production and/or enforcement actions,
including injunctions, and criminal or civil prosgon. These possible sanctions would adversecaffur financial results and financial
condition.
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If we fail to obtain the capital necessary to fundur operations, our financial results and financialcondition will be adversely
affected and we will have to delay or terminate somor all of our product development programs.

As of December 31, 2012, we had cash, cash equisaded short and long-term investments totalirge$b million. We may require
additional financing to fund our future operatiomsluding the commercialization of our approvedg and drug product candidates currently
under development, preclinical studies and clinigals, and potential licenses and acquisitions.May be unable to raise additional financ
if needed, due to a variety of factors, including financial condition, the status of our productigrams, and the general condition of the
financial markets. If we fail to raise additionaldncing if we need such funds, we may have toydelderminate some or all of our product
development programs and our financial conditioth aperating results will be adversely affected.

We expect to continue to spend substantial amafrdapital for our operations for the foreseeahterfe. The amount of capital we will
need depends on many factors, including:
» our ability to successfully market and sell Naglaey Kuvan and Firdaps
* Genzym'’s ability to continue to successfully commercialddurazyme;
» the progress and success of our preclinical studidclinical trials (including studies and the mifacture of materials
« the timing, number, size and scope of our predimstudies and clinical trial

« the time and cost necessary to obtain regulatgoyoapls and the costs of post-marketing studieshvhiay be required by
regulatory authorities

» the time and cost necessary to develop commer@alfacturing processes, including quality systeand,to build or acquire
manufacturing capabilitie:

» the progress of research programs carried out &

e our possible achievement of milestones identiffedur purchase agreements with the former stocknsldf LEAD Therapeutics,
Inc., ZyStor, Huxley Pharmaceuticals, Inc., andhizaon Pharmaceuticals Inc. that trigger relate@stidine payment

e any changes made to, or new developments in, astirgx collaborative, licensing and other commdrméationships or any new
collaborative, licensing and other commercial ielahips that we may establish; &

» whether our convertible debt is converted to comstock in the future
Moreover, our fixed expenses such as rent, liceagenents, interest expense and other contractoaihitments are substantial and may
increase in the future. These fixed expenses nagase because we may enter into:
» additional licenses and collaborative agreeme
» additional contracts for product manufacturing;
» additional financing facilities
We may need to raise additional funds from equitglebt securities, loans or collaborative agreeminte are unable to satisfy our
liquidity requirements. The sale of additional s#@es may result in additional dilution to our skholders. Furthermore, additional financing

may not be available in amounts or on terms satisfa to us or at all. This could result in thealglreduction or termination of our research,
which could harm our business.
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If we are unable to successfully develop and maintamanufacturing processes for our drug products tgproduce sufficient
guantities at acceptable costs, we may be unablenteet demand for our products and lose potential reenue, have reduced margins or
be forced to terminate a program.

Due to the complexity of manufacturing our produets may not be able to manufacture drug produatsessfully with a commercially
viable process or at a scale large enough to stigpsir respective commercial markets or at acddptaargins.

The development of commercially viable manufactyifimocesses typically is very difficult to achieamed is often very expensive and
may require extended periods of time. Changes imufe@turing processes (including manufacturing laedls), equipment or facilities may
require us to complete clinical trials to receiegulatory approval of any manufacturing improveraeAiso, we may be required to
demonstrate product comparability between a bickgiroduct made after a manufacturing change leag@rtoduct made before
implementation of the change through additionaésypf analytical and functional testing or may heveomplete additional clinical studies.
Also, if we contract for manufacturing serviceshwétin unproven process, our contractor is subjettteesame uncertainties, high standards an
regulatory controls, and may therefore experienffeulty if further process development is necagsa

Even a developed manufacturing process can enaatiffteulties. Problems may arise during manufaictg for a variety of reasons,
including human error, mechanical breakdowns, mnoisl with raw materials and cell banks, malfunctioiimternal information technology
systems, and other events that cannot always lvemedl or anticipated. Many of the processes irchidlogical systems, which add
significant complexity, as compared to chemicaltlgnis. We expect that, from time to time, consistéth biotechnology industry
expectations, certain production lots will failgooduce product that meets our quality controlaséeacceptance criteria. To date, our historice
failure rates for all of our product programs, imtihg Naglazyme, Aldurazyme and Vimizim, have be#thin our expectations, which are
based on industry norms. If the failure rate insesbsubstantially, we could experience increasstsclost revenue, damage to customer
relations, time and expense investigating the cande depending upon the cause, similar lossesresiect to other lots or products. If
problems are not discovered before the produalé&ased to the market, recall and product liabdiagts may also be incurred.

In order to produce product within our time andtquerameters, we must continue to produce prodithtmour expected success rate
yield expectations. Because of the complexity afroanufacturing processes, it may be difficultrapossible for us to determine the caus
any particular lot failure and we must effectivedke corrective action in response to any failara timely manner.

Although we have entered into contractual relatigpss with third-party manufacturers to producedbéve ingredient in Kuvan and
Firdapse, if those manufacturers are unwilling mathle to fulfill their contractual obligations, weay be unable to meet demand for these
products or sell these products at all and we rosg potential revenue. We have contracts for tbdymtion of final product for Kuvan and
Firdapse. We also rely on third-parties for porsiafi the manufacture of Naglazyme and Aldurazyrtadse manufacturers are unwilling or
unable to fulfill their contractual obligations satisfy demand outside of or in excess of the esital obligations, we may be unable to meet
demand for these products or sell these productt and we may lose potential revenue. Further aibailability of suitable contract
manufacturing capacity at scheduled or optimum sifmsenot certain.

In addition, our manufacturing processes subjetb asvariety of federal, state and local laws gegllations governing the use,
generation, manufacture, storage, handling anddimf hazardous materials and wastes resultorg their use. We may incur significant
costs in complying with these laws and regulations.

If we are unable to effectively address manufaotuissues, we may be unable to meet demand fquroducts and lose potential
revenue, have reduced margins, or be forced tdratema program.
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Our manufacturing facility for Naglazyme, Aldurazyme and Vimizim is located near known earthquake faulzones, and the
occurrence of an earthquake or other catastrophic idaster could cause damage to our facility and equinent, or that of our third-party
manufacturers or single-source suppliers, which cdd materially impair our ability to manufacture Nag lazyme, Aldurazyme and
Vimizim or our third-party manufacturer’s ability t o manufacture Kuvan or Firdapse.

Our Galli Drive facility located in Novato, Califoia is currently our only manufacturing facilityrflaglazyme, Aldurazyme and
Vimizim. It is located in the San Francisco Bay Areear known earthquake fault zones and is vultetatsignificant damage from
earthquakes. We, and the third-party manufactwv@éhswhom we contract and our single-source supplié raw materials, which include
many of our critical raw materials, are also vuliiBe to damage from other types of disasters, dnatufires, floods, power loss and similar
events. If any disaster were to occur, or any testror criminal activity caused significant damageour facilities or the facilities of our third-
party manufacturers and suppliers, our ability Bmofacture Naglazyme, Aldurazyme and Vimizim, ohéwe Kuvan or Firdapse
manufactured, could be seriously, or potentialljnptetely impaired, and our commercialization efahd revenue could be seriously
impaired. The insurance that we carry, the invgntibat we maintain and our risk mitigation plansymat be adequate to cover our losses
resulting from disasters or other business inté¢ionp.

Supply interruptions may disrupt our inventory levels and the availability of our products and cause €elays in obtaining
regulatory approval for our product candidates, orharm our business by reducing our revenues.
Numerous factors could cause interruptions in thaply of our finished products, including:

» timing, scheduling and prioritization of productiby our contract manufacturers or a breach of guee@ments by our contract
manufacturers

e labor interruptions

» changes in our sources for manufactur

» the timing and delivery of shipmen

» our failure to locate and obtain replacement mastufars as needed on a timely basis;
» conditions affecting the cost and availability afw materials

Any interruption in the supply of finished productsuld hinder our ability to distribute finishedogiucts to meet commercial demand.

With respect to our product candidates, produatioproduct is necessary to perform clinical triatsl successful registration batches are
necessary to file for approval to commercially nedr&nd sell product candidates. Delays in obtaiolimgcal material or registration batches
could delay regulatory approval for our productdidates.

Because the target patient populations for our prodcts are small, we must achieve significant markethare and maintain high
per-patient prices for our products to achieve proitability.

All of our products target diseases with small gratipopulations. As a result, our per-patient griceist be relatively high in order to
recover our development and manufacturing costsaahbve profitability. For Naglazyme and Vimiziihapproved, we must market
worldwide to achieve significant market penetratidrthe product. In addition, because the numbgroténtial patients in the disease
populations are small, it is not only importanfita patients who begin therapy to achieve sigaificmarket penetration of the product, but we
also need to be able to maintain these patientseyapy for an extended period of time. Due toekigected costs of treatment for our product:
for genetic diseases, we may be unable to maiotadibtain sufficient market share at a price highugh to justify our product development
efforts and manufacturing expenses.
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If we fail to obtain an adequate level of coveragand reimbursement for our drug products by third-party payers, the sales of our
drugs would be adversely affected or there may beoncommercially viable markets for our products.

The course of treatment for patients using our petalis expensive. We expect patients to needhtierdtfor extended periods, and for
some products throughout the lifetimes of the pagieWe expect that most families of patients ndt be capable of paying for this treatment
themselves. There will be no commercially viable'keafor our products without coverage and reimbuorsnt from third-party payers.
Additionally, even if there is a commercially viabharket, if the level of reimbursement is below expectations, our revenue and gross
margins will be adversely affected.

Third-party payers, such as government or privatdth care insurers, carefully review and increglgichallenge the prices charged for
drugs. Reimbursement rates from private comparaes depending on the third-party payer, the inscegsian and other factors.
Reimbursement systems in international markets signyificantly by country and by region, and reimdement approvals must be obtained or
a country-by-country basis.

Reimbursement in the EU must be negotiated on atopby-country basis and in many countries thedpod cannot be commercially
launched until reimbursement is approved. The timacomplete the negotiation process in each cpuimbighly uncertain, and in some
countries we expect that it may exceed 12 months.

For our future products, we will not know what tleémbursement rates will be until we are ready tokat the product and we actually
negotiate the rates. If we are unable to obtaificseiitly high reimbursement rates for our produtii®y may not be commercially viable or
future revenues and gross margins may be adveaffelsted.

A significant portion of our international sales are made based on special access programs, and changethese programs could
adversely affect our product sales and revenue ihése countries.

We make a significant portion of our internatiosales of Naglazyme through special access or “ngragent” programs, which do not
require full product approval. We expect to alstagt these programs for Vimizim. The specificstloé programs vary from country to count
Generally, special approval must be obtained fohgmatient. The approval normally requires an @apithn or a lawsuit accompanied by
evidence of medical need. Generally, the apprdealsach patient must be renewed from time to time.

These programs are not well defined in some camtnd are subject to changes in requirementsuadihfy levels. Any change to these
programs could adversely affect our ability to selt products in those countries and delay sdléiselprograms are not funded by the
respective government, there could be insufficients to pay for all patients. Further, governménatge in the past undertaken and may in th
future undertake, unofficial measures to limit gnaases of our products, including initially denyitmyerage for purchasers, delaying orders
denying or taking excessively long to approve amstalearance. Any such actions could materiallgyler reduce our revenues from such
countries.

Without the special access programs, we would teedek full product approval to commercially maried sell our products. This can
be an expensive and time-consuming process andufggct our products to additional price contrBlscause the number of patients is so
small in some countries, it may not be economidahsible to seek and maintain a full product apakcand therefore the sales in such cou
would be permanently reduced or eliminated. Foofihese reasons, if the special access progitamsve are currently using are eliminate:
restricted, our revenues could be adversely affecte
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If we fail to compete successfully with respect tproduct sales, we may be unable to generate sufficit sales to recover our
expenses related to the development of a productggram or to justify continued marketing of a produa and our revenue could be
adversely affected.

Our competitors may develop, manufacture and mamagtucts that are more effective or less expertbiae ours. They may also obtain
regulatory approvals for their products faster thancan obtain them (including those products withhan drug designation) or commercialize
their products before we do. If we do not compeieeessfully, our revenue would be adversely afteced we may be unable to generate
sufficient sales to recover our expenses relatélde@evelopment of a product program or to justdptinued marketing of a product.

Government price controls or other changes in priaig regulation could restrict the amount that we areable to charge for our
current and future products, which would adverselyaffect our revenue and results of operations.

We expect that coverage and reimbursement maydbeasingly restricted both in the U.S. and inteamatily. The escalating cost of
health care has led to increased pressure on #ih leare industry to reduce costs. Governmenidlpsivate third-party payers have proposed
health care reforms and cost reductions. A numbgrderal and state proposals to control the cbkealth care, including the cost of drug
treatments, have been made in the U.S. In somenaitenal markets, the government controls themgiovhich can affect the profitability of
drugs. Current government regulations and pos8iltlge legislation regarding health care may afteaterage and reimbursement for medical
treatment by third-party payers, which may rendergroducts not commercially viable or may adversdfect our future revenues and gross
margins.

International operations are also generally sulifeektensive price and market regulations, antethee many proposals for additional
cost-containment measures, including proposalsibatd directly or indirectly impose additional p&i controls or mandatory price cuts or
reduce the value of our intellectual property pmitf. As part of these cost containment measumagscountries have imposed or threatene
impose revenue caps limiting the annual volumeatdssof Naglazyme. To the extent that these capsignificantly below actual demand, our
future revenues and gross margins may be adveaffelsted.

We cannot predict the extent to which our busimeag be affected by these or other potential fulegéslative or regulatory
developments. However, future price controls oeotthanges in pricing regulation could restrictahgount that we are able to charge for our
current and future products, which would adverséigct our revenue and results of operations.

Government health care reform could increase our csis, and would adversely affect our revenue and ralis of operations.

Our industry is highly regulated and changes intaay adversely impact our business, operationmanéial results. The PPACA is a
sweeping measure intended to expand healthcareagmrvithin the U.S., primarily through the impasitof health insurance mandates on
employers and individuals and expansion of the lgeadiprogram.

Several provisions of the new law, which have vagyeffective dates, may affect us and will liketgiease certain of our costs. For
example, the Medicaid rebate rate was increasedhandolume of rebated drugs has been expandedtitede beneficiaries in Medicaid
managed care organizations. Among other thingsPE®CA also expands the 340B drug discount prodexmiuding orphan drugs), includi
the creation of new penalties for noampliance; includes a 50% discount on brand namgsdor Medicare Part D participants in the coge
gap, or “donut hole,” and imposes a new fee oragerhanufacturers and importers of branded presznigirugs (excluding orphan drugs
under certain conditions). The law also reviseddinition of “average manufacturer price” for cgfing purposes, which could increase the
amount of the Medicaid drug
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rebates paid to states. Substantial new provisitfesting compliance also have been added, whichmeguire us to modify our business
practices with health care practitioners. For eXamipeginning in 2013, drug manufacturers will bguired to report information on payments
or transfers of value to physicians and teachirgptials, as well as investment interests held lygigians and their immediate family memb
during the preceding calendar year. Failure to sutequired information may result in civil moneggrenalties. Although the statute requires
reporting by March 31, 2013 of payments and otraarsfers of value made in calendar year 2012, M8 Gas issued a final rule that will go
into effect in April 2013 and will require manufacers to begin collecting required information oaglist 1, 2013 with the first reports due
March 31, 2014.

The reforms imposed by the new law will signifidgnimpact the pharmaceutical industry; however,ftilkeffects of the PPACA cannot
be known until these provisions are implementedthedCMS and other federal and state agencies &éslecable regulations or guidance.
Moreover, in the coming years, additional changregccbe made to governmental healthcare prograatctuld significantly impact the
success of our products or product candidates. Weamtinue to evaluate the PPACA, as amendedirtimementation of regulations or
guidance related to various provisions of the PPAgAederal agencies, as well as trends and chahgemay be encouraged by the
legislation and that may potentially have an impacbur business over time. The cost of implemgntiore detailed record keeping systems
and otherwise complying with these regulations dauibstantially increase our costs. The changtgetway our products are reimbursed by
the CMS could reduce our revenues. Both of thésat&ins could adversely affect our results of afiens.

We face credit risks from customers that may adverdy affect our results of operations.

Our product sales to government-owned or suppaustbmers in various countries outside of the dr&.subject to significant payment
delays due to government funding and reimburseimettices. This has resulted and may continuesti@trén an increase in days sales
outstanding due to the average length of timewleahave accounts receivable outstanding. If sigaifi changes were to occur in the
reimbursement practices of these governmentsgmiérnment funding becomes unavailable, we mayeatble to collect on amounts due to
us from these customers and our results of opasatimuld be adversely affected.

If we are found in violation of federal or state “faud and abuse” laws, we may be required to pay agmalty or be suspended from
participation in federal or state health care progiams, which may adversely affect our business, finaral condition and results of
operation.

We are subject to various federal and state health “fraud and abuse” laws, including anti-kickb&ws, false claims laws and laws
related to ensuring compliance. The federal haadtk program anti-kickback statute makes it illdégakny person, including a pharmaceutica
company, to knowingly and willfully offer, solicipay or receive any remuneration, directly or iadily, in exchange for or to induce the
referral of business, including the purchase, oodgarescription of a particular drug, for whichypgent may be made under federal health car
programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid. Underddevernment regulations, certain arrangememtsai@ harbors, are deemed not to
violate the federal anti-kickback statute. Howelee, exemptions and safe harbors are drawn narr@nty practices that involve remuneration
not intended to induce prescribing, purchasesarmenendations may be subject to scrutiny if theyaioqualify for an exemption or safe
harbor. Our practices may not in all cases meetfdhe criteria for safe harbor protection frontidickback liability, although we seek to
comply with these safe harbors. Violations of thg-&ickback statute are punishable by imprisonmenminal fines, civil monetary penalties
and exclusion from participation in federal headttecprograms.

Federal and state false claims laws prohibit amggrefrom knowingly presenting, or causing to bespnted, a false claim for paymen
the federal government, or knowingly making, orsiag to be made, a false statement to have adkdse paid. In addition, certain marketing
practices, including off-label promotion, may aldolate false claims laws. Under the Health InsaeaRortability and Accountability Act of
1996, we
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also are prohibited from knowingly and willfully eguting a scheme to defraud any health care berefiram, including private payers, or
knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing oravering up a material fact or making any materiédlge, fictitious or fraudulent statement in
connection with the delivery of or payment for liealare benefits, items or services. Sanctionsuthése federal and state laws may include
civil monetary penalties, exclusion of a manufagetisr products from reimbursement under governmesgnams, criminal fines and
imprisonment.

Many states have adopted laws similar to the fé@detikickback statute, some of which apply tceredl of patients for health care
services reimbursed by any source, not just goventah payers. In addition, the state of Califoramia several other states have passed laws
that require pharmaceutical companies to compli Witth the April 2003 Office of Inspector Generangpliance Program Guidance for
Pharmaceutical Manufacturers and the PhRMA Codatenactions with Healthcare Professionals.

Neither the government nor the courts have proviidihitive guidance on the application of soméhafse laws to our business. Law
enforcement authorities are increasingly focusedrdnrcing these laws, and it is possible that sofreur practices may be challenged under
these laws. While we believe we have structuredoasiess arrangements to comply with these lawspbssible that the government could
allege violations of, or convict us of violatingese laws. If we are found in violation of onelufge laws, we are required to pay a penalty or
are suspended or excluded from participation irrfeldor state health care programs and our busifieaacial condition and results of
operation may be adversely affected.

We conduct a significant amount of our sales and @pations outside of the U.S., which subjects us talditional business risks that
could adversely affect our revenue and results ofperations.

A significant portion of the sales of Aldurazymedadaglazyme and all of the sales of Firdapse anermgged from countries other than
United States. Additionally, we have operationsémeral European countries, Brazil, other Latin Ao countries, Turkey and Asia. We
expect that we will continue to expand our inteiorsl operations in the future. International opieres inherently subject us to a number of
risks and uncertainties, including:

« changes in international regulatory and compliaecgiirements that could restrict our ability to mtatture, market and sell our
products;

» political and economic instabilit

« diminished protection of intellectual property nse countries outside of the U.
» trade protection measures and import or exponhdicey requirement:

« difficulty in staffing and managing internationaerations

» differing labor regulations and business practi

» potentially negative consequences from changesimerpretations of tax law.

» changes in international medical reimbursementgdiand program:

« financial risks such as longer payment cyclesjdliffy collecting accounts receivable and exposaructuations in foreign
currency exchange rates; ¢

» regulatory and compliance risks that relate to ta@mmng accurate information and control over saled distributors’ and service
provider¢ activities that may fall within the purview of ti@reign Corrupt Practices A«

Any of these factors may, individually or as a grpblave a material adverse effect on our businedsesults of operations.
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As we continue to expand our existing internatiadrations, we may encounter new risks. For exangsl we focus on building our
international sales and distribution networks iavm@ographic regions, we must continue to devedtgtionships with qualified local
distributors and trading companies. If we are metessful in developing and maintaining these imahips, we may not be able to grow sales
in these geographic regions. These or other simgks could adversely affect our revenue and tabfiity.

If we are unable to protect our proprietary technobgy, we may not be able to compete as effectively.

Where appropriate, we seek patent protection fdaiteaspects of our technology. Patent proteatiay not be available for some of the
products we are developing. If we must spend siganit time and money protecting or enforcing ouepts, designing around patents held by
others or licensing, potentially for large feesiepds or other proprietary rights held by otherts, lmusiness and financial prospects may be
harmed.

The patent positions of biopharmaceutical prodacéscomplex and uncertain. The scope and extgdateht protection for some of our
products and product candidates are particulartetain because key information on some of ourypebdandidates has existed in the public
domain for many years. The composition and gersetizpiences of animal and/or human versions of NaglazAldurazyme, and many of our
product candidates have been published and amvbdlto be in the public domain. The chemical stmecof BH4 (the active ingredient in
Kuvan) and 3,49AP (the active ingredient in Firdapse) have akserbpublished. Publication of this information npagvent us from obtainir
or enforcing patents relating to our products aradipct candidates, including without limitation coosition-of-matter patents, which are
generally believed to offer the strongest pateatqmtion.

We own or have licensed patents and patent apipiiatelated to Naglazyme, Kuvan, Aldurazyme anmddfise and certain of our
product candidates, including Vimizim. However,dagatents and patent applications do not ensargrdtection of our intellectual property
for a number of reasons, including without limitetithe following:

* With respect to pending patent applications, undéegsuntil actually issued, the protective valu¢helse applications is impossible
to determine. We do not know whether our patentiegipons will result in issued paten

» Competitors may interfere with our patent process variety of ways. Competitors may claim thaytheented the claimed
invention prior to us or that they filed their ajggkion for a patent on a claimed invention befesedid. Competitors may also cle
that we are infringing on their patents and thexefee cannot practice our technology. Competitoay also contest our patents by
showing the patent examiner or a court that thentien was not original, was not novel or was ohsjdor example. In litigation,
competitor could claim that our issued patentsnatevalid or are unenforceable for a number of@aaslf a court agrees, we wot
not be able to enforce that patent. We have no imgfuh experience with competitors interfering wih challenging the validity or
enforceability of our patents or patent applicasic

» Enforcing patents is expensive and may absorbfgigni time of our management. Management wouladpess time and
resources on developing products, which could as@eour operating expenses and delay product pnsgi&/e may not have the
financial ability to sustain a patent infringemeution, or it may not be financially reasonable&oso.

* Receipt of a patent may not provide much, if amgcfical protection. For example, if we receiveatept with a narrow scope, then
it will be easier for competitors to design produtttat do not infringe on our pate

» The recently enacted America Invents Act, whictomefed certain patent laws in the U.S., may credditianal uncertainty. Amon
the significant changes are switching from a “fisinvent” system to a “first-to-file” system, atide implementation of new
procedures that permit competitors to challengepatents in the U.S. Patent Office after gr
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In addition, competitors may also seek intellecpralperty protection for their technology. Duelie tamount of intellectual property in
our field of technology, we cannot be certain thratdo not infringe intellectual property rightsa@impetitors or that we will not infringe
intellectual property rights of competitors grantedtreated in the future. For example, if a patender believes our product infringes their
patent, the patent holder may sue us even if we heseived patent protection for our technologgolineone else claims we infringe their
intellectual property, we would face a number sfiss, including the following:

» Defending a lawsuit, which takes significant timmel aesources and can be very expen:
» If a court decides that our product infringes a petiior's intellectual property, we may have to pay sulistBdamages

» With respect to patents, in addition to requirisgta pay substantial damages, a court may prahéditom making, selling, offering
to sell, importing or using our product unless plagent holder licenses the patent to us. The phatdder is not required to grant u
license. If a license is available, it may not keilable on commercially reasonable terms. For ganwe may have to pay
substantial royalties or grant cross licenses tgpatents and patent applicatio

 We may need to redesign our product so it doefmifringe the intellectual property rights of othe

» Redesigning our product so it does not infringeititellectual property rights of competitors mayt he possible or could require
substantial funds and tim

It is also unclear whether our trade secrets aequaately protected. Our employees, consultantsmiractors may unintentionally or
willfully disclose trade secrets to competitorsfdning a claim that someone else illegally obtdiaed is using our trade secrets, as with
patent litigation, is expensive and time consumieguires significant resources and the outconn@sedictable. In addition, courts outside
the U.S. are sometimes less willing to protectdragcrets. Furthermore, our competitors may indigrgtty develop equivalent knowledge,
methods and know-how, in which case we would nadtide to enforce our trade secret rights agairedt sampetitors.

We may also support and collaborate in researcumiad by government organizations, hospitals,amsities or other educational
institutions. These research partners may be ungitb grant us any exclusive rights to technologyroducts derived from these
collaborations.

If we do not obtain required licenses or rights,ageald encounter delays in our product developra#fotts while we attempt to design
around other patents or may be prohibited from n@kising, importing, offering to sell or sellingpducts requiring these licenses or rights.
There is also a risk that disputes may arise #setoights to technology or products developedoiteboration with other parties. If we are not
able to resolve such disputes and obtain the leeosrights we need, we may not be able to devaioparket our products.

If our Manufacturing, Marketing and Sales Agreement(MMS Agreement) with Genzyme were terminated, weauld be prevented
from continuing to commercialize Aldurazyme or ourability to successfully commercialize Aldurazyme wald be delayed or diminished

Either party may terminate the Manufacturing, Mairkggand Sales Agreement (MMS Agreement), betweenz@me and us related to
Aldurazyme for specified reasons, including if tither party is in material breach of the MMS, hggezienced a change of control, as such
term is defined in the MMS agreement, or has dedl@ankruptcy and also is in breach of the MMShd@édigh we are not currently in breach of
the MMS, there is a risk that either party couldadmh the MMS in the future. Either party may aloninate the MMS upon one year prior
written notice for any reason.

If the MMS Agreement is terminated for breach, bheaching party will transfer its interest in BioMdGenzyme LLC, or the LLC, to
the non-breaching party, and the non-breaching peitt pay a specified buyout
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amount for the breaching party’s interest in Aldiyrae and in the LLC. If we are the breaching pasty,would lose our rights to Aldurazyme
and the related intellectual property and regulasqprovals. If the MMS Agreement is terminatedhwitt cause, the non-terminating party
would have the option, exercisable for one yeabuy out the terminating party’s interest in Aldzyene and in the LLC at a specified buyout
amount. If such option is not exercised, all rigiat&\ldurazyme will be sold and the LLC will be gidved. In the event of termination of the
buyout option without exercise by the non-termingtparty as described above, all right and titlalturazyme is to be sold to the highest
bidder, with the proceeds to be split between Gerezsind us in accordance with our percentage irtieréise LLC.

If the MMS Agreement is terminated by either pdrécause the other party declared bankruptcy, thariating party would be obligate
to buy out the other party and would obtain alhtggto Aldurazyme exclusively. If the MMS Agreeménterminated by a party because the
other party experienced a change of control, thraiteting party shall notify the other party, tHéeoee, of its intent to buy out the offeree’s
interest in Aldurazyme and the LLC for a stated antset by the terminating party at its discretibhe offeree must then either accept this
offer or agree to buy the terminating party’s ietrin Aldurazyme and the LLC on those same teTins.party who buys out the other party
would then have exclusive worldwide rights to Aldeyme. The Amended and Restated Collaboration Aggaebetween us and Genzyme
will automatically terminate upon the effective eaff the termination of the MMS Agreement and mai/be terminated independently from
the MMS Agreement.

If we were obligated, or given the option, to buyt Genzyme’s interest in Aldurazyme and the LLQJ trereby gain exclusive rights to
Aldurazyme, we may not have sufficient funds tosdaand we may not be able to obtain the finanendptso. If we fail to buy out Genzyme’s
interest, we may be held in breach of the agreemmahimay lose any claim to the rights to Aldurazyand the related intellectual property and
regulatory approvals. We would then effectivelypoehibited from developing and commercializing Aldeyme. If this happened, not only
would our product revenues decrease, but our givace would also decline.

Based on our strategic alliance with Merck Seronajnless Merck Serono “opts in” to the PEG-PAL progran, we will not realize
any cost sharing for the development expenses, déygment milestones, or royalties for ex-U.S. sales.

In May 2005, we entered into an agreement with l&erono for the further development and commaereitibn of Kuvan (and any
other product containing 6R-BH4) and PEG-PAL forlPKRursuant to that agreement, we received develapmilestones on Kuvan and
receive royalties on sales by Merck Serono. Adddlly, we may be entitled to development milestomad royalties related to PEG-PAL.
However, Merck Serono has “opted out” of the PE&- development program. Unless and until it eléctspt in, it is not obligated to pay &
of the milestones related to the program or to beirse us for any of the development costs. Additigneven though Merck Serono has optec
out, we do not have any right to commercialize FE&- outside of the U.S. and Japan or to grant aeyase such rights.

Merck Serono may elect to opt in at any time. IfrbkeSerono opts in to the PEG-PAL development @mogbefore the unblinding of the
first Phase 3 trial for PEG-PAL, it must pay 75%oé Phase 3 costs incurred prior to theingnd the $7,000,000 Phase 3 initiation milest
if the trial has started. If it opts in after umdling of the first Phase 3 trial for PEG-PAL, it shypay 100% of the Phase 3 costs incurred prior
the opt-in and the $7,000,000 Phase 3 initiatidestone. Additionally, in all cases after it opts® the PEG-PAL development program,
Merck Serono would be obligated to pay one haffiafre development costs under the agreement antueher milestones due under the
agreement. If Merck Serono does not opt in, it wilt have the right to use any of the clinical threo independently developed data.

We cannot determine when or if Merck Serono will iopto the PEG-PAL development program. If Merek@&o does not opt in, we
will not receive any milestones under the agreemenwill there be any sales outside of the U.Slagran generating revenue from royalties o
otherwise.
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If we fail to compete successfully with respect tacquisitions, joint ventures or other collaborationopportunities, we may be
limited in our ability to develop new products andto continue to expand our product pipeline.

Our competitors compete with us to attract orgaiuna for acquisitions, joint ventures, licensirrggagements or other collaborations.
date, several of our product programs have beemrachthrough acquisitions, such as BMN-701 and B&W3 and several of our product
programs have been developed through licensinglaborative arrangements, such as Naglazyme, Aldume, Kuvan and Firdapse. These
collaborations include licensing proprietary tedlogy from, and other relationships with, acadensigaarch institutions. Our future success
will depend, in part, on our ability to identify @itional opportunities and to successfully entéo ipartnering or acquisition agreements for
those opportunities. If our competitors succesgfetiter into partnering arrangements or licenseegents with academic research instituti
we will then be precluded from pursuing those djieopportunities. Since each of these opportusiiseunique, we may not be able to find a
substitute. Several pharmaceutical and biotechiyatoghpanies have already established themselués ifield of genetic diseases. These
companies have already begun many drug developpnegtams, some of which may target diseases thatrevalso targeting, and have
already entered into partnering and licensing grearents with academic research institutions, reduitie pool of available opportunities.

Universities and public and private research in8tihs also compete with us. While these orgaronatprimarily have educational or
basic research objectives, they may develop prapyieechnology and acquire patents that we mayg farethe development of our product
candidates. We will attempt to license this prajamng technology, if available. These licenses matyte available to us on acceptable terms, i
at all. If we are unable to compete successfullhwéspect to acquisitions, joint venture and otlediaboration opportunities, we may be
limited in our ability to develop new products aondcontinue to expand our product pipeline.

If generic manufacturers use litigation and regulabry means to obtain approval for generic versionsfduvan, our revenue and
results of operations would be adversely affected.

The Hatch Waxman Act permits the FDA to approverabiated new drug applications, or ANDAS, for géneersions of branded drus
We refer to this process as the “ANDA procedsie ANDA process permits competitor companies taiokbmarketing approval for a drug w
the same active ingredient for the same uses lag dot generally require the conduct and submissiatinical efficacy studies for that
product. In place of such clinical studies, an ANB@plicant usually needs only to submit data dernatisg that its product is bioequivalen
the branded product based on pharmacokinetic studigsuant to the Hatch Waxman Act, companies aldeeto file an ANDA application
for the active ingredient in Kuvan at any time afbecember 2011. At present, we have no informatiahany other party has filed or has
conducted the bioequivalency study necessaryeaafil ANDA for Kuvan.

The Hatch Waxman Act requires an applicant forugdhat relies, at least in part, on our data iggrthe safety and efficacy of Kuvan,
to notify us of their application and potentialrinfement of our patents listed in the FDA’s AppedvDrug Products with Therapeutic
Equivalence Evaluations (Orange Book). Upon rea#it notice alleging that our patents listed ia @range Book are invalid or not infringed
by the proposed competitor product (paragraph ficap we would have 45 days to bring a pateningiEment suit in federal district court
against the company seeking approval for its prodite discovery, trial and appeals process in suds can take several years. If we
commence such a suit alleging infringement of anmaore of our Orange Book listed patents withinddys from receipt of the paragraph iv
notice, the Hatch Waxman Act provides a 30-mordly sh the FDA’s approval of the competitor’s apglion. If the litigation is resolved in
favor of the applicant or the challenged patenirespduring the 30-month stay period, the staiftisd and the FDA's review of the application
may be completed. Such litigation is often timesuming, costly and may result in competition if
such patent(s) are not upheld or if the competitars not infringe such patent(s). However, genegisions of Kuvan would be prohibited ul
the expiration of orphan drug exclusivity in DeceanB014 or June 2015 if we receive pediatric excitys
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The filing of an ANDA application in respect to Kav could have an adverse impact on our stock pridditigation to enforce our
patents is likely to cost a substantial amountr@ggire significant management attention. If theepes covering Kuvan were not upheld in
litigation or if the generic competitor is foundrot infringe these patents, the resulting genmiapetition following the expiration of orphan
exclusivity would have a material adverse effecbanrevenue and results of operations.

If we do not achieve our projected development gaosiin the timeframes we announce and expect, the camarcialization of our
products may be delayed and the credibility of oumanagement may be adversely affected and, as a résour stock price may decline.

For planning purposes, we estimate the timing efatcomplishment of various scientific, clinicalgulatory and other product
development goals, which we sometimes refer toikestones. These milestones may include the comemeait or completion of scientific
studies and clinical trials and the submissioregiutatory filings. From time to time, we publiclprzounce the expected timing of some of tl
milestones. All of these milestones are basedariaty of assumptions. The actual timing of theskestones can vary dramatically comparec
to our estimates, in many cases for reasons beywndontrol. If we do not meet these milestonegudsicly announced, the commercializat
of our products may be delayed and the credibilffityur management may be adversely affected aralresult, our stock price may decline.

We depend upon our key personnel and our ability tattract and retain employees.

Our future growth and success will depend in lgrget on our continued ability to attract, retairgmage and motivate our employees.
loss of the services of any member of our seniarageament or the inability to hire or retain expecied management personnel could
adversely affect our ability to execute our bussnglsin and harm our operating results.

Because of the specialized scientific and manalgeaiare of our business, we rely heavily on odlitglio attract and retain qualified
scientific, technical and managerial personnepdrticular, the loss of one or more of our seni@agitive officers could be detrimental to us if
we do not have an adequate succession plan oréaweot recruit suitable replacements in a timedyner. While our senior executive offici
are parties to employment agreements with us, thgseements do not guarantee that they will remaiployed with us in the future. In
addition, in many cases, these agreements do stoicteour senior executive officers’ ability torapete with us after their employment is
terminated. The competition for qualified personinghe pharmaceutical field is intense, and theielimited pool of qualified potential
employees to recruit. Due to this intense competjtive may be unable to continue to attract araiirejualified personnel necessary for the
development of our business or to recruit suitabpdacement personnel. If we are unsuccessful imemruitment and retention efforts, our
business may be harmed.

Our success depends on our ability to manage our guwth.

Product candidates that we are currently developingay acquire in the future may be intended &irgmt populations that are
significantly larger than any of MPS |, MPS VI, PKdd LEMS. In order to continue development and rating of these products, if approved,
we will need to significantly expand our operatiole manage expansion effectively, we need to noetio develop and improve our researct
and development capabilities, manufacturing andityuzapacities, sales and marketing capabilitiesncial and administrative systems and
standard processes for global operations. Our, $tiaéincial resources, systems, procedures or @isninay be inadequate to support our
operations and may increase our exposure to regylahd corruption risks and our management maynlable to manage successfully future
market opportunities or our relationships with cas¢rs and other third-parties.
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Changes in methods of treatment of disease coulddece demand for our products and adversely affectavenues.

Even if our drug products are approved, if doctdext a course of treatment which does not inctudedrug products, this decision
would reduce demand for our drug products and adleaffect revenues. For example, if gene thetsgmpmes widely used as a treatment of
genetic diseases, the use of enzyme replacemeapthesuch as Naglazyme and Aldurazyme in MPS deseaould be greatly reduced.
Changes in treatment method can be caused byttheuction of other companieptoducts or the development of new technologiesuagica
procedures which may not directly compete with phrg which have the effect of changing how doctiEside to treat a disease.

If product liability lawsuits are successfully brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilitis.

We are exposed to the potential product liabilisks inherent in the testing, manufacturing andketing of human pharmaceuticals. We
maintain insurance against product liability lavtssdior commercial sale of our products and fordlwical trials of our product candidates.
Pharmaceutical companies must balance the cossofdnce with the level of coverage based on ewsra potential liability. Historically,
the potential liability associated with productiiiity lawsuits for pharmaceutical products hasrbaepredictable. Although we believe that
current insurance is a reasonable estimate of aenpal liability and represents a commerciallggenable balancing of the level of coverage
as compared to the cost of the insurance, we maylject to claims in connection with our clinit@ls and commercial use of Naglazyme,
Kuvan, Aldurazyme and Firdapse, or our clinicalgifor PEG-PAL, Vimizim, BMN-701, BMN-673 or BMN11L for which our insurance
coverage may not be adequate.

The product liability insurance we will need to aibtin connection with the commercial sales of purduct candidates if and when they
receive regulatory approval may be unavailable @aningful amounts or at a reasonable cost. Iniaddivhile we continue to take what we
believe are appropriate precautions, we may belarnaltavoid significant liability if any productdbility lawsuit is brought against us. If we .
the subject of a successful product liability cldahmat exceeds the limits of any insurance covevegebtain, we may incur substantial charges
that would adversely affect our earnings and rexjtie commitment of capital resources that migh¢tise be available for the development
and commercialization of our product programs.

We rely significantly on information technology andany failure, inadequacy, interruption or security lapse of that technology,
including any cybersecurity incidents, could harm ar ability to operate our business effectively.

We rely significantly on our information technologpd manufacturing infrastructure to effectivelymage and maintain our inventory
and internal reports, to manufacture and ship prtsdio customers and to timely invoice them. Arilufa, inadequacy, or interruption of that
infrastructure or security lapse of that technoldggluding cybersecurity incidents could harm ability to operate our business effectively.
Our ability to manage and maintain our inventory arternal reports, to manufacture and ship oudpets to customers and timely invoice
them depends significantly on our enterprise resmptanning, production management, and othernmdition systems. Cybersecurity attacks
in particular are evolving and include, but are Iirotted to, malicious software, attempts to gamauthorized access to data and other
electronic security breaches that could lead taugisons in systems, misappropriation of our coafitial or otherwise protected information
and corruption of data. Cybersecurity incidentsitesy in the failure of our enterprise resourcanpling system, production management or
other systems to operate effectively or to integyvaith other systems, or a breach in security beotinauthorized access of these systems, m
affect our ability to manage and maintain our irteey and internal reports, and result in delayprisduct fulfillment and reduced efficiency of
our operations. A breach in security, unauthori@ecess resulting in misappropriation, theft, orosafpe with respect to our proprietary and
confidential information, including research omatial data could require significant capital inveshts to remediate any such failure, problem
or breach, all of which could adversely affect business, financial condition and results of openast
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Our business is affected by macroeconomic conditisn

Various macroeconomic factors could adversely affec business and the results of our operatioddiaancial condition, including
changes in inflation, interest rates and foreigmemcy exchange rates and overall economic comditamd uncertainties, including those
resulting from the current and future conditionshia global financial markets. For instance, ifatibn or other factors were to significantly
increase our business costs, it may not be featsitjass through price increases on to our cus®mer to the process by which health care
providers are reimbursed for our products by theegament. Interest rates, the liquidity of the d@rethrkets and the volatility of the capital
markets could also affect the value of our investim@nd our ability to liquidate our investment®ider to fund our operations. We purchase
or enter into a variety of financial instrumentsldransactions, including investments in commengégder, the extension of credit to
corporations, institutions and governments and imgdgpntracts. If any of the issuers or countetiparto these instruments were to default on
their obligations, it could materially reduce thedue of the transaction and adversely affect osh ¢ows.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, approximd®élpf our net product revenues were from the SoatEuropean countries of Ite
Spain, Portugal and Greece. Approximately 8% oftotal accounts receivable as of December 31, 28la2ed to such countries and we have
included an allowance for doubtful accounts fotaeraccounts receivable from Greece. If the fimgrzonditions of these countries continues
to decline, a substantial portion of the receivaloiey be uncollectable, which would mean we woaldehto provide for additional allowances
for doubtful accounts or cease selling producth@se countries, either of which could adversdigcafour results of operations. Additionally
one or more of these countries were unable to psebur products, our revenue would be adverstdygtafl.

Interest rates and the ability to access credikatarcould also adversely affect the ability of oustomers/distributors to purchase, pay
for and effectively distribute our products. Simlyathese macroeconomic factors could affect thiéta of our contract manufacturers, sole-
source or single-source suppliers to remain infmss or otherwise manufacture or supply produdiifeaby any of them to remain a going
concern could affect our ability to manufacturedaras.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities
Our stock price may be volatile, and an investment our stock could suffer a decline in value.

Our valuation and stock price since the beginniigaaling after our initial public offering have dh@o meaningful relationship to current
or historical earnings, asset values, book valuaamy other criteria based on conventional measafrstock value. The market price of our
common stock will fluctuate due to factors inclugtin

» product sales and profitability of Naglazyme, Aldzyme, Kuvan and Firdaps

* manufacture, supply or distribution of Naglazymé&jukazyme, Kuvan and Firdaps

» progress of our product candidates through thelaémy process

» results of clinical trials, announcements of tedhgal innovations or new products by us or ounpetitors;

e government regulatory action affecting our prodiartdidates or our competitors’ drug products irhtibe U.S. and non U.S.
countries;

» developments or disputes concerning patent or @@y rights;
» general market conditions and fluctuations foraheerging growth and pharmaceutical market sec
» economic conditions in the U.S. or abro
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» broad market fluctuations in the U.S., the EU oofiner parts of the worlc
» actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiegults; anc
» changes in our assessments or financial estimgtesdurities analyst

In the past, following periods of large price deeb in the public market price of a company’s séesr securities class action litigation
has often been initiated against that companygéiibn of this type could result in substantialts@nd diversion of management’s attention
and resources, which would hurt our business. Alweese determination in litigation could also sgbjes to significant liabilities. In addition,
the current decline in the financial markets andteel factors beyond our control, including theddrand mortgage crisis in the U.S. and
worldwide, may cause our stock price to declinedigmnd unexpectedly.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents ad under Delaware law may make an acquisition of ysvhich may be
beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult.

We are incorporated in Delaware. Certain anti-take@rovisions of Delaware law and our charter doents as currently in effect may
make a change in control of our company more diffj@ven if a change in control would be benefitiahe stockholders. Our anti-takeover
provisions include provisions in our certificatein€orporation providing that stockholders’ meetingay only be called by our Board of
Directors and provisions in our bylaws providingttthe stockholders may not take action by writtensent and requiring that stockholders
that desire to nominate any person for electiooutoBoard of Directors or to make any proposal wétbpect to business to be conducted at a
meeting of our stockholders be submitted in appatg@iform to our Secretary within a specified périd time in advance of any such meeting.
Additionally, our Board of Directors has the auihoto issue additional shares of preferred stauk @ determine the terms of those shares of
stock without any further action by our stockhofgerhich would allow our Board of Directors to impient a stockholder rights plan without
approval by our stockholders. The rights of holdd#rsur common stock are subject to the rightdhefholders of any preferred stock that may
be issued. The issuance of preferred stock coulgrtamore difficult for a third-party to acquirenaajority of our outstanding voting stock.
Delaware law also prohibits corporations from eriggdn a business combination with any holders&#flor more of their capital stock until
the holder has held the stock for three years anaong other possibilities, our Board of Direstapproves the transaction. Our Board of
Directors may use these provisions to prevent olsingthe management and control of our comparso,Alnder applicable Delaware law,
Board of Directors may adopt additional anti-takeromeasures in the future.

Iltem 1B. UnresolveStaff Comments
None.

Item 2. Properties
The following table contains information about current significant owned and leased properties:

Approximate Lease

Location Square Feel Use Expiration Date
San Rafael facility, San Rafael, Califor 120,400  Corporate headquarters, offi 2022
Several locations in Novato, Califorr 273,000  Office, laboratory and warehou 2011-2020
Galli Drive facility, Novato, California Clinical and commercial manufacturing and

91,50 laboratory NA: owned property
Bel Marin Keys facility, Novato, California Technical operations, finance, administration,

83,90(  and laboraton NA: owned property
Shanbally facility, Cork, Irelan 142,00  Manufacturing NA: owned property
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Our administrative office space and plans to dgveldditional space are expected to be adequathddoreseeable future. In addition to
the above, we also maintain small offices in aetgirof locations around the world. We believe thathe extent required, we will be able to
lease or buy additional facilities at commerciahgsonable rates. We plan to use contract manuifagtwhen appropriate to provide product
for both clinical and commercial requirements ustith time as we believe it prudent to developtaafdil in-house clinical and/or commercial
manufacturing capacity.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
We have no material legal proceedings pending.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable

Part Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

Our common stock is listed under the symbol “BMRiM'the NASDAQ Global Select Market. The followirabte sets forth the range of
high and low quarterly closing sales prices for common stock for the periods noted, as reporteNASDAQ.

Prices

Year Period High Low

2012 First Quartel $38.3¢ $33.6¢
201z  Second Quarte $39.5¢ $32.1:
201z  Third Quartel $43.3( $37.02
2012 Fourth Quarte $50.1% $36.7¢
2011 First Quartel $28.2¢ $23.4¢
2011 Second Quarte $28.4¢ $24.9:
2011 Third Quartel $31.8i $24.0:
2011 Fourth Quarte $35.3¢ $30.0%

On February 15, 2013, the last reported sale jpricitne NASDAQ Global Select Market for our commaock was $56.28. We have
never paid any cash dividends on our common stodkage do not anticipate paying cash dividends énfthieseeable future.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
We did not make any purchases of our common stadkgl the year ended December 31, 2012.

Holders

As of February 15, 2013, there were 54 holdergoérd of 126,101,610 outstanding shares of our comstock. Additionally, on such
date, options to acquire 13.7 million shares ofaammon stock were outstanding.
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Performance Graph

The following is not deemed “filed” with the Sedig$ and Exchange Commission and is not to be purated by reference into any
filing we make under the Securities Act of 193%rasnded, whether made before or after the datedfiend irrespective of any gene
incorporation by reference language in such filing.

The following graph shows the value of an investhudi$100 on December 31, 2007 in BioMarin commiatls, the NASDAQ

Composite Index (U.S.) and the NASDAQ Biotechnolbgyex. All values assume reinvestment of the pretdue of dividends paid by
companies included in these indices and are caérlilzs of December 31 of each year. Our commok s&&dcaded on the NASDAQ Global
Select Market and is a component of both the NASBZdpposite Index and the NASDAQ Biotechnology IndEixe comparisons shown in
the graph are based upon historical data and wéoahat the stock price performance shown ingteph is not indicative of, nor intended to
forecast, the potential future performance of dacls

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among BioMarin Pharmacewtical Inc.. the NASDAQ Composite Index.
and the NASDAL Biotechnology Index

S180
flel o L
§140 4 Al
o e
£120 4 -
S 1000 B.H S -G PR g =
. e ":-' i - ___--"_F_
san 4 Hl‘-\b‘:\iﬂ_ B o = i
S60 e g
%40 =
L]
s = :
200 123N 12/3 1108 1231111 126312

E— BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc.

k= et | "th'l.\q L'-:1I'I'||'|1|hiw Index B \.-\?‘“!.-‘I.L;I‘ “-inn_w,'hllurng\- Todlex

* $100 invested on December 31, 2007 in stock ondnideluding reinvestment of dividenc

BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc.
NASDAQ Composite Inde
NASDAQ Biotechnology Inde:

39

Fiscal Year Ending December 31

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

2012

100.0C 50.2¢ 53.1¢ 76.00 97.1:
100.0¢ 59.0¢ 82.2¢ 97.3: 98.6:
100.0C 93.4C 103.1¢ 113.8¢ 129.1:

138.9¢
110.7¢
163.3¢
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Iltem 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The information set forth below for the five yearsled December 31, 2012 is not necessarily insiafi results of future operations,
and should be read in conjunction with ltenM&nagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiahdtion and Results of Operatioasd the
Consolidated Financial Statements and related négsto included in Item 8 of this Annual Repartform 10-K to fully understand factors

that may affect the comparability of the informatioresented below:

Years Ended December 31

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except for per shardata)

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Consolidated statements of operations dat
REVENUES:
Net product revenue $ 496,49 $437,64° $ 369,70: $315,72: $251,85:
Collaborative agreement revent 1,95¢ 46¢ 682 2,37¢ 38,90"
Royalty and license revenu 2,271 3,24: 5,88¢ 6,55¢€ 5,73t
Total revenue 500,72: 441,35t 376,26 324,65t 296,49:
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Cost of sales (excludes amortization of certairuaeq
intangible asset: 91,83( 84,02: 70,28t 65,90¢ 52,50¢
Research and developme 302,21¢ 214,37: 147,30¢ 115,11¢ 93,29:
Selling, general and administrati 198,17: 175,42 151,72: 124,29( 106,56t
Intangible asset amortization and contingent caarsitibn 18,71 1,42¢ 6,40¢ 2,91« 4,371
Total operating expens 610,93¢ 475,24¢ 375,72: 308,22¢ 256,73
INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS (110,21Y (33,890 544 16,42; 39,75¢
Equity in the loss of BioMarin/Genzyme LL (1,227 (2,426 (2,99 (2,599 (2,270
Interest incom 2,58¢ 2,93¢ 4,11z 5,08¢ 16,69¢
Interest expens (7,639 (8,409 (10,819 (14,409 (16,399
Debt conversion expen: 0 (1,89¢) (13,729 0 0
Impairment loss on equity investme 0 0 0 (5,84%) (4,056
Net gain from sale of investmer 0 0 902 1,58¢ 0
Other income (expens (1,787 60 48¢ 314 (307)
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES (118,279 (43,627 (21,490 56€ 33,42«
Provision for (benefit from) income tax (3,93) 10,20¢ (227,309 1,05¢ 2,59:
NET INCOME (LOSS) $(114,34)  $(53,83() $ 205,81 $ (48t ¢ 30,83
NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE, BASIC $ (09 $ (04 $ 2.0C $ (0.0 $ 0.31
NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE, DILUTED $ (09 $ (049 $ 1.7¢ $ (00 $ o0.2¢
Weighted average common shares outstanding, 120,27. 112,12: 103,09: 100,27: 98,97¢
Weighted average common shares outstanding, di 120,27. 112,12; 125,67 100,27: 103,57.
December 31
(in thousands)
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Consolidated balance sheet datz
Cash, cash equivalents and investm $ 566,73: $ 289,47 $ 402,28 $470,52¢ $561,42!
Total current asse 743,46. 469,80: 504,26( 467,72 737,69¢
Total asset 1,601,64. 1,305,70! 1,262,62: 917,16: 906,69!
Long-term liabilities, net of current portic 415,44 438,53t 461,52. 516,82 499,93¢
Total stockholder equity 1,015,76. 773,04¢ 717,25 322,18 276,67"

40



Table of Contents

You should read the following tables presentingunaudited quarterly results of operations in coafion with the Consolidated
Financial Statements and related notes contairsegvbkre in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We hanepared this unaudited information
on the same basis as our audited Consolidated ¢iaiéBtatements. Our quarterly operating resulteHmctuated in the past and may continu
to do so in the future as a result of a numberofdrs, including, but not limited to, the timingdanature of research and development

activities.

2012:

Total revenue

Net loss

Net loss per share, basic and dilu

2011:

Total revenu

Net loss

Net loss per share, basic and dilu

Three Months Ended
(In thousands, except per share data, unaudited)

March 31, June 30, September 3C December 31
$116,64¢ $124,01¢ $ 128,11 $ 131,93t
(23,977) (32,00¢) (5,357) (53,017)
(0.21) (0.27) (0.09) (0.4%)
$109,45¢ $110,63: $ 113,42¢ $ 107,84t
(4,37)) (5,077) (17,659 (26,73Y)
(0.02) (0.05) (0.16) (0.29)
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Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial conditiand results of operations should be read in catijom with our Consolidated Financ
Statements and notes to those statements inclisidlesre in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We develop and commercialize innovative biopharmtcals for serious diseases and medical conditifesselect product candidates
for diseases and conditions that represent a ggnifunmet medical need, have well-understoodbiphnd provide an opportunity to be first-
to-market or offer a significant benefit over ekigtproducts.

Key components of our results of operations inclidefollowing (in millions):

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Total net product revenues $496.5 $437.¢ $ 369.7
Cost of sale: 91.¢ 84.C 70.5
Research and development expe 302.2 214.¢ 147.:
Selling, general and administrative expe 198.2 175.¢ 151.5
Intangible asset amortization and contingent caaitibn 18.7 14 6.4
Provision for (benefit from) income tax (3.9 10.z (227.9)
Net income ( loss (114.9) (53.9) 205.¢
Stocl-based compensation expel 48.C 43.¢ 37.t

See"Results of Operationsbelow for a discussion of the detailed componentsamalysis of the amounts above.

Our product portfolio is comprised of four approy@dducts and multiple investigational product ddates. Our approved products are
Naglazyme (galsulfase), Kuvan (sapropterin dihyblmdde), Firdapse (amifampridine phosphate) anduitdzyme (laronidase

Naglazyme, a recombinant form of N-acetylgalactdeam-sulfatase indicated for patients with mucgpatcharidosis VI (MPS VI), a
debilitating life-threatening genetic disease fdriet no other drug treatment currently exists anchiused by the deficiency of arylsufatase B,
received marketing approval in the U.S. in May 2083he EU in January 2006 and subsequently ieratbuntries. Naglazyme net product
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2012edc$257.0 million, compared to $224.9 million &iB2.7 million, respectively, for the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2

Kuvan was granted marketing approval for the treatnof phenylketonuria (PKU) in the U.S. and in Ei¢ in December 2007 and
December 2008, respectively. Our Kuvan net prodestnues for the year ended December 31, 2012¢b$dl43.1 million, compared to
$116.8 million and $99.4 million, respectively, fbe years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010.

In December 2009, the European Medicines Agencytgdamarketing approval for Firdapse, a proprietargn of 3-4-diaminopyridine
(amifampridine phosphate), for the treatment of bartrEaton Myasthenic Syndrome (LEMS). We laundfégiproduct on a country by
country basis in the EU beginning in April 2010rd@ipse net product revenues for the year endedniimre31, 2012 totaled $14.2 million,
compared to $13.1 million and $6.4 million, respesy, for the years ended December 31, 2011 ai®20

Aldurazyme (laronidase), which was developed ifataration with Genzyme Corporation (Genzyme), aggroved in 2003 for
marketing in the U.S., the EU and subsequentithierocountries for patients with
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mucopolysaccharidosis | (MPS 1). Our Aldurazyme preiduct revenues for the year ended December®@P, @taled $82.2 million, compared
to $82.8 million and $71.2 million, respectively the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010.

We are conducting clinical trials on several inigetional product candidates for the treatmentasfous diseases including:

e Vimizim ™ formerly referred to as GALNS, an enzyme replageintherapy for the treatment of mucopolysacchaigddype IV o
Morquio Syndrome Type A, a lysosomal storage disg!

* PEG-PAL, an enzyme substitution therapy for the treainoé PKU;

«  BMN-701, an enzyme replacement therapy for Pompe disaagycogen storage disord

«  BMN-673, an orally available pc-ADP ribose polymerase inhibitor for the treatmeinpatients with certain cancers; a
«  BMN-111, a peptide therapeutic for the treatment obadtoplasia, the leading cause of dwarfi

We are conducting preclinical development of sevattzer product candidates for genetic and othaab@dic diseases, including BMN-
190 for late infantile neuronal ceroid lipofuscii@.INCL), a lysosomal storage disorder primaglffecting the brain.

Cost of sales includes raw materials, personnefarility and other costs associated with manufactuNaglazyme and Aldurazyme at
our production facility in Novato, California. Cost sales also includes third-party manufacturiogts for the production of the active
ingredient in Kuvan and Firdapse and thialty production costs related to final formulatamd packaging services for all products and ct
royalties payable to third-parties for all products

Research and development includes costs assouidtethe research and development of product cateidand post-marketing researct
commitments related to our approved products. Theses primarily include preclinical and clinicalidies, personnel and raw materials costs
associated with manufacturing product candidateslityy control and assurance and regulatory costs.

Selling, general and administrative expense primarcludes expenses associated with the commézatain of approved products and
general and administrative costs to support ouraifpms. These expenses include: product marketinigsales operations personnel; corporat
facility operating expenses; information technolegypenses and depreciation; and core corporat@suppctions, including human resourc
finance and legal, and other external corporatéssigch as insurance, legal fees and other professservices.

Intangible asset amortization and contingent canratibn includes amortization expense related tdioite-lived intangible assets
associated with marketing rights in the EU for Bppde, impairment losses (if any) on intangible tassed changes in the fair value of
contingent acquisition consideration payable. Clearig fair value can result from changes in estaha@trobability adjustments, changes in
estimated timing of when a milestone may be achiegkanges in assumed discount periods and radiegsamsage of time.

Our cash, cash equivalents, short-term investrramdtdong-term investments totaled $566.7 milliom&Becember 31, 2012, compared
to $289.5 million as of December 31, 2011. We Hasworically financed our operations primarily tbgh the issuance of common stock and
convertible debt and by relying on equipment arigeotommercial financing. We will be highly dependen our net product revenue to
supplement our current liquidity and fund our opierss for the foreseeable future. We may in thareielect to supplement this with further
debt or equity offerings or commercial borrowingrther, depending on market conditions, our
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financial position and performance and other fagtare may in the future choose to use a portiasuofcash or cash equivalents to repurchase
our convertible debt or other securities. S&aancial Position, Liquidity and Capital Resourgebelow for a further discussion of our
liquidity and capital resources.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

In preparing our Consolidated Financial Statemanéccordance with accounting principles generatigepted in the U.S. and pursuant
to the rules and regulations promulgated by the ,S#0Omake assumptions, judgments and estimatesdhatave a significant impact on our
net income/(loss) and affect the reported amouinteain assets, liabilities, revenue and experases$related disclosures. We base our
assumptions, judgments and estimates on histaigerience and various other factors that we beliebe reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results could differ matérilom these estimates under different assumptioreonditions. On a regular basis, we
evaluate our assumptions, judgments and estimateslso discuss our critical accounting policied astimates with the Audit Committee of
our Board of Directors.

We believe that the assumptions, judgments anchasds involved in the accounting for business caoatimns, contingent acquisition
consideration payable, income taxes, long-live@@ssevenue recognition and inventory have thatgst impact on our Consolidated
Financial Statements, so we consider these to beritical accounting policies. Historically, oussumptions, judgments and estimates relativ
to our critical accounting policies have not difdmaterially from actual results.

Business Combination

We allocate the purchase price of acquired busasassthe tangible and intangible assets acquinddiabilities assumed based upon
their estimated fair values on the acquisition date purchase price allocation process requirgggement to make significant estimates anc
assumptions, especially at the acquisition datke mspect to intangible assets angineess research and development (IPR&D). In cdiom
with the purchase price allocations for acquisiione estimate the fair value of contingent actjoisiconsideration payments utilizing a
probability-based income approach inclusive of stm@ated discount rate.

Although we believe the assumptions and estimatafenare reasonable, they are based in part omibétexperience and information
obtained from the management of the acquired bsséteand are inherently uncertain. Examples da€alrigstimates in valuing any contingent
acquisition consideration issued or which may keeés and the intangible assets we have acquiredpmcquire in the future include but are
not limited to:

» the feasibility and timing of achievement of deymteent, regulatory and commercial milestor
e expected costs to develop th-process research and development into commergialbje products; an
» future expected cash flows from product se

Unanticipated events and circumstances may occiahwhay affect the accuracy or validity of suchumsptions, estimates or actual
results.

Valuation of Contingent Acquisition Considerationdyable

Each period we reassess the fair value of the mgeiit acquisition consideration payable associattitcertain acquisitions and record
increases in the fair value as contingent consitber@xpense and record decreases in the fair e w@ereduction of contingent consideration
expense. Increases or decreases in the fair vathe contingent acquisition consideration payaiale result from changes in estimated
probability adjustments with respect to regulatapproval, changes in the assumed timing of wheastahes are likely to
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be achieved and changes in assumed discount pamaddsates. Significant judgment is employed iredaining the appropriateness of these
assumptions each period. Accordingly, future bussrend economic conditions, as well as changeasyimfthe assumptions described in the
accounting for business combinations above canrialiyampact the amount of contingent considenatixpense that we record in any given
period.

Income Taxes

Our Consolidated Balance Sheets reflect net deféase assets that primarily represent the tax lieofehet operating loss carryforwards
and credits and timing differences between booktardecognition of certain revenue and expensesiaet of a valuation allowance. When it
is more likely than not that all or some portiordeferred tax assets may not be realized, we éstiablaluation allowance for the amount that
may not be realized. Each quarter, we evaluategled to retain all or a portion of the valuatiolowhnce on our net deferred tax assets. Our
evaluation considers historical earnings, estiméiade taxable income and ongoing prudent andlfEatax planning strategies. Adjustments
to the valuation allowance increase or decreasaoeme (loss) in the period such adjustments aéemif our estimates require adjustmen
could have a significant impact on our Consoliddathncial Statements.

We continually review the adequacy and necessith®f/aluation allowance. If it is more likely thaot that we would not realize the
deferred tax benefits, then all or a portion of thkiation allowance may need to be re-establisBadnges in tax laws and rates could also
affect recorded deferred tax assets in the fulddemagement is not aware of any such changes thalthtave a material effect on our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

Our long-lived assets include our investment inNBaoin/Genzyme LLC, londerm investments, property, plant and equipmetepigible
assets and goodwill. We regularly review Idivggd assets for impairment. The recoverabilityoaf debt and equity investments is measure
available external market data, including quotadgsron public exchanges and other relevant infoomalf the carrying amount of the asset is
not recoverable, an impairment loss is recordedhiferamount that the carrying value of the assetedks its fair value.

The recoverability of long-lived assets, other thaodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets angr dong-term investments is measured
by comparing the asset’s carrying amount to theeetqul undiscounted future cash flows that the assefpected to generate. Determining
whether an impairment has occurred typically resgiirarious estimates and assumptions, includireymé@iing which cash flows are directly
related to the potentially impaired asset, thewld#é over which cash flows will occur, their anmnat, and the asset’s residual value, if any. In
turn, measurement of an impairment loss requigst@rmination of fair value, which is based onfikst information available. We use intel
cash flow estimates, quoted market prices wheriaaiand independent appraisals as appropriatetegmine fair value. We derive the
required cash flow estimates from our historicaarience and our internal business plans and appappropriate discount rate.

The recoverability of the carrying value of builg8) leasehold improvements for our facilities agdigment will depend on the
successful execution of our business initiatived @ ability to earn sufficient returns on our epged products and product candidates. We
continually monitor events and changes in circumtsta that could indicate carrying amounts of axgdiassets may not be recoverable. Whe
such events or changes in circumstances occurssesa recoverability by determining whether theyoag value of such assets will be
recovered through the undiscounted expected fa@sh flows. If the future undiscounted cash floveslass than the carrying amount of these
assets, we recognize an impairment loss baseceasxttess of the carrying amount over the fair vafube assets. Based on management’s
current estimates, we expect to recover the cagiyatue of such assets.
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We have recorded intangible assets, primarily edlad IPR&D, and goodwill as part of our recogmitemnd measurement of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in conjunctiorhvaitir business combinations. Goodwill and intaregédsgsets determined to be indefinite-livec
assets are not amortized, but are required toviewed annually for impairment or more frequentlgvents and circumstances indicate tha
carrying value may not be recoverable. We perfoumamnual impairment test of indefinite-lived ingglnie assets in the fourth quarter of each
fiscal year and in between annual tests if we becaware of any events or changes in circumstahe¢svould indicate a reduction in the fair
value of the assets below their carrying valuesofiBecember 31, 2012, we had $63.7 million of firdee-lived assets related to IPR&D
projects acquired from our business combinations.patformed a qualitative assessment of eventsiatumstances that could affect the fair
value of our indefinite-lived intangible assetsr@asessment included consideration of variousfadhcluding costs associated with the
underlying development programs, expected futurenmees and cash flows, legal, regulatory and aghgty specific factors that may have a
significant impact on the inputs used to deternfizievalue of our indefinite-lived intangible asseBased on our qualitative assessment, we
determined that it is not more likely than not ttred fair value of our indefinite-lived intangibdessets is less than their carrying amounts at
December 31, 2012.

At December 31, 2012, the net book value of owarigible assets whose lives are considered finiteiiare was $99.3 million. These
intangible assets are related to marketing rightdNfiglazyme, Kuvan and Firdapse, which are beingrézed over their estimated useful lives
using the straight-line method. We review thesarigtble assets for impairment when facts or cir¢gantes indicate a reduction in the fair
value below their carrying amount.

As of December 31, 2012, we had goodwill of $51illien resulting from our business combinations. ¥erently operate in one
business segment, the biopharmaceutical developameintommercialization segment. When reviewing golbéor impairment, we assess
whether goodwill should be allocated to operatinels lower than our single operating segment tauckvdiscrete financial information is
available and reviewed for decision-making purpo$égse lower levels are referred to as reportimtsuCurrently, we have identified only
one reporting unit as per Financial Accounting 8tads Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codifica{iaSC) Topic 350-20intangibles—
Goodwill and Other We perform our annual impairment review of godtdiring the fourth quarter and whenever eventsimmumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset nuayoa recoverable. Our impairment review was based qualitative assessment including
expected future revenues and cash flows, indusigiynaarket considerations and other entity spefafitors that may have a significant impact
on the fair value of our goodwill. Based on our lgative assessment, we determined that it is nmtentikely than not that the fair value of our
goodwill is less than its carrying amount at Decenfi, 2012.

Revenue Recoghnitio

We recognize revenue in accordance with FASB ASKtcpics ASC 605-15Revenue Recognition—Produatsd ASC 605-25Revenue
Recognitio—Multiple-Element Arrangemen®ur revenues consist of net product revenues frmmmneercial products, revenues from our
collaborative agreement with Merck Serono and dibense and royalty revenues. Milestone paymemtsecognized in full when the related
milestone performance goal is achieved and we havature performance obligations related to tletrpent.

Net Product RevenuesWe recognize net product revenue when persuasidergce of an arrangement exists, the product bas b
delivered to the customer, title and risk of loasédnpassed to the customer, the price to the bsified or determinable and collection from
the customer is reasonably assured. Product salesattions are evidenced by customer purchasespalestomer contracts, invoices and/or
the related shipping documents. Amounts colleatech fcustomers and remitted to governmental autheyitvhich are primarily comprised of
value-added taxes related to Naglazyme and Firdsgdes in foreign jurisdictions, are presented oetebasis in our Consolidated Statements
of Operations, in that taxes billed to customeesrat included as a component of net product rex&nu
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We receive a 39.5% to 50% royalty on worldwide Alelurazyme sales by Genzyme depending on salesnglwhich is included in net
product revenues in the Consolidated StatemerBpefations. We recognize a portion of this amouargraduct transfer revenue when the
product is released to Genzyme because all of etdioppmance obligations are fulfilled at that paand title to, and risk of loss for, the product
has transferred to Genzyme. The product transtemntge represents the fixed amount per unit of Addyme that Genzyme is required to pay
us if the product is unsold by Genzyme. The amo@iproduct transfer revenue will eventually be dedd from the calculated royalty rate
when the product is sold by Genzyme. We recordMbarazyme royalty revenue based on net salesnmdtion provided by Genzyme and
record product transfer revenue based on thelfu#iit of Genzyme purchase orders in accordancethatierms of the related agreements
Genzyme and when the title and risk of loss forgrauct is transferred to Genzyme. As of Decen3lie2012 and 2011, accounts receivable
included $32.4 million and $31.0 million, respeetiy, of unbilled accounts receivable related toinetemental Aldurazyme product transfers
to Genzyme.

We sell Naglazyme worldwide, Kuvan in the U.S. &ahada and Firdapse in the EU. In the U.S., Naglazgnd Kuvan are generally
sold to specialty pharmacies or end-users, sutiogmitals, which act as retailers. We also selldéuto Merck Serono at a price near its
manufacturing cost, and Merck Serono resells tbdymst to end users outside the U.S., Canada aroh Jape royalty earned from Kuvan
product sold by Merck Serono in the EU is includsdh component of net product revenues in the ghedoned and approximates four percen
Outside the U.S., Naglazyme and Firdapse are eaddrt authorized distributors or directly to goweent purchasers or hospitals, which act ac
the end-users. We record reserves for rebates leayatler Medicaid and other government progranssrasluction of revenue at the time
product revenues are recorded. Our reserve cadlmugatequire estimates, including estimates ofaust mix, to determine which sales will be
subject to rebates and the amount of such rebBAtesipdate our estimates and assumptions each qaadeecord any necessary adjustments
to our reserves. We record fees paid to distrilsuasra reduction of revenue.

We record allowances for product returns, if appiedp, as a reduction of revenue at the time prbsiales are recorded. Several factors
are considered in determining whether an allowdocproduct returns is required, including marketlasivity of the products based on their
orphan drug status, the patient population, théoowsrs’ limited return rights and our experiencéhweturns. Because of the pricing of our
products, the limited number of patients and custshtimited return rights, most Naglazyme, Kuvan andi&pse customers and retailers ¢
a limited inventory. However, certain internationaktomers, usually government entities, tend tahmase larger quantities of product less
frequently. Although such buying patterns may resutevenue fluctuations from quarter to quanez,have not experienced an increase in
product returns and do not believe these buyingepet increase the risk of product returns. We oalistorical return rates to estimate return
for our commercial products. Genzyme’s contractalrn rights for Aldurazyme are limited to defeetproduct. Based on these factors and
the fact that we have not experienced significaatipct returns to date, management has conclu@ggtboduct returns will be minimal. In the
future, if any of these factors and/or the histofproduct returns changes, an allowance for prodktarns may be required.
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The nature and amount of our current estimateseofpplicable revenue dilution items that are culyeapplied to aggregate world-wide
gross sales of Naglazyme, Kuvan and Firdapse igeleet sales are described in the table below.

Percentage of Gross Sale

Revenue Dilution Item Years Ended December 31, Description
2012 2011
Rebates 0.95.(% 0.9-3.2% Rebates payable to state Medicaid, other governpregrams and certain
managed care provide
Distributor Fee: 0.2-3.&% 0.2-2.5% Fees paid to authorized distribut
Cash Discount 0.5-1.€% 0.5-1.% Discounts offered to customers for prompt paymémtcoounts receivabl
Total 1.7% 1.78.C%
10.7

We maintain a policy to record allowances for déwitdaccounts for estimated losses resulting fromaustomers’ inability to make
required payments. As of December 31, 2012, oonalhce for doubtful accounts was $0.3 million, canegl to $0.5 million as of
December 31, 2011.

Royalty and license revenuesRoyalty and license revenues includes royaltieaetrsales of products with which we have no direct
involvement and is recognized based on data repbstdicensees or sublicensees. Royalties are népadjas earned in accordance with the
contract terms when the royalty amount is fixedl@erminable based on information received fronstitdicensee and when collectibility is
reasonably assured.

Due to the significant role we play in the openasi@f Aldurazyme and Kuvan, primarily the manufaicty and regulatory activities, as
well as the rights and responsibilities to delither products to Genzyme and Merck Serono, resgdgtiwe elected not to classify the
Aldurazyme and Kuvan royalties earned as otherltpyavenues and instead to include them as a caemg®f net product revenues.

Inventory

We value our inventories at the lower of cost drrealizable value. We determine the cost of inegntising the average-cost method.
We analyze our inventory levels quarterly and wdidevn inventory that has become obsolete, or lestbasis in excess of its expected net
realizable value and inventory quantities in exeadssxpected requirements. Expired inventory ipdsed of and the related costs are
recognized as cost of sales on the ConsolidatadrBSémts of Operations.

Inventories consist of currently marketed prodaetd certain products awaiting regulatory approvaévaluating the recoverability of
inventories produced in preparation for produchtzhes, we consider the likelihood that revenue lvélbbtained from the future sale of the
related inventory together with the status of thedpct within the regulatory approval process. Whegulatory approval and the likelihood of
future revenues for a product candidate are legaingthe related manufacturing costs expensedse&arch and development expenses.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

See Note 4 to our accompanying Consolidated FiaaStatements for a full description of recent arting pronouncements and our
expectation of their impact on our consolidatediitssof operations and financial condition.

48



Table of Contents

Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial @dition and Results of Operations — (Continued)

Results of Operations
Net Income (Loss

Our net loss for the year December 31, 2012 wad 8lrillion, compared to net loss of $53.8 milliimn the year ended December 31,
2011. The increase in net loss was primarily alteguhe following (in millions):

Net loss for the year ended December 31, ? $ (63.9)
Increased gross profit from product se 51.C
Increased research and development exg (87.9)
Increased selling, general and administrative esg (22.7)
Increased intangible asset amortization and coatingonsideration

expense (20.6)
Impairment loss on intangible ass (6.7)
Decreased income tax expel 14.1
Loss on conversion of promissory ni (2.0
Absence of debt conversion expel 1.8
Other individually insignificant fluctuatior 2.3

Net loss for the year ended December 31, - $(114.9)

The increase in gross profit from product salesnduthe year ended December 31, 2012 as compatée teear ended December 31,
2011 was primarily a result of additional Naglazypaients initiating therapy and additional Kuvati@nts initiating therapy in the U.S. The
increase in research and development expense waarily attributed to increased development expsriseour Vimizim, BMN-701, BMN-
673 and PEG-PAL programs. The increase in selipgeral and administrative expense was primarigytduncreased facility and employee
related costs and the continued international esiparof Naglazyme.

Our net loss for the year ended December 31, 2@KEI$53.8 million, compared to net income of $206ilion for the year ended
December 31, 2010. The change in net income (l@as)primarily a result of the following (in millic:

Net income for the year ended December 31, : $ 205.¢
Absence of benefit from the reversal of deferredasset valuation
allowance (230.¢)
Increased gross profit from product sz 54.Z
Increased research and development exg (67.7)
Increased selling, general and administrative esg (23.7)
Decreased intangible asset amortization and caenitngpnsideration
expense 5.C
Decreased debt conversion expe 11.¢€
Increased income tax expense, excluding valuatiowance reverse (6.9
Other individually insignificant fluctuatior (2.9
Net loss for the year ended December 31, - $ (53.9

The increase in gross profit from product salesnguthe year ended December 31, 2011 as compatbé tear ended December 31,
2010 was primarily a result of additional Naglazypagients initiating therapy, additional Kuvan pats initiating therapy in the U.S. and
increased Firdapse sales in Europe. The increasséarch and development expense was primaniligugttd to increased development
expenses for our Vimizim,
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PEG-PAL, Firdapse, BMN-701 and BMN-673 programse Tiicrease in selling, general and administratigease was primarily due to
increased facility and employee related costs,icoatl international expansion of Naglazyme, U.$am@rcialization activities related to
Kuvan, the commercialization of Firdapse in Eurapd increased bad debt expense.

See below for additional information related to gnenary net income/(loss) fluctuations presenteova, including details of our
operating expense fluctuations.

Net Product Revenues, Cost of Sales and Gross P
Net product revenues were as follows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 2012 v. 201 2011 v. 201
Naglazyme $257.( $224.¢ $192.7 $ 321 $ 322
Kuvan 143.1 116.¢ 99.£ 26.2 17.4
Firdapse 14.2 13.1 6.4 1.1 6.7
Aldurazyme 82.2 82.¢ 71.2 (0.6 11.€

Total net product revenu: $496.5 $437.¢ $369.% $ 58¢ $ 67.¢

Gross profit by product was as follows (in milligns

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 2012 v. 201 2011 v 201
Naglazyme $218.t $186.¢ $158.2 $ 31.¢ $ 28.¢
Kuvan 118.¢ 98.1 82.7 20.¢ 15.4
Firdapse 11.4 10.¢ 5.C 0.€ 5.8
Aldurazyme 55.¢ 57.¢ 53.4 (2.0 4.4

Total gross profi $404.¢ $353.€ $299.4 $ 51.C $ b54.2

Net product revenues attributed to our collaboratiith Genzyme were as follows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 2012 v. 201 2011 v. 201
Aldurazyme revenue reported by Genzyme $193.1 $185.2 $166.¢ $ 7 $ 184
Royalties earned from Genzyr $ 80.4 $ 742 $ 68.C $ 6.2 $ 6.2
Incremental (previously recognized) Aldurazyme mctdransfer
revenue 1.6 8.€ 3.2 (6.9 5.4
Total Aldurazyme net product revent $ 82.2 $ 82.¢ $ 712 $ (0.6 $ 11

2012 compared to 2011

Naglazyme net product revenues for the year endexber 31, 2012 totaled $257.0 million, of whi@2%8 million was earned from
customers based outside the U.S. The impact oigio@irrency exchange rates on Naglazyme salesyiaated in currencies other than the
U.S. dollar was negative by $0.9 million for theayended December 31, 2012. Naglazyme gross mamgtsl2 were 85%, compared to 2(
when Naglazyme gross margins were 83%.The incredagthzyme gross margins in 2012 were consistetht @ipectations and primarily a
result of our purchase of the Naglazyme royalthtsgrom SA Pathology in
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November 2011 and the price increase in the U.&Latin America that occurred in March 2012. Ptmthe purchase of the royalty rights,
licensed the intellectual property from SA Pathgltg whom we paid a 5% royalty on net sales of Hagine. For additional discussion of the
transaction see Note 6 to the Consolidated FinhBtigements.

Net product revenue for Kuvan for the year endedeber 31, 2012 was $143.1 million, compared t®6$L iillion for the year ended
December 31, 2011. Kuvan gross margins for 201288%, compared to 2011 when gross margins were 84%i of goods sold for the
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 reflecities/paid to thir-parties of 10%. Kuvan gross margins in 2012 werssistent with
expectations and are not expected to fluctuatefigigntly in the future. The 4% royalties earnednfr Merck Serono’s net sales of Kuvan
during 2012 were $1.9 million, compared to $1.6ionl during 2011.

The Hatch Waxman Act permits the FDA to approverablated new drug applications, (ANDA), for generersions of branded drugs.
See Part I. Item 1 “Business Government Regulationtletails related to the Hatch-Waxman Act. Parduo the Hatch-Waxman Act, other
companies were able to file an ANDA for the aclivgredient in Kuvan at any time after December 20fl& generic competitor were to enter
the market following the expiration of orphan exility it would have an adverse effect on our safesuvan.

Net product revenue for Firdapse during the yededrDecember 31, 2012 was $14.2 million, compareil 8.1 million during the year
ended December 31, 2011. Firdapse gross margiimgd2012 were 80%, compared to the 82% during 2Gbst of goods sold for the periods
presented reflect royalties paid to third-partitagproximately 8%. Firdapse gross margins foryiar ended December 31, 2012 decreased
compared to the year ended December 31, 2011 doerased manufacturing costs and the depletiamvehtory manufactured prior to
approval. Firdapse gross margins during 2012 wensistent with expectations and are not expectélddtuate significantly in the future.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, Aldurazgross margins were 68%, compared to 70% duringehe ended December 31,
2011. Aldurazyme gross margins reflect the prafihed on royalty revenue and net incremental pioasfer revenue. The change in
margins is attributed to the shift in revenue mitvieeen royalty revenue and net product transfeemees. Aldurazyme gross margins are
expected to fluctuate depending on the mix of nyyadvenue, from which we earn higher gross prafit] product transfer revenue, from wt
we earn lower gross profit.

Total cost of sales for the year ended Decembe?@®12 was $91.8 million, compared to $84.0 millfonthe year ended December 31,
2011. The increase in cost of sales was primatitibated to the increase in product sales andathertization of the cost of the Naglazyme
royalty rights purchased in the fourth quarter @12 and the shift in Aldurazyme revenue mix betwesalty revenue and net product
revenues.

2011 compared to 2010

Naglazyme net product revenues for the year enagsember 31, 2011 totaled $224.9 million, of whidi®4.2 million was earned from
customers based outside the U.S. The impact oigiourrency exchange rates on Naglazyme saleswieated in currencies other than the
U.S. dollar was negative by $0.2 million for 20Gross margins from Naglazyme sales during 2011 &8%, compared to 82% during 2010.
Naglazyme gross margins for the year ended DeceB1h&2011 were consistent with expectations ane w&pected to improve slightly
2012 as a result of our purchase of the Naglazynedieéctual property from SA Pathology in NovemBed 1. Prior to the purchase, we
licensed the intellectual property from SA Pathglagd paid them a 5% royalty on net sales of Nagtez See Note 6 to our accompanying
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionsta$sion of the transaction.
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Net product revenue for Kuvan for the year endedeber 31, 2011 was $116.8 million, compared ta4@8llion for the year ended
December 31, 2010. Gross margins from Kuvan d2iil were approximately 84%, compared to 83% dw2dif). The increase in gross
margins was primarily attributed to price increaaethe end of 2010. Cost of goods sold for thegyeaded December 31, 2011 and 2010
reflect royalties paid to third parties of 10% dridb, respectively. The 4% royalties from Merck ®@rs net sales of Kuvan during 2011 were
$1.6 million, compared to $0.9 million in 2010. Karvgross margins for the year ended December 31, ®@re consistent with expectations.

We launched Firdapse in Europe on a country-by-tgurasis beginning in April 2010. Net product reue for Firdapse for the year
ended December 31, 2011 was $13.1 million, compiar&é.4 million for the year ended December 31,R@ross margins from Firdapse
during 2011 were 82% compared to 79% during 2008t 6f goods sold for the years ended Decembe2@ll1 and 2010 reflect royalties pi
to third parties of approximately 8%.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, Aldurazyraes margins were 70%, compared to the year ebdedmber 31, 2010 when
gross margins were 75%. Aldurazyme gross margifectehe profit earned on royalty revenue andinetemental product transfer revenue.
The change in margins is attributed to the shifewvenue mix between royalty revenue and net pitagacsfer revenues. Aldurazyme gross
margins are expected to fluctuate depending omikeof royalty revenue, from which we earn higheogs profit, and product transfer rever
from which we earn lower gross profit.

Total cost of sales for the year ended Decembe2@®11 was $84.0 million, compared to $70.3 millfonthe year ended December 31,
2010. The increase in cost of sales during 201 1pewed to 2010 was primarily attributed to the iasein product sales and the shift in
Aldurazyme revenue mix between royalty revenuerstdroduct revenues.

Research and Developme

We manage our Research and development expenderitifying the research and development activitiesanticipate will be perform
during a given period and then prioritize efforéséd on scientific data, probability of succesd@uelopment, market potential, available
human and capital resources and other similar deredions. We continually review our pipeline ahd tlevelopment status of product
candidates, and as necessary, reallocate resameg) the research and development portfolio tleabelieve will best support the future
growth of our business.
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Research and development expense increased td2$80on for the year ended December 31, 2012nf&214.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2011. The increase in reseadctievelopment expense was primarily a result®faliowing (in millions):

Research and development expense for the year ®&wtssmber 31, 201 $214.4
Increased Vimizim development expen 42.F
Increased BMI-701 development expens 14.1
Increased BMI-190 development expens 9.¢
Increased BMI-673 development expens 4.C
Increased stock-based compensation expense rétateskearch and

developmen 4.4
Decreased development expense related to commproiicts (1.6
Decreased BM-111 development expens (1.5
Decreased PE-PAL development expens (2.0
Decreased development expenses on early develofztagiet program (0.7)
Increase in non-allocated research and developexgeinses and other r

change: 17.7

Research and development expense for the year &wtsamber 31, 201 $302.2

The increase in Vimizim development expenses wapatied to increased clinical trial and manufaictgractivities related to the product
candidate. The increase in BMN-673 and BMN-701 tgment expenses were attributed to increasectalitiiial activities related to these
product candidates. The increase in BMN-190 devetg expense was attributed to increased pre-alinitivities related to this product
candidate. The decrease in PEG-PAL developmentesepeas attributed to the timing of purchases denads to produce the drug substance
for the clinical trial. The decrease in BMN-111 dpment expense was attributed to a decreaseinlipical activities related to this product
candidate. The increase in stock-based compensatimense is a result of an increased number abrptiutstanding due to an increased
number of employees. The increase in non-allocagselarch and development expense primarily incluseeased research and development
personnel and facility costs that are not allocatesbecific programs.

In 2013, we expect research and development spgtalimcrease over 2012 levels due to our VimizdG-PAL, BMN-673, BMN701,
BMN-111 and BMN-190 programs progressing to moneaaded phases of clinical studies as well as ise@apending on pre-clinical and
clinical activities for our early development stagegrams. Additionally, we expect to continue imng significant research and development
expense for the foreseeable future due to long-tdinital activities related to post-approval regfoly commitments for our approved
products. We continuously evaluate the recovetstofi costs associated with prelaunch manufactuaictgyities, and if it is determined that
regulatory approval and recoverability are higlikglly and therefore future revenues are expechedcosts related to prelaunch manufacturing
activities may be capitalized. When regulatory appf and the likelihood of future revenues for adarct candidate are less certain, the relate
manufacturing costs expensed as research and gevethb expenses.
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Research and development expense increased toA$2idon for the year ended December 31, 2011nf&l47.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010. The increase in reseadctievelopment expense was primarily a result@faliowing (in millions):

Research and development expense for the year ®&wtssmber 31, 201 $147.%
Increased Vimizim development expen 26.4
Increased BMI-701 development expens 15.C
Increased PE-PAL development expens 11.5
Increased BMI-111 development expens 11.5
Increased ongoing development expenses relateaimmercial product 2.8
Increased stock-based compensation expense rétateskearch and

developmen 2.€
Decreased BMN-195 for Duchenne muscular dystrogwekbpment
expense: (3.9
Decreased BM-673 development expens (0.9
Increase in non-allocated research and developexgreinses and other net
change: 1.8
Research and development expense for the year &wtssmber 31, 201 $214.¢

The increase in Vimizim, PEG-PAL, BMN-673 and BMN47development expenses were attributed to incdezlsgcal trial activities
related to these product candidates. The incre@assearch and development expenses related to eaiafrproducts was primarily attributed
to long-term Firdapse clinical activities relatedobst-approval regulatory commitments in the Eble @ecrease in development expense
related to BMN-195 was attributed to the termin@tid our license agreement with Summit plc in OetaP010. The increase in stock-based
compensation expense was a result of an increasaer of options outstanding due to an increaseabeu of employees. The increase in
non-allocated research and development expenseaulsiimcluded increased research and developmensopnel costs that were not allocated
to specific programs.

Selling, General and Administrativ

Selling, general and administrative expense inet#s $198.2 million for the year ended December2812, from $175.4 million for tr
year ended December 31, 2011. The increase ingefeneral and administrative expenses was pilyraresult of the following (in millions

Selling, general and administrative expense forytae ended December

31, 2011 $175.4
Net increase in corporate support and other adtréiige expense 16.C
Increased sales and marketing expenses relatesmimercial product 6.2
Increased Vimizim prcommercial expense 2.8
Increased foreign exchange losses on unhedgecttaomss (2.9

Selling, general and administrative expense fory/ta ended
December 31, 201 $198.2
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The increase in corporate support and other adtratiiee costs was primarily comprised of increasatployee-related costs and facility
costs. The increase in employee-related costs viaaily attributed to the increase in headcouthie Thcrease in facility costs was primarily
driven by the occupation of our new corporate headgrs in San Rafael, California. We continuenttur sales and marketing expense for
Naglazyme and Kuvan as a result of continued expars our international and U.S. activities, respeely. We expect selling, general a
administrative expenses to increase in future deras a result of the international expansion afl&lgyme, the U.S. commercialization
activities for Kuvan and the administrative suppdfrbur expanding operations.

Selling, general and administrative expense ine@&s $175.4 million for the year ended December2811, from $151.7 million for tt
year ended December 31, 2010. The increase ingefieneral and administrative expenses was piyraresult of the following (in millions

Selling, general and administrative expense forytres ended December 31,

2010 $151.%
Net increase in corporate overhead and other adtrative expense 12.4
Increased sales and marketing expenses relatennimercial product 8.4
Increased foreign exchange loss on unhedged triémss 1.6
Increased Vimizim pr-commercial expens 1.7
Increased bad debt expet 1.1
Absence of transaction costs related to the adoprisof ZyStor

Therapeutics, Inc (ZySto (1.9
Selling, general and administrative expense folytar ended December 31,
2011 $175.4

We continue to incur sales and marketing expensidglazyme and Kuvan as a result of continued esipa of our international and
U.S. activities, respectively, and spending relatethe European commercialization of Firdapse cwhéunched in the EU in April 2010. The
increase in corporate overhead and other admitiistreosts during 2011 was primarily comprisedrafreased employee related costs, legal
costs, accounting costs and facility costs.

Intangible Asset Amortization and Contingent Consition

Intangible asset amortization and contingent casaiibn expense is comprised of amortization oBhepean marketing rights for
Firdapse, changes in the fair value of contingeguasition consideration payable to former stockeo$ of our acquired businesses and
impairment loss (if any) on intangible assets. Gfeann the fair value of contingent acquisition sideration payable result from updates to th
assumed probability of achievement or timing ofastibnes and adjustments to the discount periodsadesl Intangible asset amortization and
contingent consideration expense consisted ofal@ing (in millions):

Year Ended December 31 Change
2012 2011 2010 2012 v. 201 2011 v 201
Amortization of Firdapse European marketing rights $ 3.2 $ 3.2 2.4 $ 0 $ 0.8
Impairment loss on intangible ass 6.7 0 0 6.7 0
Changes in the fair value of contingent acquisittonsideration
payable 8.8 (1.8 _4c 10.€ (5.9
Total intangible asset amortization and contingemtsideratior $ 18.7 $ 14 $6.4 $ 178 $ (5.0
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In the first quarter of 2012, we recorded an impaint charge of $6.7 million related to the U.Sd&pse in-process research and
development (IPR&D) assets based on the statussihéss development efforts at the time and trega@ldiscounted cash flows that no lor
supported the carrying-value of the IPR&D assefe IPR&D assets impaired were associated with taeketing rights for Firdapse in the
U.S. The increase in the fair value of the contmgequisition consideration payable was primaatlyibuted to increases in the assumed
probability of achieving development milestonesdubgn the current status of the related developpregframs.

The 2011 increase in the amortization of the Fisgalpuropean marketing rights was attributed tdithimg of the European commercial
launch of Firdapse which occurred in April 2010.

See Note 6 to our accompanying Consolidated FiaaBtatements for additional discussion.

Equity in the Loss of BioMarin/Genzyme LL!

Equity in the loss of BioMarin/Genzyme LLC includesr 50% share of the joint venture’s loss forpleeiod. BioMarin/Genzyme LLC’s
operations consist primarily of certain researcth davelopment activities and the intellectual propthat are managed by the joint venture,
with costs shared equally by BioMarin and Genzyme.

Equity in the loss of the joint venture totaledZnillion for the year ended December 31, 2012 canegh to $2.4 million and $3.0 millic
for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 201fecteely.

Interest Income

We invest our cash, short-term and long-term irmests in government and other high credit quakiyusities in order to limit default
and market risk. Interest income totaled $2.6 onillfor the year ended December 31, 2012, compar$d.9 million and $4.1 million for the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respgcfied reduction in interest income during 2012¢@spared to 2011 and 2010 v
primarily due to lower market interest rates. Wpent that interest income will increase during 2883ompared to 2012 due to higher cash
and investment balances resulting from the netgeds received from the sale of 6.5 million shafemio common stock in June 2012.

Interest Expense and Debt Conversion Expel

We incur interest expense on our convertible dabtaur capital leases. Interest expense for thegmded December 31, 2012 was $7.6
million, compared to $8.4 million and $10.8 millifor the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2040ecévely. The decrease in interest
expense was attributed to the early conversior28fZmillion and $119.6 million in aggregate pripedi of our 2013 Notes in September 2011
and November 2010, respectively. In connection withearly conversion of the 2013 Notes, we recghdebt conversion expense of $1.9
million and $13.7 million in 2011 and 2010, respesly. We expect interest expense to decrease 18,2bmpared to 2012 as our senior
subordinated convertible notes mature in March 2@E#& Note 11 to our accompanying Consolidatedn€inhStatements for additional
discussion.

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxe

During the year ended December 31, 2012 we recedran income tax benefit of $3.9 million, compat@dn income tax expense of
$10.2 million and an income tax benefit of $227 iBiom for the years ended December 31, 2011 arid26espectively. The provision for
(benefit from) income taxes for 2012 and 2011 cstesl of state, federal and foreign current tax expef $6.0 million and $5.8 million,
respectively. The provision for (benefit from) imse taxes also consisted of deferred tax expenatedeto the utilization of our
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federal net operating loss carryforwards and aiquof our credit carryforwards which were offsgtdeferred tax benefits from federal orphar
drug credits and California R&D credits of $32.6lion and $19.2 million earned during 2012 and 20&&pectively. The benefit from income
tax during 2010 consisted of foreign and stateenirtax expense and deferred tax benefit relatduetoelease of $230.6 million of our
valuation allowance during 2010. See Note 19 toamgompanying Consolidated Financial Statementadditional discussion of the
components of our provision for (benefit from) inw® taxes.

The consolidated U.S. GAAP loss includes all of faueign subsidiaries. In accordance with ASC 146pme Taxesye calculate our
provision for (benefit from) income taxes on anitgrby-entity and jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basas adjusted for differences between book-
basis income and tax-basis income, which resulteitain foreign entities being profitable and imog foreign current income tax expense.
Certain foreign entities incur significant amouatsesearch and development expense that resudtgnificant losses that more than offset the
income reported by the profitable foreign entitesa consolidated basis. The majority of these nahteesearch and development losses are i
foreign jurisdictions that do not have net opeigtoss carryforward provisions that result in deddrtax assets, which results in an effective
rate of 0% on approximately $168.0 million of f@einet losses. Other foreign operations generat8d GIAAP income of approximately $5.0
million with an effective tax rate of approximate&3§%.

Financial Position, Liquidity and Capital Resources

We expect to fund our operations with our net pobdevenues from our commercial products, cash egsivalents, short-term and
long-term investments supplemented by proceeds &muity or debt financings and loans or collabemtigreements with corporate partners,
each to the extent necessary. We expect our curasht cash equivalents and short-term and ferg-investments will meet our operating
capital requirements for at least the next twehamths based on our current business plans. Thiscéeqion could also change depending on
how much we elect to spend on our development progrand for potential licenses and acquisitionsoaiplementary technologies, products
and companies. In June 2012, we sold 6.5 milli@areshof our common stock at a price of $36.28 paresin an underwritten public offering
pursuant to an effective registration statement.rgé¢eived net cash proceeds of $235.5 million fthenpublic offering. We will be highly
dependent on our net product revenue to suppleocwerdurrent liquidity and fund our operations foe foreseeable future. We may in the
future elect to supplement this with further debéequity offerings or commercial borrowing.

We consider the unrepatriated cumulative earnifigeiain of our foreign subsidiaries to be invdstalefinitely outside the U.S. As of
December 31, 2012, $17.1 million of our $566.7 imillbalance of cash, cash equivalents, and marketaburities was from foreign
subsidiary operations and is intended to fund &ifareign operations. In managing our liquidity deé the U.S., we do not rely on the
unrepatriated earnings as a source of funds arttbwee not provided for U.S. federal or state incdaxes on these undistributed foreign
earnings.

We are mindful that conditions in the current macanomic environment could affect our ability tdigwe our goals. Some of the
factors that could affect our business includeufichanges to healthcare reform in the U.S., &ragation or worsening of global economic
conditions, patent expirations of competitive praduand the launch of generic competitors, contirgmvernment pricing pressures
internationally and the potential volatility in fign currency exchange rates. We will continue tmitor these conditions and will adjust our
business processes, as appropriate, to mitigage tieks to our business.
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Our financial condition as of each year ended Ddxar81 was as follows (in millions):

2012 2011 2010 2012 v. 201 2011 v. 201
Cash and cash equivalents $180.5 $ 46.: $ 88.1 $ 134.: $ (419
Shor-term investment 270.2 148.¢ 186.( 121.¢ (37.2)
Long-term investment 116.( 94.4 128.2 21.€ (33.9)
Cash, cash equivalents and investm $566.1 $289.f $402.: $ 277 $ (1129
Current assel $743.5 $469.¢ $504.: $ 273 (34.%)
Current liabilities 170.¢ 94.1 83.¢ 76.3 10.2
Working capital $573.1 $375. $420.5 $ 197.¢ $ (449
Convertible deb $348.2 $348.: $377.5 $ (0.9 $ (29.9

Our cash flows for each of the years ended DeceBibés summarized as follows (in millions):

2012 2011 2010 2012 v. 201 2011 v. 201

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning oferieg $ 46.C $ 88.1 $167.2 $ (419 $ (79.)
Net cash provided by operating activit 17.€ 18.¢ 18.7 (1.2 0.1
Net cash used in investing activiti (195.6) (89.6€ (201.9 (206.0 11.5
Net cash provided by financing activiti 312.2 29.C 3.5 283.2 25.5
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the p $180.t $ 46.2 $ 88.1 $ 134.: $ (419
Shor-term and lon-term investment 386.2 243.2 314.2 143.( (71.0
Cash, cash equivalents and investm $ 566.7 $289.f $ 402.: $ 277 $ (112.9)

Cash, cash equivalents and investments

The increase in cash, cash equivalents and investrite2012 from December 31, 2011 was primarilsitatted to the net proceeds of
$235.5 million from our public offering of our conum stock in June 2012, proceeds from employee stoathases under the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (ESPP) and employee stock optiogisgsrof $81.4 million.

The decrease in cash, cash equivalents and invetstine2011 from December 31, 2010 was primarilsitaited to the $49.7 million of
cash used in the purchase of the Shanbally faaifity the $81.0 million purchase of the Naglazyntellectual property (Naglazyme IP),
partially offset by proceeds from employee stockchases under the ESPP and employee stock optanigas of $33.6 million.

Working Capital

Working capital was $573.1 million at December 3012, an increase of $197.4 million from workingital of $375.7 million at
December 31, 2011. The increase in working capited attributed to the following:

Working capital at December 31, 20 $375.7
Increased cash, cash equivalents and -term investment 255.¢
Increased current deferred tax as: 8.3
Increased accounts payable and accrued liabi (52.9
Reclassification of 2013 Notes from I¢-term convertible det (23.9)
Net increase in other current operating as 9.8

Working capital at December 31, 20 $573.1
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The increase in cash, cash equivalents and shartitwestments resulted from net proceeds of $288llfon from the public offering of
our common stock in June 2012. The increase irr @ilreent assets is primarily attributed to the@ases in prepaid expenses, current deferre
tax assets and short-term restricted investmehis r@stricted investments secure our irrevocabled$ly letter of credit obtained in connection
with our new corporate facility lease agreements @artain other commercial arrangements. The ¢ieaon of the 2013 Notes as a current
liability from long-term convertible debt was duwetheir maturity in March 2013.

Our product sales to government-owned or governtfuetited customers in certain Southern Europeantdesnincluding Greece,
Spain, Italy and Portugal are subject to paymentdghat are imposed by government authority. Beedlnese customers are government-
owned or government-funded, we may be impactedeaiirtes in sovereign credit ratings or sovereigiaulés in these countries. A significant
or further decline in sovereign credit ratings atedault in Greece, or in other Southern Europeamtries, may decrease the likelihood that wi
will collect accounts receivable or may increasediscount rates and the length of time until neatiglies are collected, which could result in a
negative impact to our operating results. Histdiyoae have not experienced a significant levelin€ollected receivables and have received
continued payments from our more aged accountsh&leve that the allowances for doubtful accouatdtiese countries are adequate based
on our analysis of the specific business circuntgarand expectations of collection for each ofuth@erlying accounts in these countries. A
December 31, 2012, approximately 8% of our outstendccounts receivable relate to such countries.ote 18 of our accompanying
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionstagsion.

Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities for the yeradled December 31, 2012 was $17.6 million, comp@redsh provided by operating
activities of $18.8 million for the year ended Dexd®er 31, 2011. The decrease in cash provided bratipg activities was primarily related to
increased research and development expense that tth® increase in our net loss of $114.3 milladjusted for non-cash items such as $45.:
million of depreciation and amortization expen$s,.3 million of stock-based compensation expe$84, million of impairment loss on
intangible assets, $8.8 million decrease in theviaiue of contingent acquisition considerationadag, $9.9 million decrease in deferred
income taxes, $6.5 million of unrealized foreigrlexnge gain on forward foreign currency exchangeraots and $33.1 million of net cash
inflow related to changes in operating assets mhdlities.

Cash provided by operating activities of $18.8 imillfor the year ended December 31, 2011 primaeiigted to net loss of $53.8 million,
adjusted for non-cash items such as $36.1 millfagtepreciation and amortization expenses, $43.Bamibf stock-based compensation
expense, $4.4 million of deferred income taxes®h@& million of unrealized foreign exchange gaindarward foreign currency exchange
contracts and $25.1 million of net cash outflowlatel to changes in operating assets and liaiilitie

Cash Used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities during tharyended December 31, 2012 was $195.6 million, @vetpto net cash used in investing
activities of $89.6 million and $101.3 million ftire years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, resgecOur investing activities have
consisted primarily of purchases and sales andritiatuof investments and capital expenditures. iflceease in net cash used in investing for
the year ended December 31, 2012 was primarily ciseghof a $210.9 million increase in net purchagfesvailable-for-sale investments,
offset by a $81.0 million decrease in purchaseateflectual property and a $28.6 million decremseapital expenditures. The decrease in net
cash used in investing activities for the year
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ended December 31, 2011 compared to the year éwleember 31, 2010 was primarily due to increasedalaxpenditures of $23.8 million
and lower spending on business acquisitions ofts88llion, partially offset by the $81.0 million pchase of Naglazyme IP and increased net
settlements of investment securities of $81.9 amillin 2011, capital expenditures were primarilynpoised of our purchase of the Shanbally
facility for a total purchase price of $49.7 mihio

Cash Provided by Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities for treay ended December 31, 2012 was $312.2 millionpaped to net cash provided by
financing activities of $29.0 million and $3.5 vl for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 28%pectively. Historically, our financing
activities primarily included payments related to oontingent acquisition obligations, paymentsatesd to our convertible debt obligations and
proceeds from employee stock purchases under tR® B8d employee stock option exercises. The inelieaset cash provided by financing
activities for the year ended December 31 2012, iasarily attributed to the June 2012 public oiffigrof our common stock which generated
net cash proceeds of $235.5 million, an increas1@f8 million in proceeds from the ESPP and enmgsostock option exercises, a $2.2 mill
decrease in debt conversion expense, offset bysanilion decrease in payments of contingent agitjah consideration. The increase in net
cash provided by financing activities for the yeaded December 31, 2011, was primarily attribubetth¢ decrease in payments of contingent
acquisition consideration of $14.0 million and lavirduced debt conversion payments of $11.9 mill®ee Notes 11 and 13 to our
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statementadditional discussion regarding our convertibletaetd the June 2012 public offering of
our common stock, respectively.

Other Information

In March 2006, we sold approximately $172.5 millmfrsenior subordinated convertible notes due Ma@18 (the 2013 Notes) of which
$23.4 million remains outstanding at December 81,22 The debt was issued at face value and beargsh at the rate of 2.5% per annum,
payable semi-annually in cash. The debt does miagoa call provision included and we are unablertilaterally redeem the remaining debt
prior to maturity in 2013. The remaining $23.4 ioifl of the 2013 Notes is convertible, at the optibthe holder, at any time prior to maturity,
into shares of our common stock at a conversiaref approximately $16.58 per share, subject jostiient in certain circumstances.
However, we must repay the remaining debt prion&turity if there is a qualifying change in contosltermination of trading of our common
stock. If a change of control occurs, we will papnake whole premium by increasing the conversitm applicable to the notes.

In April 2007, we sold approximately $324.9 milliof senior subordinated convertible notes due AB17 (the 2017 Notes). The debt
was issued at face value and bears interest aath®f 1.875% per annum, payable semi-annualbash. The debt is convertible, at the option
of the holder, at any time prior to maturity, irdleares of our common stock at a conversion pria@pfoximately $20.36 per share, subject to
adjustment in certain circumstances. Our debt doesontain a call provision and we are unablenitaterally redeem the debt prior to
maturity in 2017. We also must repay the debteféhis a qualifying change in control or terminataf trading of our common stock. If a
change of control occurs, we will pay a make whkmium by increasing the conversion rate appleabthe notes. See Note 11 to our
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statementadditional discussion.

Our $348.2 million of total convertible debt as¥cember 31, 2012 will impact our liquidity duethe semi-annual cash interest
payments and will impact our liquidity if the holdedo not convert on or prior to the scheduled yepnts of the debt. Further, depending on
market conditions, our financial position and periance and other factors, we may in the future sbdo use a portion of our cash or cash
equivalents to repurchase our convertible debtlwerasecurities.
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On October 23, 2009, we acquired Huxley Pharmaca&lstinc. (Huxley), which has rights to Firdapseddotal purchase price of $37.2
million, of which $15.0 million was paid in cashchi22.2 million represented the acquisition datevialue of contingent acquisition
consideration payable. In connection with the asitjon, we agreed to pay the Huxley stockholdeditamhal consideration in future periods
up to $41.9 million (undiscounted) in milestone payts if certain annual sales, cumulative saled.hBd development milestones are met.
During 2011, 2010 and 2009 we made milestone patsyi$3.0 million, $6.5 million and $1.0 milliongspectively, related to the attainment
of development milestones.

On February 10, 2010, we acquired LEAD Therapeulies (LEAD), which had the key compound now reéerto as BMN-673, for a
total purchase price of $39.1 million, of which $.&nillion was paid in cash and $20.5 million regmeted the acquisition date fair value of
contingent acquisition consideration payable. Wd $8.0 million of the $18.6 million in cash duri@ecember 2009. In connection with the
acquisition, we agreed to pay the LEAD stockholdaiditional consideration in future periods of a$68.0 million (undiscounted) in
milestone payments if certain clinical, developmamd sales milestones are met. During 2012 and, 204 @aid the former LEAD stockhold:
$6.0 million and $11.0 million for the attainmetitaoclinical milestone and regulatory milestonesprectively.

On August 17, 2010, we acquired ZyStor, which teddompound now referred to as BMN-701, for a tptathase price of $35.9
million, of which $20.3 million was paid in cashda#$i15.6 million represented the acquisition datevialue of contingent acquisition
consideration payable. In connection with the asitjoh, we agreed to pay ZyStor stockholders adid#i consideration in future periods of up
to $93.0 million (undiscounted) in milestone paymsefcertain clinical, development and sales nidass are met.

On January 4, 2013, we acquired Zacharon Pharmeakstnc. (Zacharon), which focused on develognmall molecules targeting
pathways of glycan and glycolipid metabolism, forugpfront payment of $10.0 million, of which $1.7lian was held in escrow. In
connection with the acquisition, we agreed to peyZacharon stockholders additional consideratiduture periods of up to $134.0 million
(undiscounted) in milestone payments if certainicél, development and sales milestones are met.

Funding Commitments

We cannot estimate with certainty the cost to cetepany of our product development programs. Aolditily, except as disclosed under
“Overview” above, we cannot precisely estimate the time topteta any of our product development programs agmwilve expect to receive
net cash inflows from any of our product developtingrams. Please se®isk Factors' included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a
discussion of the reasons we are unable to estisnateinformation, and in particular the followirigk factors included in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K:

» if we fail to obtain or maintain regulatory apprdvwe commercially market and sell our drugs, oajifproval is delayed, we will be
unable to generate revenue from the sale of thesdupts, our potential for generating positive cdlglw will be diminished, and
the capital necessary to fund our operations wallibhcreased

« if we are unable to successfully develop and maintenufacturing processes for our drug productprioduce sufficient quantitie
at acceptable costs, we may be unable to meet dkfomour products and lose potential revenue, hadriced margins or be
forced to terminate a progran

» if we fail to compete successfully with respegirtmiuct sales, we may be unable to generate sifficiales to recover our expen
related to the development of a product progranogustify continued marketing of a product and cewenue could be adversely
affected; anc

» if we do not achieve our projected developmentgwathe timeframes we announce and expect, theneotialization of our
products may be delayed and the credibility of management may be adversely affected and, as i, r@sustock price ma
decline.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial @dition and Results of Operations — (Continued)

Our investment in our product development progrants continued development of our existing commeépeiaducts has a major impact
on our operating performance. Our research andal@vent expenses during the three years ended eredth, 2012, 2011 and 2010 and the
period since inception (March 1997 for the portimr allocated to any major program) were as follgwsnillions):

Year Ended December 31 Since Program
2012 2011 2010 Inception
Vimizim $ 97.C $ 54.t $ 28.1 $ 211.¢
Naglazyme 12.4 10.: 9.7 164.¢
Kuvan 14.1 12.€ 12.¢ 140.¢
Firdapse 5.4 11.C 8.¢ 25.7
BMN-673 11.4 7.4 8.2 27.1
BMN-701 31.€ 17.5 2.t 51.€
BMN-111 12.1 13.€ 2.8 31.C
BMN-190 11.1 1.2 2.4 17.7
PEC-PAL 26.7 27.7 16.4 113.
Not allocated to specific major current proje 80.4 58.€ 56.C Not meaningfL
Totals $302.2 $214.¢ $147.%

We may elect to increase our spending above ouercuiong-term plans and consequently we may beélaria achieve our long-term
goals. This may increase our capital requiremémttyding: costs associated with the commerciabizadf our products; additional clinical
trials; investments in the manufacturing of Naghaey Aldurazyme, Kuvan and Firdapse; preclinicafigs and clinical trials for our other
product candidates; potential licenses and othguiaitions of complementary technologies, prodacts companies; and general corporate

purposes.

Our future capital requirements will depend on meagjors, including, but not limited to:

our ability to successfully market and sell Naglaey Kuvan and Firdaps

Genzym''s ability to continue to successfully commercialiddurazyme;

the progress and success of our preclinical studidclinical trials (including studies and the mifacture of materials
the timing, number, size and scope of our predirstudies and clinical trial

the time and cost necessary to obtain regulatgoyosals and the costs of post-marketing studieshvhiay be required by
regulatory authorities

the time and cost necessary to develop commere@abfacturing processes, including quality systeans, to build or acquire
manufacturing capabilitie:

the progress of research programs carried out £

our possible achievement of milestones identifiedur purchase agreements with the former stocknsldf LEAD, ZyStor,
Huxley and Zacharon that trigger related milestpagments

any changes made to, or new developments in, astirex collaborative, licensing and other commdreitationships or any new
collaborative, licensing and other commercial ielahips that we may establish; ¢

whether our convertible debt is converted to commstoak in the future

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangemieatsite currently material or reasonably likelyotgomaterial to our consolidated
financial position or results of operations.
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Contractual and Commercial Obligations

We have contractual and commercial obligations unde debt, operating leases and other obligatielaged to research and
development activities, purchase commitments, §esrand sales royalties with annual minimums. imétion about these obligations as of
December 31, 2012 is presented in the table balowmi(lions).

Payments Due by Perioc

201 2019 and
2013 2014 2016 2017-2018 Thereafter Total
Convertible debt and related interest $29,74¢ $ 6,091 $12,18. $327,90¢ $ 0 $375,92°
Operating lease 9,01t 6,74¢ 13,48¢ 11,58: 16,42« 57,25¢
Research and development and purchase commit 6,37¢ 2,992 2,62( 0 0 11,99(
Total $45,14.  $15,83. $28,28¢ $339,48°  $16,42¢ $445,17:

We are also subject to contingent payments relatedrious development activities totaling approaiaty $285.5 million as of
December 31, 2012, which are due upon achieveniestrtain development and commercial milestoned,ifithey occur before certain dates
in the future. As of December 31, 2012 $41.4 millaf the contingent payments are included in cgrgint acquisition consideration payable
our accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, whv#10.8 million is current.
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure Aut Market Risk
Interest Rate Market Ris|

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interssts relates primarily to our investment portfoBy policy, we place our investments
with highly rated credit issuers and limit the ambaf credit exposure to any one issuer. As stat@dir investment policy, we seek to improve
the safety and likelihood of preservation of owmssted funds by limiting default risk and markekri

We mitigate default risk by investing in high criegliality securities and by positioning our poriddio respond appropriately to a
significant reduction in a credit rating of any @ment issuer or guarantor. The portfolio incluolely marketable securities with active
secondary or resale markets to ensure portfoliadity.

As of December 31, 2012, our investment portfoltbrbt include any investments with significant egpre to the subprime mortgage
market issues or the European debt crisis. Basedioimvestment portfolio and interest rates atédaloer 31, 2012, we believe that a 100 bas
point decrease in interest rates could resultpotantial loss in fair value of our investment palib of approximately $5.0 million. Changes in
interest rates may affect the fair value of ouestment portfolio. However, we will not recognizesls gains or losses in our Consolidated
Statement of Operations unless the investmentscdde

The table below presents the carrying value ofoagh and investment portfolio, which approximagesyvalue at December 31, 2012 (in
millions):

Carrying
Value
Cash and cash equivalents $ 180.%
Shor-term investment 270.2%*
Long-term investment 116.(x**
Total $ 566.

* 70% of cash and cash equivalents are invested ireynmarket instruments and 30% in ce

**  82% of short-term investments are invested impooate debt securities, 14% in certificates ofadép 3% in U.S. government
agency securities and 1% in corporate equity stesu

*** 82% of long-term investments are invested inmarate debt securities, 10% in certificates ofad#pand 8% in U.S. government
agency securitie:

Our debt obligations consist of our convertibletdelihich carries a fixed interest rate and, assaltewe are not exposed to interest rate
market risk on our convertible debt. The carryiadue of our convertible debt approximates its vaiue at December 31, 2012.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We transact business in various foreign currengigsyarily in Euros and Brazilian Real. Accordinglye are subject to exposure from
movements in foreign currency exchange rates oEthve from sales of our products in Europe. Ourafieg expenses in the United Kingdc
other European countries and Brazil are in BriBslunds, Euros and Real, respectively, which serweitigate a portion of the exposure rele
to the above-mentioned revenue in both markets.

We hedge a portion of our net position in assetkliabilities denominated in Euros using forwardefign currency exchange contracts.
We also hedge a percentage of our forecasted Eumontinated revenue and operating expenses denedaimaBrazilian Reais with forward
foreign currency exchange contracts. Our hedgidigyps designed to reduce the impact of foreigrrency exchange rate movements. We
mitigate
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short-term foreign currency exposure resulting flmnrency fluctuations by entering into forwarddign currency exchange contracts. These
contracts have maturities of less than 17 months.

As of December 31, 2012, we had forward foreigmengy exchange contracts to sell approximately &8lilon Euros and to buy
approximately 6.0 million Brazilian Reais. As of @anber 31, 2012, our outstanding forward foreigmemcy exchange contracts had a net
value of $0.1 million, of which $1.5 million wasaluded in other current assets, $1.0 million watided in accounts payable and accrued
expenses and $0.4 million was included in othegitarm liabilities on our accompanying ConsolidaBzdance Sheets.

We do not use derivative financial instrumentssjpeculative trading purposes, nor do we hedgedoreirrency exchange rate exposure
in a manner that entirely offsets the effects afrafes in foreign currency exchange rates. The equentties to these forward foreign currency
exchange contracts are creditworthy multinatiomahmercial banks, which minimizes the risk of coupaety nonperformance. We currently
do not use financial instruments to hedge operakpenses denominated in local currencies in Eulogtead, we believe that a natural hedge
exists, in that local currency revenue substantiaffisets the local currency operating expensesréyelarly review our hedging program and
may, as part of this review, make changes to tbgram.

Based on our overall foreign currency exchangeegposures at December 31, 2012, we believe thadaterm 10% fluctuation of the
U.S. dollar exchange rate could result in a potiange in the fair value of our foreign curreseysitive assets and investments by
approximately $11.4 million. We expect to entepbinew transactions based in foreign currenciesdbatd be impacted by changes in
exchange rates.

At December 31, 2012, we had cash of approxim&®28:4 million denominated in foreign currenciesjchirepresented approximately
14% of the total cash and investment portfolio.aAgsult, our cash and investment portfolio is ecibjo limited amounts of foreign currency
exchange rate risk.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
The information required to be filed in this iteppa&ars on pages F-1 to F-46 of this report.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Aounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

An evaluation was carried out, under the supermisioand with the participation of our manageméartluding our Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the @ftiveness of our disclosure controls and proced{a® defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-1
(e) under the Exchange Act as of the end of thmg&overed by this report. Based on the evaluation Chief Executive Officer and our
Chief Financial Officer have concluded that ourctisure controls and procedures are effective somnthat the information required to be
disclosed by us in the reports we file or submidemhe Exchange Act was recorded, processed, stineti@nd reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

Managemen's Annual Report on Internal Control Over FinanciaReporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining an adequate internal control structun@ procedures for financial
reporting. Under the supervision of and with thetipgation of our management, including our CHisdecutive Officer and our Chief Financ
Officer, our management has assessed the effeetisasf our internal control over financial repagtas defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act as of December 31, 2012. Our manag&srassessment was based on criteria set forthddZommittee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission, or CO8@ynal Control-Integrated Framework.

65



Table of Contents

Based on the COSO criteria, we believe our intecnatrol over financial reporting as of December 3112 was effective.

Our independent registered public accounting flkRMG LLP, has audited the financial statementsudel in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K and has issued a report on the effeatisgiof our internal control over financial repagtihe report of KPMG LLP is incorporated
by reference from Item 8 of this Annual Report @mrf 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reportm

There were no changes in our internal control divwancial reporting during our most recently contetequarter that have materially
affected or are reasonably likely to materiallyeaffour internal control over financial reportiag, defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act.

Scope of the Effectiveness of Contre

Our internal control over financial reporting ip@cess designed to provide reasonable assuragesliteg the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsiéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. Our
internal control over financial reporting includd®se policies and procedures that:

* pertain to the maintenance of records that, inaeaisle detail, accurately and fairly reflect oansactions and dispositions of our
assets

» provide reasonable assurance that transactions@eded as necessary to permit preparation ofiflahstatements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #ad our receipts and expenditures are being malyarmaccordance with
authorizations of our management and our boardre€trs; anc

» provide reasonable assurance regarding preventiomely detection of unauthorized acquisition, usedisposition of our assets
that could have a material effect on our finanstatements

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdanaate because of changes in conditions c
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

Item 9B.  Other Information
None

Part 111
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

We incorporate information regarding our directesecutive officers and corporate governance iitogection by reference from
sections captioned “Election of Directors” and “Entive Officers” in the proxy statement for our 30dnnual meeting of stockholders.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatior

We incorporate information regarding executive cemgation into this section by reference from thaige captioned “Executive
Compensation” in the proxy statement for our 20d3ual meeting of stockholders.
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ltem 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andvlanagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

We incorporate information regarding security ovehgo of our beneficial owners, management andadlatockholder matters into this
section by reference from the section captioneati8ty Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners” iretproxy statement for our 2013 annual
meeting of stockholders. We incorporate informatiegarding the securities authorized for issuamzEuour equity compensation plans into
this section by reference from the section captidiiguity Compensation Plan Information” in the pycstatement for our 2013 annual
meeting of stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns and Director Independence

We incorporate information regarding certain r@laships, related transactions and director indegrecelinto this section by reference
from the section captioned “Transactions with Relaersons, Promoters and Certain Control Persoitiseé proxy statement for our 2013
annual meeting of stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

We incorporate information regarding our principatountant fees and services into this sectiorefgrence from the section captioned
“Independent Registered Public Accounting Firmthe proxy statement for our 2013 annual meetingtafkholders.

Part IV
Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule
Financial Statements
Page
Reports of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing F-
1
Consolidated Financial Statements as of Decemhe2@®?2 and 2011 and for the three years ended Dwsredd, 2012
Consolidated Balance Sheets F-
3
Consolidated Statements of Operations F-
4
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomss{Lo F-
5
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockhol&epsity F-
6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F-
7
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem F-
8

In accordance with Rule 3-09 of Regulation S-X, ¢tbeparative unaudited 2012 and 2011 and audité@ @dnsolidated Financial
Statements and accompanying notes of BioMarin/Geezlyl C, which constituted a significant subsidian2010 are filed herewith as Exhil
99.1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Exhibit Index
3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

10.1t

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatsamended June 12, 2003, previously filed with the
Commission on June 23, 2003 as Exhibit 3.1 to th@any’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is
incorporated herein by referen:

Certificate of Correction to Certificate of Amendméo the Amended and Restated Certificate of po@tion
of BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc., dated April 4, B0@reviously filed with the Commission on April )05 as
Exhibit 3.2 to the Compar's Current Report on Forn-K, which is incorporated herein by referen

Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Redt@rtificate of Incorporation of BioMarin
Pharmaceutical Inc. as filed with the Delaware 8tcy of State on October 12, 2007, previoushdfiléth the
Commission on February 22, 2012 as Exhibit 3.Bi#o@ompany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is
incorporated herein by referen:

Amended and Restated By-Laws of BioMarin Pharmacaluinc., previously filed with the Commission on
December 23, 2010 as Exhibit 3.1 to the Companyiséit Report on Form 8-K, which is incorporatedeie
by reference

Certificate of Elimination of Series B Junior Peipiating Preferred Stock, dated May 30, 2012, nesly filed
with the Commission on May 31, 2012 as Exhibittd.the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, whgh
incorporated herein by referen:

Indenture dated June 23, 2003, by and between BioN®harmaceutical Inc. and Wilmington Trust Compan
previously filed with the Commission on August 203 as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Quarterly repa
Form 1(-Q, which is incorporated herein by referer

Indenture dated March 29, 2006, by and between BroMPharmaceutical Inc. and Wilmington Trust
Company, previously filed with the Commission onrbta29, 2006 as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Curren
Report on Form-K, which is incorporated herein by referen

First Supplemental Indenture dated March 29, 269&nd between BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. and
Wilmington Trust Company, previously filed with t®mmission on March 29, 2006 as Exhibit 4.2 to the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K, which is incorporated herein by referen

Form of 2.5% Senior Subordinated Convertible Naiigs 2013, previously filed with the Commission oarbh
29, 2006 as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Curremd®eon Form 8-K, which is incorporated herein by
reference

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated April 23, 2B9and between BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. and
Wilmington Trust Company, previously filed with ti@®mmission on April 23, 2007 as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K, which is incorporated herein by referen

Form of 1.875% Senior Subordinated Convertible Blotige 2017, previously filed with the Commission on
April 23, 2007 as Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s @mtrReport on Form 8-K, which is incorporated heigy
reference

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors afficers, previously filed with the Commission on
October 19, 2010 as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companyig€ht Report on Form 8-K, which is incorporatedelime
by reference
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10.2%

10.3f

10.4%

10.5%

10.61

10.7t

10.8%

10.9t

10.10t

10.11t

10.12t

10.13%

10.14%

Amended and Restated Severance Plan and Summarip@aription as originally adopted on January22b4 and
amended and restated on May 12, 2009, previously ith the Commission on July 31, 2009 as ExHibitl to the
Compan’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, which is incorporated by reference her

Amendment to 1997 Stock Plan, as amended, as atibfatech 20, 2002, previously filed with the Comnmsson
March 21, 2002 as Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’sréutrReport on Form 8-K, which is incorporated ety
reference

Amendment No. 2 to 1997 Stock Plan, as adopted 342004, previously filed with the Commission onghst 9,
2004 as Exhibit 10.1 to the Compi’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, which is incorporated herein by referer

1998 Director Option Plan and forms of agreemedmaseunder, previously filed with the Commission\day 4, 1999
as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Registration Stetiet on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-77701), Wwisc
incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment to 1998 Director Plan as adopted Mar¢t2@63 previously filed with the Commission on My, 2003
as Exhibit 10.1 to the Compée’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q, which is incorporated herein by referer

Amendment No. 2 to 1998 Director Option Plan, aspaeld June 12, 2003 and July 21, 2003, previolislg With the
Commission on August 12, 2003 as Exhibit 10.1 eoG@ompany’s Quarterly report on Form 10-Q, which is
incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment No. 3 to 1998 Director Option Plan, aspaeld May 5, 2004, previously filed with the Comsiié on
August 9, 2004 as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’si@@uly Report on Form 10-Q, which is incorporateddin by
reference

Amended and Restated 2006 Employee Stock Purchased? adopted on June 21, 2006, previously Vil the
Commission on August 3, 2006 as Exhibit 10.3 toGbenpany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which is
incorporated herein by referen:

Amended and Restated BioMarin Pharmaceutical 686 Share Incentive Plan as adopted on adoptedaynli¥,
2010, incorporated by reference to Appendix A & @ompanys Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, lesi
with the Commission on March 26, 20:

Amended and Restated BioMarin Pharmaceutical leaighalified Deferred Compensation Plan, as adopted
December 1, 2005 and as amended and restated werydn 2009, previously filed with the CommissmmDecembe
23, 2008 as Exhibit 10.8 to the Comp’s Current Report on Forn-K, which is incorporated herein by referen

Summary of Bonus Plan, previously filed with then@oission on February 27, 2009 as Exhibit 10.331#0 t
Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K, which is incorporated herein by referen

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with-Jaeques Bienaimé dated January 1, 2009 previdilesly
with the Commission on December 23, 2008, as Ekfihil to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8vKich is
incorporated herein by referen:

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement withh®tepselage dated January 1, 2009 previously f¥iligd the
Commission on December 23, 2008 as Exhibit 10tReédCompany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is
incorporated herein by refereni
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10.15%

10.16t

10.17%

10.18t

10.19t

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Rébdaffi dated January 1, 2009 previously filedh the
Commission on December 23, 2008, as Exhibit 10tBeédCompany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is
incorporated herein by referen:

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement witheleH. Cooper dated January 1, 2009 previousld filith the
Commission on December 23, 2008 as Exhibit 10tBedCompany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is
incorporated herein by referen:

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement withrig.[Bavis dated January 1, 2009, previously filéthwhe
Commission on December 23, 2008 as Exhibit 10tBeédCompany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is
incorporated herein by referen:

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Méokd dated January 1, 2009 previously filed whité t
Commission on December 23, 2008 as Exhibit 10tliedCompany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is
incorporated herein by referen:

Employment Agreement with Henry Fuchs, dated Ma@h2009, previously filed with the Commission omaueh 23,
2009 as Exhibit 10.1 to the Compi's Current Report on Forn-K, which is incorporated herein by referen

Grant Terms and Conditions Agreement between BiaMRlnarmaceutical Inc. and Harbor-UCLA Research and
Education Institute dated April 1, 1997, as amengeelviously filed with the Commission on July 2B99 as Exhibit
10.17 to the Company’s Amendment No. 3 to Registnabtatement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33301), whict
is incorporated herein by reference. The Commissamgranted confidential treatment with respecettain portions
of this exhibit. Omitted portions have been filegarately with the Commissio

License Agreement dated July 30, 2004, between BroMPharmaceutical Inc. and Daiichi Suntory Pha@og Ltd.,
as amended by Amendment No. 1 to License Agreedaatl November 19, 2004, previously filed with the
Commission on March 16, 2005 as Exhibit 10.25 so@ompany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is
incorporated herein by reference. The Commissiengnanted confidential treatment with respect tbaie portions of
this exhibit. Omitted portions have been filed sapely with the Commissior

Development, License and Commercialization Agredrdated May 13, 2005, between BioMarin Pharmacellitc.
and Ares Trading S.A., previously filed with ther@mission on July 6, 2005 as Exhibit 10.1 to the @any’s Current
Report on Form 8-K/A, which is incorporated hergynreference. The Commission has granted confidieinéatment
with respect to certain portions of this exhibitnified portions have been filed separately with@oenmission

Operating Agreement with Genzyme Corporation, pmesiy filed with the Commission on July 6, 199%ahibit
10.30 to the Company’s Amendment No. 2 to Registngbtatement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33301), whick
is incorporated herein by referen

License Agreement between BioMarin Pharmaceutitaldnd Women’s and Children’s Hospital dated Faty,
2007, previously filed with the Commission on May2807 as Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’'s Quartedp&t on
Form 10-Q, which is incorporated herein by refeeeithe Commission has granted confidential treatwéh respect
to certain portions of this exhibit. Omitted portsohave been filed separately with the Commis:

Asset Purchase Agreement dated November 30, 29Zdndbetween a wholly owned subsidiary of BioMarin
Pharmaceutical Inc. and SA Pathology, a unit ofGkatral Adelaide Local Health Network, previouslgd with the
Commission on February 22, 2012 as Exhibit 10.2héoCompany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is
incorporated herein by referen:

70



Table of Contents

10.2¢€

10.27

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.3C

10.31

10.32

10.3¢

Manufacturing, Marketing and Sales Agreement datedf January 1, 2008, by and among BioMarin Pheentécal
Inc., Genzyme Corporation and BioMarin/Genzyme Liir€viously filed with the Commission on February 2608
as Exhibit 10.30 to the Company’s Annual ReporfFomm 10-K, which is incorporated herein by refeeerithe
Commission has granted confidential treatment véagpect to certain portions of this exhibit. Onmdtfortions have
been filed separately with the Commissi

Amended and Restated Collaboration Agreement dgeted January 1, 2008, by and among BioMarin Phegnrtécal
Inc., Genzyme Corporation and BioMarin/Genzyme Lr€viously filed with the Commission on February 2608
as Exhibit 10.31 to the Company’s Annual ReporfForm 10-K, which is incorporated herein by referrithe
Commission has granted confidential treatment végpect to certain portions of this exhibit. Onmdtfeortions have
been filed separately with the Commissi

Members Agreement dated as of January 1, 2008 dyammong BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc., Genzyme Crafion,
BioMarin Genetics Inc., and BioMarin/Genzyme LLG@wiously filed with the Commission on February 2808 as
Exhibit 10.32 to the Company’s Annual Report onrRrdi0-K, which is incorporated herein by referenidee
Commission has granted confidential treatment véagpect to certain portions of this exhibit. Onmdtfortions have
been filed separately with the Commissi

Stock Purchase Agreement by and among BioMarinrR&egutical Inc., and LEAD Therapeutics Inc. and the
stockholders of LEAD Therapeutics, Inc. dated Fabyru, 2010, previously filed with the Commissianiday 3, 201!
as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Reporform 10-Q, which is incorporated herein by rafese The
Commission has granted confidential treatment véagpect to certain portions of this exhibit. Ondtfortions have
been filed separately with the Commissi

Stock Purchase Agreement by and between BioMaramrR&aceutical Inc., Huxley Pharmaceuticals, Incd, toe
stockholders of Huxley Pharmaceuticals, Inc., d@etbber 20, 2009, previously filed with the Comsitig on
February 26, 2010 as Exhibit 10.37 to the CompaAwisual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporatextein by
reference. The Commission has granted confideinéatment with respect to certain portions of #ikibit. Omitted
portions have been filed separately with the Corsiois

First Amendment to Stock Purchase Agreement effeas of March 26, 2010, that amends that cert@iok3Purchas
Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2009 by and grB@Marin Pharmaceutical Inc. and Huxley Pharmécals,
Inc. and the stockholders of Huxley previouslydilgith the Commission on August 4, 2010 as ExHibitl to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, whicmisorporated herein by reference. The Commissiorgtesed
confidential treatment with respect to certain jpois of this exhibit. Omitted portions have bedadiseparately with
the Commission

Securities Purchase Agreement dated August 17, BpHdd among BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc., ZyStor
Therapeutics Inc., the holders of outstanding ehptbck and rights to acquire capital stock of @yS herapeutics In
and George G. Arida, as the representative of bolers, previously filed with the Commission onghist 23, 2010 ¢
Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on F&#, which is incorporated by reference herein. TloenGission
has granted confidential treatment with respecettain portions of this exhibit. Omitted portidmsve been filed
separately with the Commissic

Asset Purchase Agreement dated June 22, 2011 beBieRlarin Manufacturing Ireland Limited and Pfizer
Biotechnology Ireland, previously filed with the @mission on August 1, 2011 as Exhibit 10.1 to then@any’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which is incorpodaterein by reference. The Commission has gramgefidential
treatment with respect to certain portions of #xkibit. Omitted portions have been filed sepayatéth the
Commission
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10.34

10.35

10.36%

10.37%

10.38t

10.39%

10.40t

10.41t

10.42%

10.43t

10.44t

10.45%

10.461

Lease Agreement entered into on January 6, 20i2ekatBioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. and SR CorpoCaeter
Phase Two, LLC for 770 Lindaro Street, San Rafag\, previously filed with the Commission on Febwya@g, 2012 s
Exhibit 10.34 to the Compa’s Annual Report on Form -K, which is incorporated herein by referen

Lease Agreement entered into on January 6, 2012eketBioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. and SR CorpoCaeter
Phase Two, LLC for 790 Lindaro Street, San Rafa#\, previously filed with the Commission on Feby@g, 2012 &
Exhibit 10.35 to the Compa’s Annual Report on Form -K, which is incorporated herein by referen

Severance Agreement and Release of All Claims ddffrey H. Cooper, dated February 21, 2012, presiofiled with
the Commission on February 22, 2012 as Exhibit i@the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, whgh
incorporated herein by referen:

Employment Agreement with Daniel Spiegelman datexy I8, 2012, previously filed with the CommissionMay 9,
2012 as Exhibit 10.1 to the Compi's Current Report on Forn-K, which is incorporated herein by referen

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement with Stephselage dated May 8, 2012, previously filed vtith
Commission on May 9, 2012 as Exhibit 10.3 to thenpany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is incogied
herein by referenct

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement with RoBeBaffi dated May 8, 2012, previously filed withe
Commission on May 9, 2012 as Exhibit 10.4 to thenBany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is incogied
herein by referenct

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement with GclEravis dated May 8, 2012, previously filed witke th
Commission on May 9, 2012 as Exhibit 10.5 to thenpany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is incogied
herein by referenct

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement with Hehrifuchs dated May 8, 2012, previously filed wité t
Commission on May 9, 2012 as Exhibit 10.6 to thenBany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is incogied
herein by referenct

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement with Markddf dated May 8, 2012, previously filed with the
Commission on May 9, 2012 as Exhibit 10.7 to thenBany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is incogied
herein by referenct

Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement with RoBeBaffi dated May 24, 2012, previously filed withe
Commission on May 24, 2012 as Exhibit 10.1 to tleenBany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is inppmmated
herein by referenct

Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement with Hehrifuchs dated May 24, 2012, previously filed whitd
Commission on May 24, 2012 as Exhibit 10.2 to tleenBany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is inpumated
herein by referenct

BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc 2012 Inducement Plaioptéed May 8, 2012, previously filed with the Corsgidn on
May 9, 2012 as Exhibit 10.2 to the Comp’s Current Report on Forn-K, which is incorporated herein by referen

First Amendment to Stock Purchase Agreement dagbdulary 4, 2010 by and among BioMarin Pharmaceutica
and LEAD Therapeutics, Inc. and the StockholderdsedAD Therapeutics dated April 13, 2012, previoufiligd with
the Commission on August 2, 2012 as Exhibit 10althé Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Whisc
incorporated herein by reference. The Commissi@ngnanted confidential treatment with respect ttaie portions of
this exhibit. Omitted portions have been filed sapaly with the Comissior
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10.47%

10.48t

10.49t

10.50%

10.51t

10.52t

10.53t

10.54t

10.55%

10.56t

10.57%

10.58t

10.59t

Form of Stock Option Agreement for the BioMarin Rhaceutical Inc. 2006 Share Incentive Plan. (As Adeel and
Restated 2010), previously filed with the Commissim August 2, 2012 as Exhibit 10.11 to the Comma@uarterly
Report on Form 1-Q, which is incorporated herein by referer

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for theBarin Pharmaceutical 2006 Share Incentive Plan Avvended
and Restated 2010), previously filed with the Cossitin on August 2, 2012 as Exhibit 10.12 to the gamy’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q, which is incorporated herein by referer

Form of Stock Option Agreement for the BioMarin Rhaceutical Inc. 2012 Inducement Plan, previouiséy fwith the
Commission on August 2, 2012 as Exhibit 10.13 &oG@ompany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which is
incorporated herein by referen:

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for the Barin Pharmaceutical Inc. 2012 Inducement Plarviptesly filed
with the Commission on August 2, 2012 as Exhibitl2Go the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 1@vQich is
incorporated herein by referen:

Employment Agreement with Jeffrey R. Ajer datedt®eyber 5, 2012, previously filed with the Commissanm
September 5, 2012 as Exhibit 10.1 to the CompaBytsent Report on Form 8-K, which is incorporateddin by
reference

Severance Agreement and Release of All Claims Stiéphen Aselage, dated September 4, 2012, preyifilesl with
the Commission on September 5, 2012 as Exhibit tt0te Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, whech
incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement with DaBiglegelman dated December 17, 2012, previousd filith
the Commission on December 18, 2012 as Exhibit tOtlhe Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, whgh
incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employdgrégement with Jean-Jacques Bienaime dated Decehiiber
2012, previously filed with the Commission on Det@m18, 2012 as Exhibit 10.2 to the Compan@urrent Report ¢
Form €K, which is incorporated herein by referen

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement with Jgffer Ajer dated December 17, 2012, previously fildth the
Commission on December 18, 2012 as Exhibit 10tBeédCompany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is
incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment No. 3 to Employment Agreement with RoBeBaffi dated December 17, 2012, previously fileih the
Commission on December 18, 2012 as Exhibit 10theédCompany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is
incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment No. 3 to Employment Agreement with Hehrffuchs dated December 17, 2012, previously il the
Commission on December 18, 2012 as Exhibit 10theédCompany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is
incorporated herein by referen:

Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement with GcEyavis dated December 17, 2012, previously fildth the
Commission on December 18, 2012 as Exhibit 10tGeédCompany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is
incorporated herein by refereni

Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement with Markddf dated December 17, 2012, previously filed whth
Commission on December 18, 2012 as Exhibit 10tliédCompany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, which is
incorporated herein by referen:
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10.60*

21.1*
23.1*
23.2*
24.1*
31.1*

31.2*

32.1*

99.1*

101.INS

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

* Filed herewitr

Second Amendment to Stock Purchase Agreement iedottober 26, 2012 by and among BioMarin Pharmtcal
Inc. and Huxley Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the forst@ckholders of Huxley. Portions of this documleate been
redacted pursuant to a Request for Confidentiahffinent filed pursuant to the Freedom of Informatian.

Subsidiaries of BioMarin Pharmaceutical |

Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Pukdicounting Firm for BioMarin Pharmaceutical It
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Indepemsisgduntants for BioMarin/Genzyme LL¢

Power of Attorney (Included in Signature Pa

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Emghaict of 1934,
as amendec

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuawot Rules 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Emghaict of 1934,
as amendec

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chiefnancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section(,3% adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002. This Certification accompanies this reford shall not,
except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxi¢pf 2002, be deemed filed for purposes of &flthe Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amend

BioMarin/Genzyme LLC Consolidated Financial Statateeas of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and fohtlee tyears
ended December 31, 20!

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Documi
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbat

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Docurnr
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Link Docurnr

t  Management contract or compensatory plan or arraagt
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC.

Dated: February 26, 2013 By: /'s/ DANIEL SPIEGELMAN
Daniel Spiegelmar
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below constitutes anuirgpplean-Jacques
Bienaimé and Daniel Spiegelman, his or her attoinewct, with the power of substitution, for him leer in any and all capacities, to sign any
amendments to the Report on Form 10-K and toligesame, with exhibits thereto and other documantennection therewith, with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratjfgimd confirming all that each of said attorneysaict, or his substitute or substitutes, may
do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s/ JEAN-JACQUES BIENAIME Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive February 26, 2013
Jean-Jacques Bienaimé Officer)
/s/ DANIEL SPIEGELMAN Executive Vice President and Chief Financial February 26, 2013
Daniel Spiegelman Officer

(Principal Financial Officer

/s/ BRIAN R. MUELLER Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief February 26, 2013
Brian R. Mueller Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting
Officer)
/s/ PIERRE LAPALME Chairman and Director February 26, 2013
Pierre LaPalme
/s/ KENNETH BATE Director February 26, 2013
Kenneth Bate
/s/ MICHAEL G. GREY Director February 26, 2013
Michael G. Grey
/s/ ELAINE HERON Director February 26, 2013
Elaine Heron
/s/ V.BRYAN LAWLIS Director February 26, 2013
V. Bryan Lawlis
/s/ ALAN J. LEWIS Director February 26, 2013
Alan J. Lewis
/s/ RICHARD A. MEIER Director February 26, 2013
Richard A. Meier
/s/  WILLIAM YOUNG Director February 26, 2013
William Young
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. and slidn$es (the Company) as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related cdasedl statements of operations, comprehensive a¢wss), stockholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the years in the thyear period ended December 31, 2012. These coasatidinancial statements are the responsil
of the Company’s management. Our responsibilitp isxpress an opinion on these consolidated fimhstatements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegreferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of BioMarin
Pharmaceutical Inc. and subsidiaries as of DeceBibe2012 and 2011, and the results of their ojmraand their cash flows for each of the
years in the thre-year period ended December 31, 2012, in conformitly U.S. generally accepted accounting principles

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), BioMarin
Pharmaceutical Inc.’s internal control over finahceporting as of December 31, 2012, based oeriziestablished imternal Control —
Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatigrise Treadway Commission (COSO)”, and our redated
February 26, 2013 expressed an unqualified opioiothe effectiveness of the Company’s internal mmtver financial reporting.

/sl KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California
February 26, 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc.:

We have audited BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. aribgliaries’ (the Company) internal control overaficial reporting as of December 31,
2012, based on criteria establishedniternal Control — Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe
Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s manageisieasponsible for maintaining effective internahtrol over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness offriatecontrol over financial reporting, includedtive accompanying Management’s Annual
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reportimgtem 9A. Our responsibility is to express atinign on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corix@r financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing aald&ing the design and operating effectivenesstefnal control based on the assessed risk.
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestave believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (&ajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witibaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasaabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegibecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all maleespects, effective internal control over figal reporting as of December 31, 2012,
based on criteria establishedimernal Control — Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadwa’
Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc.suxs$idiaries as of December 31, 2012 and 201 1thencelated consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockinglaéguity, and cash flows for each of the yearshathreeyear period ended December
2012, and our report dated February 26, 2013 egpdean unqualified opinion on those consolidatedritial statements.

/sl KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California
February 26, 2013
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BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2012 and 2011
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amats)

ASSETS

Current asset:

Cash and cash equivalel

Shor-term investment

Accounts receivable, net (allowance for doubtfudamts: $348 and $513, respective

Inventory

Current deferred tax asst

Other current asse

Total current asse

Noncurrent asset

Investment in BioMarin/Genzyme LL

Long-term investment

Property, plant and equipment, |

Intangible assets, n

Goodwill

Long-term deferred tax asse

Other asset

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Convertible deb
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Long-term convertible det
Long-term contingent acquisition consideration pay:
Long-term deferred tax liabilitie
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholder' equity:

Common stock, $0.001 par value: 250,000,000 slaré®rized at December 31, 2012 and 2011:
125,809,162 and 114,789,732 shares issued anduaditsg) at December 31, 2012 and 2011,

respectively
Additional paic-in capital
Company common stock held by Nonqualified Defe@ednpensation Pla
Accumulated other comprehensive income (li
Accumulated defici
Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

December 31

December 31

2012 2011
$ 180,520 $ 46,27
270,21 148,82
109,06¢ 104,83¢
128,69! 130,11
29,45¢ 21,11
25,50¢ 18,63t
743 ,46. 469,80:
1,08( 55¢
115,99: 94,38t
284,47 268,97
162,98( 180,27
51,54 51,54
225,50 224,67
16,61 15,49:
$1,601,64  $1,305,70
$ 147,06 $ 94,12
23,36 0
170,43: 94,12t
324,85¢ 348,32
30,61¢ 33,05¢
33,29¢ 37,15
26,67+ 19,99:
585,88 532,66
12€ 11F
1,561,891 1,197,08
(6,609 (3,93%)
(202) 4,887
(539,44%) (425,10)
1,015,76. 773,04
$1,601,64  $1,305,70

The accompanying notes are an integral part okt@@msolidated Financial Statements.
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BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amats)

2012

2011

2010

REVENUES:
Net product revenue $ 496,49° $437,64° $ 369,70:
Collaborative agreement revent 1,95¢ 46¢ 682
Royalty and license revenu 2,271 3,24: 5,88¢
Total revenue: 500,72: 441,35t 376,26
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Cost of sales (excludes amortization of certairuaed intangible asset 91,83( 84,02: 70,28t
Research and developmt 302,21¢ 214,37: 147,30¢
Selling, general and administrati 198,17: 175,42: 151,72:
Intangible asset amortization and contingent canrsiibn 18,71 1,42¢ 6,40¢
Total operating expens 610,93¢ 475,24¢ 375,72.
INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS (110,219 (33,890 544
Equity in the loss of BioMarin/Genzyme LL (1,22)) (2,42¢) (2,997
Interest incomt 2,58¢ 2,93¢ 4,112
Interest expens (7,639 (8,409 (20,819
Debt conversion expen: 0 (1,89¢) (13,729
Net gain from sale of investmer 0 0 902
Other income (expens (1,787 60 48¢
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES (118,279 (43,62) (21,490
Provision for (benefit from) income tax (3,93)) 10,20¢ (227,309
NET INCOME (LOSS) $(114,34) $(53,83¢) $ 205,81¢
NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE, BASIC $ (0.99 $ (0.4 $ 2.0
NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE, DILUTED $ (0.99 $ (0.4 $ 1.7z
Weighted average common shares outstanding, 120,27: 112,12. 103,09:
Weighted average common shares outstanding, di 120,27: 112,12. 125,67-

The accompanying notes are an integral part okt@msolidated Financial Statements.
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BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)
Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amats)

2012

2011

2010

NET INCOME (LOSS) $(114,34) $(53,83¢) $205,81¢
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS):
Net foreign currency gain (los (301) 6 2
Available-for-sale securities
Unrealized holding gain (loss) arising during ttegipd, net of tax impact of $(140),
$(229) and $390 for the years ended December 32,2011 and 2010,
respectively 38¢ (50¢) (1,987
Reclassifications to net income (loss), net ofitagact of $40, $12 and $(148) for the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 ctese. (110 27 75E
Net Change 27¢ (487) (1,22¢)
Cash flow hedge:
Unrealized holding gain (loss) arising during tlegipd, net of tax impact of $5,114
$(4,500) and $418 for the years ended Decembe2®®, 2011 and 2010,
respectively (8,749 8,16: (3,726)
Reclassifications to net income (loss), net ofitagact of $(2,153), $1,648 and $(4
for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 an@, 284pectively 3,68: (2,989 4,217
Net Change (5,06€) 5,17¢ 48E
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS), NET OF TAX (5,089 4,69¢ (745
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) $(119,43() $(49,13)) $205,07-

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottEmsolidated Financial Statements.
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BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

(In thousands of U.S. dollars and in thousands ohgre amounts)

Company
Common
Stock
Held by
Nonqualified Accumulated
Common stock Additional Deferred Other Total
- Compensatior Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Paid-in
Shares Amount Capital Plan Income (Loss) Deficit Equity
Balance at December 31, 2009 100,96: $ 101 $ 899,95( $ @719 $ 932 $ (577,08) % 322,18!
Net income 205,81¢ 205,81
Other comprehensive lo (745) (745)
Issuance of common stock under Employee Stock Baech
Plan (ESPP 317 3,771 3,771
Exercise of common stock optio 2,04( 2 29,46! 29,46
Excess tax benefit from stock option exerc 541 541
Conversion of convertible not: 7,217 8 118,23« 118,24
Restricted stock vested during the period, 10z (137) (137)
Common stock held by Nonqualified Deferred
Compensation Pla (250) (250)
Stocl-based compensatic 38,36: 38,36:
Balance at December 31, 2C 110,63 $ 111  $1,090,18 $ (1,965 % 18€ $ (371,26) $ 717,25
Net loss (53,83¢) (53,83¢)
Other comprehensive incor 4,69¢ 4,69¢
Issuance of common stock under E¢ 33¢ 4,411 4,411
Exercise of common stock optio 1,92¢ 2 29,71( 29,71
Excess tax benefit from stock option exerc 41F 41F
Conversion of convertible not 1,761 2 28,98( 28,98:
Restricted stock vested during the period, 137 (53)) (53))
Common stock held by Nonqualified Deferred
Compensation Pla (1,970 (1,970
Stocl-based compensatic 43,90¢ 43,90¢
Balance at December 31, 2C 114,79¢ $ 11E  $1,197,08 $ (393) $ 4881 $ (425,10) $ 773,04
Net loss (114,34) (114,34)
Other comprehensive lo (5,089 (5,089
Issuance of common stock, net of offering c 6,50( 7 235,49:. 235,49¢
Issuance of common stock under ES$ 254 5,49¢ 5,49¢
Exercise of common stock optio 4,097 4 77,56: 77,56¢
Excess tax benefit from stock option exerc 47:¢ 473
Conversion of convertible not 6 10t 10¢
Restricted stock vested during the period, 162 (2,659 (1,659
Common stock held by Nonqualified Deferred
Compensation Pla (2,66¢) (2,66¢)
Stocl-based compensatic 47,34( 47,34(
Balance at December 31, 2C 125,80¢ $ 12€  $1,561,89 $ (6,609 $ (202) $ (539,44) $ 1,015,76

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottEmsolidated Financial Statements.
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BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

2012 2011 2010
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss $(114,34) $ (53,83¢) $ 205,81¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to mehcprovided by operating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic 45,29t 36,09« 27,730
Accretion of discount on investmer 4,46¢ 4,03¢ 4,45¢
Equity in the loss of BioMarin/Genzyme LL 1,221 2,42¢ 2,991
Stocl-based compensatic 47,34( 43,90¢ 38,36:
Impairment of intangible asse 6,70 0 0
Loss on conversion of convertible promissory r 2,00( 0 0
Net gain from sale of investmer 0 0 (902)
Deferred income taxe (9,92) 4,36 (230,57
Excess tax benefit from stock option exerc 477) (415) (54))
Unrealized foreign exchange (loss) gain on forwamdtracts (6,529 7,17¢ (4,220)
Changes in the fair value of contingent acquisitionsideration payab 8,78¢ (2,795 3,98¢
Debt conversion expen: 9] 1,89¢ 13,72¢
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable, n (4,227) (18,45€) (13,036
Inventory 1,427 (20,42() (31,03¢)
Other current asse (3,50¢) 2,54 3,23¢
Other asset (4,07¢) (837) (5,32¢)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 37,41 10,10¢ 2,16¢
Other lon¢-term liabilities 6,03¢ 1,962 1,90(
Net cash provided by operating activit 17,60¢ 18,75! 18,74¢
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property, plant and equipn (44,577) (73,219 (49,467)
Maturities and sales of investme! 237,83 281,99: 206,36
Purchase of availal-for-sale investment (382,16Y) (215,429 (221,659
Purchase of intellectual prope 0 (81,000 0
Business acquisitions, net of cash acqu 0 0 (32,950
Investments in BioMarin/Genzyme LL (1,749 (1,909 (3,639
Investment in convertible promissory ni (5,000 0 0
Net cash used in investing activit (195,64) (89,56() (101,34)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from exercises of stock options and E 81,40: 33,59: 33,10¢
Proceeds from public offering of common stock, 235,49¢ 0 0
Excess tax benefit from stock option exerc 472 41t 541
Payment on debt conversi 0 (2,239 (14,089
Payment of contingent acquisition considerationaég (4,405 (1,899 (15,867)
Repayment of capital lease obligatic (67¢) (879) (195)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 312,29: 29,00( 3,50¢
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT S 134,25! (41,807 (79,097)
Cash and cash equivaler
Beginning of perioc $ 46,27. $ 88,07¢ $167,17:
End of perioc $ 180,52 $ 46,27: $ 88,07¢
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES:
Cash paid for interest, net of interest capitalized fixed asset $ 6,66¢ $ 7,21 $ 10,077
Cash paid for income tax 6,582 4,39¢ 3,581
Stocl-based compensation capitalized into inven 4,347 5,29¢ 5,13¢
Depreciation capitalized into inventc 7,33t 6,57¢€ 5,08¢
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES FROM INVESTING A ND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities reltteiked asset $ (51)) $ (320 $ (4,959
Conversion of convertible de 10& 29,19: 119,56:
Deferred offering costs reclassified into additiopaic-in capital as a result of conversion of convertifbddt 0 21C 1,32
Common stock transferred into the Nonqualified Drefé Compensation Pl: 0 1,97( 25C
Equipment acquired through capital lea 0 28€ 1,313
Increase in asset retirement obligat 88¢ 2,991 0

The accompanying notes are an integral part okt@msolidated Financial Statements.

F-7



Table of Contents

BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amats or as otherwise disclosed)

(1) NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND BUSINESS RISKS

BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. (the Company or BioMgara Delaware corporation, develops and commkzeminnovative
biopharmaceuticals for serious diseases and mezhealitions. BioMarin selects product candidatesdiseases and conditions that represent
significant unmet medical need, have well-undemtoiology and provide an opportunity to be firstrarket or offer a significant benefit over
existing products. The Compasyproduct portfolio is comprised of four approvedducts and multiple investigational product caatid. Thi
Company’s approved products are Naglazyme (gakeilif&uvan (sapropterin dihydrochloride), Firdafsmmifampridine phosphate) and
Aldurazyme (laronidase).

Through December 31, 2012, the Company had acctedulasses of approximately $539.4 million. Managahbelieves that the
Company’s cash, cash equivalents and short-ternosugdterm investments at December 31, 2012 wikbficient to meet the Company’s
obligations for at least the next twelve monthsellasn management’s current business plans. If tmp@ny elects to increase its spending or
development programs significantly above currengierm plans or enters into potential licensesahdr acquisitions of complementary
technologies, products or companies, the Comparyynmaad additional capital. The Company expect®tdicue to finance future cash needs
that exceed its operating activities primarily thgh its current cash, cash equivalents, short-rthlong-term investments, and to the extent
necessary, through proceeds from equity or debhfimgs, loans and collaborative agreements witharate partners.

The Company is subject to a number of risks, inidlgidthe financial performance of Naglazyme, Kuvindapse and Aldurazyme; the
potential need for additional financings; its dlilio successfully commercialize its product caatkg, if approved; the uncertainty of the
Company’s research and development efforts reguiltifiuture successful commercial products; obtajiegulatory approval for new
products; significant competition from larger orgaions; reliance on the proprietary technologptbfers; dependence on key personnel;
uncertain patent protection; dependence on com@atners and collaborators; and possible rastgbn reimbursement from governmental
agencies and healthcare organizations, as wethas changes in the health care industry.

(2) BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Basis of Presentatio

These Consolidated Financial Statements have reganed in accordance with accounting principlesegaly accepted in the United
States (U.S. GAAP) and include the accounts of BidMand its wholly owned subsidiaries. All signdnt intercompany transactions have
been eliminated. Management performed an evaluafitile Company’s activities through the date lifidj of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K, and has concluded that there are no subsequentseexcept for the transaction disclosed in Ndte

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith U.S. GAAP requires management to make juelgts, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts eftassd liabilities, disclosure of contingent assetd liabilities at the dates of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenaesx@enses during the reporting period. Actuallteswuld differ from those estimates.

(3) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company treats liquid investments with origimaturities of three months or less when purchasesthsh and cash equivalents.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amats or as otherwise disclosed)

Investment:

The Company determines the appropriate classificadf its investments in debt and equity securitiethe time of purchase and
reevaluates such designations at each balancedstee®All of the Company’s securities are clasdifas available-for-sale and reported in
short-term investments or long-term investmentailable-for-sale investments are recorded at fairket value, with unrealized gains or
losses included in Accumulated Other Compreherisiseme (Loss) on the Company’s Consolidated Bal&tweets, exclusive of other-than-
temporary impairment losses, if any. Short-term langterm investments are comprised of corporate séesiritcommercial paper, U.S. fed:
government agency securities and certificates posié

Inventory

Inventories consist of currently marketed prodaetd may contain certain products awaiting regwaamproval. In evaluating the
recoverability of inventories produced in prepamatior product launches, the Company considergtbleability that revenue will be obtained
from the future sale of the related inventory tbgetwith the status of the product within the regoy approval process.

The Company values inventory at the lower of costai realizable value. The Company determinesdsé of inventory using the
average-cost method. The Company analyzes its iomelevels quarterly and writes down inventorytthas become obsolete, or has a cost
basis in excess of its expected net realizablesvahd inventory quantities in excess of expectqdirements. Expired inventory is disposed of
and the related costs are recognized as Cost e$ 8athe Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Investment in BioMarin/Genzyme LLC and Equity mlthss of BioMarin/Genzyme Ll

The Company accounts for its investment in thetjeémture between the Company and Genzyme Corparé@ioMarin/Genzyme LLC
using the equity method. Accordingly, the Compaggords an increase in its investment for contrdmgito the joint venture and a reductiol
its investment for its 50% share of any lossedefjbint venture or disbursements of profits frdra foint venture. Equity in the loss of
BioMarin/Genzyme LLC includes the Company’s 50%rsl the joint venture’s loss for the period. Tihveestment in BioMarin/Genzyme
LLC includes the Company’s share of the net equiitthe joint venture.

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standardar (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) NiO® 17 ,Improvements to
Financial Reporting by Enterprises Involved withridale Interest Entitie(ASU 2009-17) the Company is required to reasseggévious
assertion that BioMarin was not the primary benaficof BioMarin/Genzyme LLC. Under the guidandwe entity with the power to direct the
activities that most significantly impact a varialihterest entity’'s economic performance is thenpry beneficiary. The Company has
concluded that BioMarin/Genzyme LLC is a varialmigerest entity, but does not have a primary beiafidecause the power to direct the
activities of BioMarin/Genzyme LLC that most sigoéntly impact its performance is shared equallyvieen Genzyme Corporation
(Genzyme) and BioMarin through Genzyme’s commeizasibn rights and BioMarin’s manufacturing rights.

Property, Plant and Equipme

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cosifreccumulated depreciation. Depreciation is coteg using the straight-line method
over the related estimated useful lives as predéantthe table below. Significant additions and im@ments are capitalized, while repairs and
maintenance are charged to expense as incurrgege®rand equipment purchased for specific reseamndhdevelopment projects with no
alternative uses are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amats or as otherwise disclosed)

Leasehold improvemen Shorter of life of asset or lease te
Building and improvement 20 years
Manufacturing and laboratory equipmi 5to 15 year:
Computer hardware and softw: 3 to 8 year:

Office furniture and equipmel 5 years

Vehicles 5 years

Land Not applicable
Constructior~in-progress Not applicable

Certain of the Compang’operating lease agreements include scheduleésealations over the lease term, as well as témgmovemer
allowances. Scheduled increases in rent expense@rgnized on a straight-line basis over the léage. The difference between rent expens
and rent paid is recorded as deferred rent andded in other liabilities in the accompanying Cdiusted Balance Sheets. The tenant
improvement allowances and free rent periods aregrézed as a reduction of rent expense over #eeleerm on a straight-line basis.

Impairment of Lon-Lived Assets

The Company records goodwill in a business comiginathen the total consideration exceeds the fainer of the net tangible and
identifiable intangible assets acquired. Goodwilll éntangible assets with indefinite lives are amtortized but subject to an annual impairn
analysis. Intangible assets with definite livesar®rtized over their estimated useful lives otraight-line basis.

The Company performs its annual impairment reviégomdwill and indefinite lived intangibles durinige fourth quarter and whenever
events or circumstances indicate that the carrgingunt of an asset may not be recoverable. Ifdetermined that the full carrying amount of
an asset is not recoverable, an impairment loscirded in the amount by which the carrying amaiihe asset exceeds its fair value. The
Company early adopted the provisions of ASU No0.2202, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testindefinite-Lived Intangible
Assets for Impairmel(ASU 2012-02). The early adoption of ASU 2012-0& dot have an impact on Compasifinancial position or results
operations.

The Company currently operates in one businessemgytihe biopharmaceutical development and comuaileration segment. When
reviewing goodwill for impairment, the Company asses whether goodwill should be allocated to opeydgvels lower than its single
operating segment for which discrete financial infation is available and reviewed for decision mgkpurposes. These lower levels are
referred to as reporting units. As of December281,2, the Company has only one reporting unit.

The recoverability of the carrying value of the Gmmy’s buildings, leasehold improvements for itsifées and equipment depends on
the successful execution of the Company’s busimiatives and its ability to earn sufficient rets on approved products and product
candidates. The Company continually monitors evantschanges in circumstances that could indiGtyiog amounts of its fixed assets may
not be recoverable. When such events or changgsciimstances occur, the Company assesses reciitgtapdetermining whether the
carrying value of such assets will be recoveredugh the undiscounted expected future cash flawiselfuture undiscounted cash flows are
less than the carrying amount of these asset§ dhgany recognizes an impairment loss based oaxitess of the carrying amount over the
fair value of the assets.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amats or as otherwise disclosed)

Revenue Recognitic

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance WiSBFAccounting Standards Codification (ASC) Subts05-15Revenue
Recognitio—Productsand ASC 605-25Revenue Recognition—Multiple- Element Arrangem@ihis.Company’s revenues consist of net
product revenues from its commercial products, mees from its collaborative agreement with Mercko@e S.A. (Merck Serono) and other
license and royalty revenues. Milestone paymemsenognized in full when the related milestondqrarance goal is achieved and the
Company has no future performance obligationsedlad that payment.

Net Product RevenuesThe Company recognizes net product revenue whesugsive evidence of an arrangement exists, thdupto
has been delivered to the customer, title andafdiss have passed to the customer, the prideetbuyer is fixed or determinable and
collection from the customer is reasonably assuPeaduct sales transactions are evidenced by cestpuanchase orders, customer contracts,
invoices and/or the related shipping documents. émcollected from customers and remitted to guwental authorities, which are
primarily comprised of value-added taxes relateNaglazyme and Firdapse sales in foreign jurisoiisj are presented on a net basis in the
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operationthantaxes billed to customers are not included esmponent of net product revenues.

The Company receives a 39.5% to 50% royalty ondvade net Aldurazyme sales by Genzyme dependirgpt®s volume, which is
included in net product revenues in the Consolai&mtements of Operations. The Company recogaipestion of this amount as product
transfer revenue when product is released to Geadhgunause all of the Company’s performance obtigatare fulfilled at that point and title
to, and risk of loss for, the product has transf@éto Genzyme. The product transfer revenue repiesige fixed amount per unit of Aldurazy
that Genzyme is required to pay the Company iftteeluct is unsold by Genzyme. The amount of prottacisfer revenue will eventually be
deducted from the calculated royalty earned wherptbduct is sold by Genzyme. The Company rectr@lg\tdurazyme royalty revenue ba:
on net sales information provided by Genzyme andrds product transfer revenue based on the fulifit of Genzyme purchase orders in
accordance with the terms of the related agreemégttisGenzyme and when the title and risk of lassthe product is transferred to Genzyme.

The Company sells Naglazyme worldwide, Kuvan inth8. and Canada and Firdapse in the EU. In the Na&)lazyme and Kuvan are
generally sold to specialty pharmacies or end-yseich as hospitals, which act as retailers. Thagamy also sells Kuvan to Merck Serono at
a price near its manufacturing cost, and Merck Beresells the product to end users outside the Gz&hada and Japan. The royalty earned
from Kuvan product sold by Merck Serono in the EBlihicluded as a component of net product revenutieiperiod earned and approximates
four percent of Merck Serono’s world-wide salest<iie the U.S., Naglazyme and Firdapse are sdhiet@€ompany’s authorized distributors
or directly to government purchasers or hospitalich act as the end-users. The Company recordsviessfor rebates payable under Medicai
and other government programs as a reduction efngy at the time product revenues are recordedCoh®ganys reserve calculations requ
estimates, including estimates of customer mixetermine which sales will be subject to rebatekthe amount of such rebates. The
Company updates its estimates and assumptiongeacter and records any necessary adjustmentsitesigrves. The Company records fees
paid to distributors as a reduction of revenue.

The Company records allowances for product retufagpropriate, as a reduction of revenue atitihe fproduct sales are recorded.
Several factors are considered in determining véreth allowance for product returns is requirediuding market exclusivity of the products
based on their orphan drug status, the patientlatpn, the customers’ limited return rights and ompany’s experience with returns.
Because of the pricing of the Company’s commegmiatiucts, the limited number of patients and thr&tamers’ limited return rights, most
Naglazyme, Kuvan and Firdapse customers and neta&igery a limited inventory
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amats or as otherwise disclosed)

However, certain international customers, usuadlysgnment entities, tend to purchase larger questitf product less frequently.
Although such buying patterns may result in revefhugtuations from quarter to quarter, the Comphag not experienced any increased
product returns or risk of product returns. The @any relies on historical return rates to estimaterns. Genzyme'’s contractual return rights
for Aldurazyme are limited to defective productsBd on these factors, management has concludegrtitatct returns will be minimal, and
the Company has not experienced significant prodtatns to date. In the future, if any of thesddes and/or the history of product returns
change, an allowance for product returns may beired,

The Company maintains a policy to record allowarioesloubtful accounts for estimated losses raesgffiom the inability of its
customers to make required payments.

Collaborative Agreement Revenue£ollaborative agreement revenues include botm$ieeevenue and contract research revenue.
Nonrefundable u-front license fees where the Company has continimwolvement through research and developmenalsotation are
initially deferred and recognized as collaboratigeeement license revenue over the estimated pieniachich the Company continues to have
a performance obligation. Nonrefundable amountsived for shared development costs are recognizeevanue in the period in which the
related expenses are incurred.

Royalty and License RevenuefRoyalty revenues includes royalties on net salgsaducts with which the Company has no direct
involvement and is recognized based on data repostdicensees or sublicensees. Royalties are népedas earned in accordance with the
contract terms at the time the royalty amountisdior determinable based on information receivechfthe sublicensees and at the time
collectibility is reasonably assured.

Due to the significant role the Company plays ia ¢iperations of Aldurazyme and Kuvan, primarily th@nufacturing and regulatory
activities, as well as the rights and responsibdito deliver the products to Genzyme and MerakI18g respectively, the Company elected no
to classify these royalties earned as other royakignues but instead to include them as a compaféiet Product Revenues on the
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Research and Developme

Research and development expenses include expessmsated with contract research and developmewided by third parties,
product manufacturing prior to regulatory approetihical and regulatory costs, and internal reske@nd development costs. In instances
where the Company enters into agreements with iartdes for research and development activitiestscare expensed upon the earlier of
when non-refundable amounts are due or as seraiegserformed unless there is an alternative fuigeeof the funds in other research and
development projects. Amounts due under such aerargts may be either fixed fee or fee for servimtraay include upfront payments,
monthly payments and payments upon the complefionilestones or receipt of deliverables. The Conyparcrues costs for clinical trial
activities based upon the services received amtha&tsts of related expenses incurred that haveoylet invoiced by the vendors that perform
the activities.

Net Income (Loss) Per She

Basic net income (loss) per share is calculatediliging net income (loss) by the weighted aversigares of common stock outstanding
during the period. Diluted net income (loss) parstreflects the potential dilution that would ocifisecurities or other contracts to issue
common stock were exercised or converted into comstock; however, potential common equivalent share excluded if their effect is anti-
dilutive.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amats or as otherwise disclosed)

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricingehto determine the fair value of stock optiond ¢he Company’s ESPP awards.
The determination of the fair value of stock-bapagment awards using an option-pricing model isaéd by the Company'’s stock price as
well as assumptions regarding a number of compiexsabjective variables. Stock-based compensatiperse is recognized on a straijhe
basis over the requisite service period for eachrdwFurther, stock-based compensation expensgnizea in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations is based on awards expected to vegsharefore the amount of expense has been reducedtfmated forfeitures, which are based
on historical experience. If actual forfeituredeliffrom estimates at the time of grant they wilrevised in subsequent periods.

The Company uses a lattice model with a Monte Cantwlation to value restricted stock unit awardswerformance and market
conditions. This valuation methodology utilizes el key assumptions, including closing price & @ompany’s stock price on grant date,
expected volatility of the Company’s stock pridek#free rates of return, expected dividend yieid astimated total shareholder return.

If factors change and different assumptions areleyegd in determining the fair value of stock-bas&dhrds, the stock-based
compensation expense recorded in future periodsdifi@y significantly from what was recorded in tberrent period (see Note 14 for further
information).

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Pl

The Company’s Nonqualified Deferred CompensatianFthe Deferred Compensation Plan) allows eligénigployees, including
members of the Company’s Board of Directors (thaf management and certain highly-compensatedogegs as designated by the
Deferred Compensation Plan’s administrative conamjtto make voluntary deferrals of compensatiaperified dates, retirement or death.
Participants are permitted to defer portions ofrthalary, annual cash bonus and restricted siieé.Company is not allowed to make
additional direct contributions to the Deferred Gmmnsation Plan on behalf of the participants wittiorther action by the Board.

All of the investments held in the Deferred Com@dius Plan are classified as trading securitiesrandrded at fair value with changes
in the investments’ fair values recognized in eagriin the period they occur. Restricted stockddsand held by the Deferred Compensation
Plan is accounted for similarly to treasury statkhat the value of the employer stock is deterohime the date the restricted stock vests and
the shares are issued into the Deferred Compend@kim. The restricted stock issued into the Dete@ompensation Plan is recorded as
stockholders’ equity and changes in the fair valiithe corresponding liability are recognized imnéiags as incurred. The corresponding
liability for the Deferred Compensation Plan islited in Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilitiad ®ther Long-Term Liabilities on the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Income Taxe

The Company calculates and provides for incomestaxeach of the tax jurisdictions in which it ogiers. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities, measured using enacted tax ratesremegnized for the future tax consequences of teanpalifferences between the tax and
financial statement basis of assets and liabilittegaluation allowance reduces the deferred taetasto the amount that is more likely than no
to be realized. The Company establishes liabiltieseduces assets for uncertain tax positions wineiCompany believes certain tax positions
are not more likely than not of being sustainechiéillenged. Each quarter, the Company evaluates tlnecertain tax positions and adjusts the
related tax assets and liabilities in light of ofiawy facts and circumstances.

F-13



Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amats or as otherwise disclosed)

The Company uses financial projections to suppeneét deferred tax assets, which contain sigmifieasumptions and estimates of
future operations. If such assumptions were teedgfgnificantly, it may have a material impacttbe Company’s ability to realize its deferred
tax assets. At the end of each period, the Compéihyeassess the ability to realize the deferadtenefits. If it is more likely than not that
Company would not realize the deferred tax bendfien all or a portion of the valuation allowameay need to be re-established, which will
result in a charge to tax expense.

Foreign Currency and Other Hedging Instrume

The Company has transactions denominated in fo@igrencies and, as a result, is exposed to chandeseign currency exchange
rates. The Company manages some of these exp@sueesonsolidated basis, which results in the mgtiif certain exposures to take
advantage of natural offsets and through the u$ereign currency forward contracts. Gains or Issse net foreign currency hedges are
intended to offset gains or losses on the undeglyigt exposures in an effort to reduce the earrangscash flow volatility resulting from
fluctuating foreign currency exchange rates.

The Company accounts for its derivative instrumeasteither assets or liabilities on the balancetséved measures them at fair value.
Derivatives that are not defined as hedging insenisiare adjusted to fair value through earningsngand losses resulting from changes in
fair value are accounted for depending on the @ilieecderivative and whether it is designated amalifies for hedge accounting (see Note 10
for further information).

Fair Value of Financial Instrumen

The Company discloses the fair value of finangiatiuments for assets and liabilities for whichhbue is practicable to estimate. The
carrying amounts of all cash equivalents, shoritand long-term investments and forward exchangé&acts approximate fair value based
upon quoted market prices or discounted cash fl@is.fair value of trade accounts receivables, aetsopayable and other financial
instruments approximates carrying value due ta gfeort-term nature, and which would be considéeed| 2 items in the fair value hierarchy.

Business Combinatior

The Company allocates the purchase price of adadjbinsinesses to the tangible and intangible aasegtsred and liabilities assumed
based upon their estimated fair values on the aitipn date. The purchase price allocation procegsires management to make significant
estimates and assumptions, especially at the atigaidate with respect to intangible assets argrotess research and development (IPR«
In connection with the purchase price allocatiarsacquisitions, the Company estimates the faimevalf contingent payments utilizing a
probability-based income approach inclusive of stimeated discount rate.

Contingent Acquisition Consideration Payable

The Company determines the fair value of contingequisition consideration payable on the acquoisitlate using a probability-based
income approach utilizing an appropriate discoate.rEach reporting period thereafter, the Companglues these obligations and records
increases or decreases in their fair value as to@ungs to Intangible Asset Amortization and ConginigConsideration on the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. Changes in the fair valltiee contingent acquisition consideration pagatan result from adjustments to the
estimated probability and assumed timing of achig¥he underlying milestones as well as changésstaliscount rates and periods.

F-14



Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amats or as otherwise disclosed)

Comprehensive Income (Loss) and Accumulated Otbempehensive Income

Comprehensive income (loss) includes net incones)land certain changes in stockholders’ equityateaexcluded from net income
(loss), such as changes in unrealized gains asddam the Company’s available-for-sale securitieszalized gains (losses) on foreign
currency hedges and changes in the Company’s ctiweufareign currency translation account.

Reclassifications and Adjustmel
Certain items in the prior year’s Consolidated Ririal Statements have been reclassified to confortine current presentation.

(4) RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In August 2012, the FASB issued ASU 2012-08¢chnical Amendments and Corrections to SEC Sectitmendments to SEC
Paragraphs Pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting Bullbld. 114 (SAB No. 114), Technical Amendments Baotsa SEC Release No.-9250,
and Corrections Related to FASB Accounting Stanglahddate 2010-2PASU 2012-03). The update amends various SEC paphgrpursuant
to the issuance of SAB No. 114 and is effectiveruigsuance. The adoption of the amended guidan&&h2012-03 did not have a
significant impact on the Company’s ConsolidatetbfRcial Statements.

In October 2012, the FASB issued ASU 2012-D&chnical Corrections and Improveme(sU 2012-04). The amendments in this
update cover a wide range of Topics in the Accagn8tandards Codification including technical cotiens and improvements to the
Accounting Standards Codification and conformingeadments related to fair value measurements. Tleamdments in ASU 2012-04 are
effective for fiscal periods beginning after Decemh5, 2012, which for the Company means Janua2@13. The adoption of ASU 2010 is
not expected to have a material impact on the Cogip&onsolidated Financial Statements.

(5) SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

All investments were classified as available-fdess December 31, 2012 and 2011. The principaluatsoof short-term and long-term
investments by contractual maturity are summariadte tables below:

c | or th Unrealized

ontractual Maturity Date for the

Years Ending Dgcember 31 nghgogzk Gain Fggg\i?uaéeat

2013 2014 2015 December 31, 201 (Loss) December 31, 201

Certificates of deposit $ 36,60: $12,13¢ $ 0 $ 48,74 $ 13 $ 48,75¢

Corporate debt securitis 221,95: 40,44" 54,30¢ 316,70¢ 191 316,90(

Corporate equity securitie 3,00( 0 0 3,00( (67) 2,93:

U.S. Government agency securit 8,51: 2,50( 6,50( 17,51: 5 17,51%

Greek governme-issued bond 0 0 48 48 52 10C
Total $270,06¢ $55,08¢ $60,85¢ $ 386,01( $ 194 $ 386,20
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] Unrealized
for tr?: ¢£i$;uékmﬁguggczﬁser 31, Total Book ) Aggregate
Value at Gain Fair Value at
2012 2013 2014 December 31, 201 (Loss) December 31, 201
Certificates of deposit $ 38,547 $17,19¢ $ O $ 55,74 $ 13 $ 55,75t
Commercial pape 24,73( 0 0 24,73( 9 24,72
Corporate debt securitis 85,59¢ 40,89¢ 3,10(¢ 129,59« 53 129,64
U.S. Government agency securit 0 32,87 0 32,871 13 32,89(
Greek governme-issued bond 0 192 0 192 0 192
Total $148,87. $91,16: $3,10(¢ $ 243,13! $ 70 $ 243,20!

The Company completed an evaluation of its investmand determined that it did not have any othardtemporary impairments as of
December 31, 2012. The investments are in ingtitgtthat have strong financial ratings and managemeects full recovery of the carrying
amounts.

See Note 12 for additional discussion regardingdirevalue of Greek government-issued bonds hglthe Company.

The aggregate amounts of unrealized losses anteddkar value of investments with unrealized I@sas of December 31, 2012 and 201!
were as follows:

Less Than 12 Months tc 12 Months or More to Totals at
Maturity Maturity December 31, 2012
Aggregate
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealizec
Aggregate Fair Aggregate
Fair Value Losses Value Losses Fair Value Losses
Certificates of deposit $ 7,97« $ (1) $ 2,97¢ $ 0 $ 10,94¢ $ )
Corporate debt securitis 59,37t (44) 43,55¢ (167) 102,93 (211
Corporate equity securitie 2,93z (67) 0 0 2,93z (67)
Total $ 70,28: $ (112)  $46,53 $ (167  $116,81 $ (279
Less Than 12 Months tc 12 Months or More to Totals at
Maturity Maturity December 31, 2011
Aggregate Aggregate
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealizec
Aggregate Fair Fair
Fair Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Certificates of deposit $ 7,48¢ $ 0 $ 8,11¢ $ 5) $15,60" $ 5)
Commercial pape 7,47¢ (12 0 0 7,47¢ 12
Corporate debt securitis 26,84( (1849 9,571 (29) 36,41 (219)
U.S. Government agency securit 0 0 11,25: (D 11,25: (1)
Total $ 41,80: $ (196  $28,94 $ (35  $70,74¢ $ (23])
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(6) INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets consisted of the following:

December 31

2012 2011
Intangible asset:
Finite-lived intangible asse $118,24. $118,24:
Indefinite-lived intangible asse 63,68¢ 70,39¢
Gross intangible asse! 181,93: 188,63t
Less: Accumulated amortizatic (18,95) (8,360
Net carrying valut $162,98( $180,27"

Finite-Lived Intangible Assets
The following table summarizes the annual amoiitredf the finite-lived intangible assets throudi23:

Net Balance a

Estimated
December Useful Remaining Annual

31, 2012 Life Life Amortization

Naglazyme intellectual proper $ 73,68¢ 12 year 10.9 year $ 6,75(
EU marketing rights for Firdap: 23,36¢ 10 year 7.3 year 3,22:
License payment for Kuvan FDA Approv 64¢ 7 year: 1.9 year 332
License payment for Kuvan EMEA Approu 1,591 10 year 5.9 year 26¢
Total $ 99,29: $ 10,57

On November 30, 2011, the Company entered intsaetgpurchase agreement to purchase certain attellgoroperty from SA
Pathology, a unit of the Central Adelaide Local ttedletwork located in Adelaide, Australia, for apfront cash payment of $81.0
million. The intellectual property purchased by @@mpany includes issued and pending patents defatihe purified form of Naglazyme and
the method of using the enzyme in the treatmeMwfopolysaccharidosis VI, which expire between 28848 2023. Prior to this purchase, the
Company licensed this intellectual property from B#thology and paid to them a 5% royalty on netssaf Naglazyme. In the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company recogainedtization expense of $6.8 million and $0.5 roiilirespectively, related to the
Naglazyme intellectual property as a componenbst of sales in the Consolidated Statements of &dipeis.

The Firdapse intangible assets consist of Firdpps@uct technology acquired as part of the Huxlegirfhaceuticals Inc. (Huxley)
acquisition in the fourth quarter of 2009, for winihe EMEA granted marketing approval in Decem!Y®2 The EMEA did not enable the
commercial launch of Firdapse until April 2010wdtich time the Company began amortizing the Eurogeaduct technology at an annual
rate of $3.2 million. As a result of the EMEA appabof Firdapse, the Company made license paynw$&.0 million to a third-party in 2010
increasing the gross value of the European maigeiits for Firdapse by $2.0 million. In each loé tyears ended December 31, 2012, 2011
and 2010, the Company recognized $3.2 million, $3lfon and $2.4 million, respectively, of amowrition expense related to the EU
marketing rights for Firdapse as a component afrigible Asset Amortization and Contingent Consitlenan the Consolidated Statement of
Operations.
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The Kuvan intangible assets relate to license paysmaade to third parties as a result of the FDprayal of Kuvan in December 2007
and the EMEA approval in December 2008, which tesuin a $2.7 million addition to the Kuvan intablgi assets. At December 31, 2012 anc
2011, Kuvan intangible assets totaled a gross v@l$&.0 million. In each of the years ended Decengi, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Comg.
recognized $0.6 million of amortization expensated to the Kuvan intangible assets as a compai&ust of Sales in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of IPR&Bsets related to both early and late stage predudidates purchased in the
acquisitions of Huxley, LEAD Therapeutics, Inc. AB) and ZyStor Therapeutics, Inc. (ZyStor). In pstting fair value of the IPR&D assets,
the Company compensated for the differing phaseeeélopment of each asset by probability-adjustsigstimation of the expected future
cash flows associated with each asset. The Contpenydetermined the present value of the expectede cash flows. The projected cash
flows from the IPR&D assets were based on key apions such as estimates of revenues and operatifits related to the feasibility and
timing of achievement of development, regulatorgt aammercial milestones, expected costs to devblpPR&D into commercially viable
products and future expected cash flows from prosailes.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets consisted offthilowing:

December 31

2012 2011

In-Process Research and Developm
U.S. marketing rights for Firdap: $ 0 $ 6,70
BMN-673 acquired through LEA 36,08¢ 36,08¢
BMN-701 acquired through ZySt 25,01( 25,01(
Other acquired p-clinical compound: 2,59( 2,59(
Net carrying valut $63,68¢ $70,39¢

Intangible assets related to IPR&D assets are dereil to be indefinite-lived until the completionathandonment of the associated
research and development efforts. During the pdtiedassets are considered indefinite-lived, thi#ynat be amortized but will be tested for
impairment on an annual basis and between anmtalifdhe Company becomes aware of any eventsiiiegwr changes in circumstances
that would indicate a reduction in the fair valdéh® IPR&D assets below their respective carnangpunts. During the first quarter of 2012,
the Company recorded an impairment charge of $@liomrelated to certain Firdapse IPR&D assetse3dIPR&D assets were associated
with marketing rights in the U.S. The Company wgglering strategic options for the Firdapse U.Sgvam, including the potential outlicense
of rights in the U.S. In March 2012, the Compamyognized an impairment charge based on the sthtussmess development efforts at the
time and the related discounted cash flow projestitat no longer supported the carrying-valudeflPR&D intangible assets. The
impairment charge was included in Intangible Agsebrtization and Contingent Consideration on the&didated Statements of Operations
for the three years ended December 31, 2012. Awbdiliy, during the fourth quarter of 2012, the Camyp performed its annual impairment
review and determined that no additional impairmentisted as of December 31, 2012.

If and when development is complete, which gengiakurs if and when regulatory approval to magkptoduct is obtained, the
associated assets would be deemed fiiezt and would then be amortized based on thepeetive estimated useful lives at that pointrimeti
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(7) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment, net consisted ofdhewing:

December 31

2012 2011
Leasehold improvements $ 65,91¢ $ 49,45¢
Building and improvement 144, 70( 141,48«
Manufacturing and laboratory equipm: 79,91t 72,03¢
Computer hardware and softwz 56,01: 48,56¢
Furniture and equipme 11,14 7,67¢
Land 11,60¢ 11,60¢
Constructiorin-progress 64,30( 53,88

433,59! 384,71t
Less: Accumulated depreciati (149,12) (115,749
Total property, plant and equipment, $ 284,47: $ 268,97:

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@032, 2011 and 2010 was $34.9 million, $31.9ioniland $23.3 million,
respectively, of which $7.3 million, $6.6 milliomd $5.1 million was capitalized into inventory, pestively.

Capitalized interest related to the Company'’s prigp@lant and equipment purchases for the yeals@®December 31, 2012 and 2011
was insignificant compared to the year ended Deeerdb, 2010 when capitalized interest was $0. 7ionill

(8) INVENTORY
Inventory consisted of the following:

December 31

2012 2011
Raw materials $ 11,94 $ 12,14t
Work-in-process 71,44 75,90:
Finished good 45,30¢ 42,07(

Total inventory $128,69! $130,11¢

Inventory as of December 31, 2012 includes $12I0omiof product manufactured using certain procass specification changes that
have not yet received regulatory approval. The ggs@nd specification changes are required to frwagd by the FDA before the product can
be sold commercially, however the Company expectedeive FDA approval and realize the costs ofrtlientory through future sales.
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(9) SUPPLEMENTAL BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consisfetthe following:

December 31

2012 2011

Accounts payable $ 23,99! $12,23¢
Accrued accounts payat 43,15¢ 23,84¢
Accrued vacation expen 8,40: 6,53(
Accrued compensation exper 27,53( 17,61¢
Accrued interest expen: 1,30¢ 1,30(C
Accrued royalties payab 4,991 5,86¢
Accrued rebates payak 9,62¢ 6,02
Other accrued operating expen 6,17¢ 9,25¢
Current portion of nonqualified deferred comperwatiability 6,44( 682
Value added taxes payat 2,072 3,16t
Current portion of contingent acquisition considierapayable 10,76¢ 5,55¢
Other 2,60¢ 2,03¢

Total accounts payable and accrued liabili $147,06¢ $94,12¢

The roll forward of significant estimated accruetates, reserve for cash discounts and allowama®tdtful accounts for 2012, 2011
and 2010 was as follows:

Balance a Actual Charges Actual Charges
o Provision Provision/ Balance a
Beginning for Current (Reversals) Related to Related to
for Prior Current Prior Period End of
of Period Period Sale Period Sale Period Sales Sales Period
Year ended December 31, 20.
Accrued rebate $ 6,02¢ $ 16,44¢ $ (439 $ (8,199 $ (4,229 $ 9,62¢
Reserve for cash discour 34z 4,21¢ 0 (4,189 0 37z
Allowance for doubtful accoun 51z 0 (165) 0 0 34¢
Year ended December 31, 20
Accrued rebate $ 5,89¢ $ 14,36¢ $ (639 $ (10,04) $ (3,56%2) $ 6,02¢
Reserve for cash discour 304 3,54: 0 (3,209) (29¢) 34z
Allowance for doubtful accoun 64 0 1,05: 0 (604) 513
Year ended December 31, 20.
Accrued rebate $ 4,78¢ $ 11,83t $ (1,859 $  (6,53) $  (2,32¢) $ 5,89¢
Reserve for cash discour 25¢ 2,981 0 (2,729 (219) 304
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(10) DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING STRATEGIES
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Exposure

The Company uses forward foreign currency exchaogéacts to hedge certain operational exposusestireg from changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. Such exposures resultfastions of the Company’s forecasted revenuesopedating expenses being denominatec
in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, primattilg Euro and Brazilian Real, respectively.

The Company designates certain of these forwamldgorcurrency exchange contracts as hedging insintsvand enters into some
forward foreign currency exchange contracts thatcansidered to be economic hedges that are nigindésd as hedging instruments. Whethe
designated or undesignated, these forward foraigreiecy exchange contracts protect against thectieduin value of forecasted foreign
currency cash flows resulting from Naglazyme pradegenues, Aldurazyme royalty revenues, operagipenses and net asset or liability
positions designated in currencies other than tise tbllar. The fair values of forward foreign @mcy exchange contracts are estimated usin
current exchange rates and interest rates, andrteikeonsideration the current creditworthinesghef counterparties or the Company, as
applicable. Details of the specific instrumentsdusg the Company to hedge its exposure to foreigreacy exchange rate fluctuations follow
below. See Note 12 for additional discussion reigarthe fair value of forward foreign currency eaalge contracts.

At December 31, 2012, the Company had 88 forwargido currency exchange contracts outstandinglt@ setal of 50.6 million Euros
and five forward foreign currency exchange congracttstanding to buy 6.0 million Brazilian Reaishwéxpiration dates ranging from January
2013 through May 2014. These hedges were entetedhiorder to protect against the fluctuationsawenue associated with Euro
denominated Naglazyme, Firdapse and Aldurazyme saild operating expenses denominated in the Bma&eal. The Company has forme
designated these forward foreign currency exchaogéacts as cash flow hedges and expects them hiaghly effective within the meaning
FASB ASC Subtopic 815-3@erivatives and Hedging-Cash Flow Hedgasoffsetting fluctuations in revenues denomindte&uros and
operating expenses denominated in the Brazilian fRE&sied to changes in the foreign currency exgbamates.

The Company also enters into forward foreign curyegxchange contracts that are not designateddggebdor accounting purposes. The
changes in fair value of these forward foreign ency exchange contracts are included as a pa#llfigs General and Administrative expense
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Atelb®er 31, 2012, separate from the 93 contraatsigsied above, the Company had one
outstanding forward foreign currency exchange @mttio sell 32.4 million Euros that was not destgdaas a hedge for accounting purposes
that matured on January 31, 2013.

The maximum length of time over which the Compankedging its exposure to the reduction in valumdcasted foreign currency ci
flows through forward foreign currency exchangetaets is through May 2014. Over the next twelvenths, the Company expects to
reclassify $0.4 million from accumulated other coeffensive income to earnings as the forecastedivevieansactions and operating expense
occur.
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The fair value carrying amounts of the Company'svédive instruments were as follows:

Asset Derivatives
December 31, 2012

Liability Derivatives
December 31, 2012

Balance Sheet Locatior Fair Value Balance Sheet Locatior Fair Value
Derivatives designated as hedgin
instruments:
Forward foreign currency
exchange contrac Other current asst $ 1,46: Accounts payable and accrued liabili $ 1,07¢
Forward foreign currency
exchange contrac Other asse 0 Other lon¢-term liabilities 36¢
Total $ 1,46: $ 1,44¢
Derivatives not designated a
hedging instruments:
Forward foreign currency
exchange contrac Other current asst $ 84 Accounts payable and accrued liabili $ 0
Total 84 0
Total value of derivative contrac $ 1,547 $ 1,44¢
Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
December 31, 2011 December 31, 2011
Balance Sheet Locatior Fair Value Balance Sheet Locatior Fair Value
Derivatives designated as hedgin
instruments:
Forward foreign currency
exchange contrac Other current asst $ 4,70t Accounts payable and accrued liabili $ 18¢
Forward foreign currency
exchange contrac Other asse 1,97 Other lon¢-term liabilities 26
Total $ 6,68: $ 21F
Derivatives not designated as
hedging instruments:
Forward foreign currency
exchange contrac Other current asst $ 0 Accounts payable and accrued liabili $ 5
Total 0 5
Total value of derivative contrac $ 6,68: $ 22C
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The effect of the Company’s derivative instrumasighe Consolidated Financial Statements for tleesyended December 31, 2012,
2011 and 2010 was as follows:

Forward Foreign Currency Exchange Contract

2012 2011 2010
Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments:
Net gain (loss) recognized in Other Compreher
Income (OCI) (1) $ (8,029) $  8,02¢ $ 54C
Net gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated C
into income (2, 5,83¢ (4,637) 4,68¢
Net gain (loss) recognized in income 927 (1,486 28t
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments
Net gain (loss) recognized in income $ 674 $ 674 $ 1,51

(1) Net change in the fair value of the effective pmrtclassified as OC

(2) Effective portion classified as net product reve

(3) Ineffective portion and amount excluded from efifiemess testing classified as selling, generaleaiministrative expens
(4) Classified as selling, general and administratxgease

At December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, accumulategl domprehensive income before taxes associatbdarivard foreign currency
exchange contracts qualifying for hedge accourttisgtment was a loss of $0.2 million, a gain oD$8illion and a loss of $0.2 million,
respectively.

The Company is exposed to counterparty creditarskll of its derivative financial instruments. TBempany has established and
maintained strict counterparty credit guidelined anters into hedges only with financial institngahat are investment grade or better to
minimize the Company’s exposure to potential desadlhe Company does not require collateral toledged under these agreements.

(11) CONVERTIBLE DEBT

In April 2007, the Company sold approximately $32#hillion of senior subordinated convertible node 2017 (the 2017 Notes). The
debt was issued at face value and bears intertst aate of 1.875% per annum, payable semi-annimtlash. The debt is convertible, at the
option of the holder, at any time prior to matudtyredemption, into shares of the Company’s comsiook at a conversion price of
approximately $20.36 per share, subject to adjustinecertain circumstances. The debt does notidech call provision and the Company is
unable to unilaterally redeem the debt prior tourigt on April 23, 2017. The Company also must refiee debt if there is a qualifying change
in control or termination of trading of its commstock. If a change of control occurs, the Compaillypay a make whole premium by
increasing the conversion rate applicable to thesio
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In connection with the placement of the 2017 Nottes,Company paid approximately $8.5 million inesfiig costs, which have been
deferred and are included in other assets. Therddfeffering costs are being amortized as intexegense over the life of the debt, and in ¢
of the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 andtB@l@ompany recognized amortization expense & $fllion.

In March 2006, the Company sold $172.5 million efier subordinated convertible notes due 201321 Notes), of which $23.4
million remains outstanding at December 31, 2012 d@ebt was issued at face value and bears intarést rate of 2.5% per annum, payable
semi-annually in cash. The debt is convertiblehatoption of the holder, at any time prior to mdyuor redemption, into shares of the
Company’s common stock at a conversion price of@pmately $16.58 per share, subject to adjustrireagértain circumstances. The debt
does not include a call provision and the Companyniable to unilaterally redeem the debt prior &urity on March 29, 2013. The Company
also must repay the debt if there is a qualifyihgrige in control or termination of trading of itnemon stock. If a change of control occurs,
the Company will pay a make whole premium by insieg the conversion rate applicable to the notes.

In connection with the placement of the 2013 Nates,Company paid approximately $5.5 million inesfilg costs, which have been
deferred and are included in other assets. Therédfeffering costs are being amortized as interegense over the life of the debt. The
Company recognized amortization expense of appratgiy $0.1 million for the year ended December2til,2, compared to $0.2 million and
$0.7 million for the years ended December 31, 281id 2010, respectively. The decrease in amortiza&ipense for the year ended
December 31, 2012 was attributed to the conversid29.2 million and $119.6 million in aggregaténgipal of the 2013 Notes in September
2011 and November 2010, respectively.

In September 2011, the Company entered into sepagaeements with nine of the existing holderso2013 Notes pursuant to which
such holders converted $29.2 million in aggregaitecjpal amount of the 2013 Notes into 1,760,178ek of the Company’common stock.
addition to issuing the requisite number of shafdhe Company’s common stock pursuant to the 20dtes, the Company paid the holders
future interest of approximately $1.1 million alowgh an aggregate of approximately $0.8 milliofated to varying cash premiums for
agreeing to convert the 2013 Notes, which was nmeized in total as Debt Conversion Expense on thesGlalated Statement of Operations for
the year ended December 31, 2011. Additionally Gbmpany reclassified $0.2 million of deferred afig costs to additional paiid-capital in
connection with the conversion of the 2013 Notasimy 2012 and 2011, certain note holders volulytasichanged an insignificant number of
convertible notes for shares of the Company’s comstock.

In November 2010, the Company entered into sepagrgements with nine of the existing holders ®213 Notes pursuant to which
such holders converted $119.6 million in aggregaitecipal amount of the 2013 Notes into 7,213,37&rss of the Company’s common stock.
In addition to issuing the requisite number of sisasf the Company’s common stock pursuant to ti@ Abtes, the Company paid the holders
future interest of approximately $7.2 million alowgh an aggregate of approximately $6.5 milliofated to varying cash premiums for
agreeing to convert the 2013 Notes, which was neized in total as Debt Conversion Expense on thaf2my’s Consolidated Statement of
Operations for the year ended December 31, 201@itiddally, the Company reclassified $1.3 milliohdeferred offering costs to additional
paid-in capital in connection with the conversidrihe 2013 Notes.

Interest expense on the Compangonvertible debt for the year ended Decembe@12 was $6.7 million, compared to $7.4 million i
$10.0 million for the years ended December 31, 281d 2010, respectively. The decrease in intesgetrese related to the Company’s
convertible debt in 2012, compared to 2011 and 2@d9attributed to the conversion of $29.2 millaord $119.6 million in aggregate princi
of the 2013 Notes in September 2011 and NovemhEd,2@spectively.
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(12) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company measures certain financial assetsalitities at fair value on a recurring basis, urdihg available-for-sale fixed income
securities and foreign currency derivatives. Thietmbelow present the fair value of these findragaets and liabilities determined using the
following input levels.

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 20:

Quoted Price in Significant
Active Markets Significant Other Unobservable
for Identical Assets Observable Inputs
Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Assets:
Cash and cash equivaler
Overnight deposit $ 54,01¢ $ 0 $ 0 $ 54,01¢
Money market instrumen 0 126,50¢ 0 126,50¢
Total cash and cash equivale $ 54,01¢ $ 126,50¢ $ 0 $180,52°
Available-for-sale securities
Shor-term:
Certificates of depos $ 0 $ 36,61¢ $ 0 $ 36,61t
Corporate debt securitis 0 222,14 0 222,14°
Corporate equity securitie 0 2,93: 0 2,93:
U.S. Government agency securit 0 8,51¢ 0 8,51¢
Long-term:
Certificates of depos 0 12,13¢ 0 12,13¢
Corporate debt securiti 0 94,75: 0 94,75¢
U.S. Government agency securit 0 9,001 0 9,001
Greek governme-issued bond 0 10C 0 10C
Total availabl-for-sale securitie $ 0 $ 386,20« $ 0 $386,20:
Other Current Asset
Nongqualified Deferred Compensation Plan as $ 0 $ 2,052 $ 0 $ 2,052
Forward foreign currency exchange contract
asset (1 0 1,547 0 1,547
Restricted investments ( 0 2,24: 2,24:
Total other current asse $ 0 $ 5,84 $ 0 $ 5,84
Other Assets
Nongqualified Deferred Compensation Plan as $ 0 $ 2,37¢ $ 0 $ 2,37
Restricted investments ( 0 3,492 0 3,49-
Total other asse $ 0 $ 5,86 $ 0 $ 5,86i
Total asset $ 54,01¢ $ 524,42; $ 0 $578,44(
Liabilities:
Current Liabilities:
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan
liability $ 6,44( $ 0 $ 0 $ 6,44(
Forward foreign currency exchange contract
liability (1) 0 1,07¢ 0 1,07¢
Contingent acquisition consideration paye 0 0 10,76¢ 10,76¢
Asset retirement obligatic 0 0 1,68t 1,68t
Total current liabilities $ 6,44( $ 1,07¢ $  12,44¢ $ 19,96%
Other lon¢-term liabilities:
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan
liability $ 5,041 $ 4,427 $ 0 $ 9,46¢
Forward foreign currency exchange contract
liability (1) 0 36¢ 0 36¢€
Contingent acquisition consideration paye 0 0 30,61¢ 30,61¢
Asset retirement obligatic 0 0 2,192 2,192
Total other lon-term liabilities $ 5,041 $ 4,79t $ 32,8U $ 42,64¢
Total liabilities $ 11,48: $ 5,87¢ $ 45,25¢ $ 62,211
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Assets:
Cash and cash equivaler
Overnight deposit
Money market instrumen
Total cash and cash equivale
Available-for-sale securities
Shor-term:
Certificates of depos
Commercial pape
Corporate debt securiti
Long-term:
Certificates of depos
Corporate debt securitis
U.S. Government agency securit
Greek governme-issued bond
Total availabl-for-sale securitie

Other Current Asset
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan as
Forward foreign currency exchange contract
asset (1
Total other current asse
Other Assets
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan as
Forward foreign currency exchange contract
asset (1
Total other asse’
Total asset
Liabilities:
Current Liabilities:
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan
liability
Forward foreign currency exchange contract
liability (1)
Contingent acquisition consideration paye
Total current liabilities
Other lon¢-term liabilities:
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan
liability
Forward foreign currency exchange contract
liability (1)
Contingent acquisition consideration paye
Asset retirement obligatic
Total other lon-term liabilities
Total liabilities

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 201

Quoted Price in
Active Markets

for Identical Assets

(Level 1)
$ 44,21
0
$ 0
0
0
0
0
0
0
$ 0
$ 0
0
$ 0
$ 0
0
$ 0
$ 44,21
$ 0
0
0
$ 0
$ 5,94t
0
0
0
$ 5,94t
$ 5,94t

(1) See Note 10 for further information regarding tleeivhtive instruments
(2) The restricted investments secure the Compamggocable standby letter of credit obtaineddnmection with the Company’s new

corporate facility lease agreements and certaimoercial agreement
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Significant Other Significant

Unobservable
Observable
Inputs Inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3)

$ 0 $ 0
2,06( 0
$ 2,06( $ 0
$ 38,56« $ 0
24,72 0
85,53¢ 0
17,19: 0
44,11 0
32,89( 0
192 0
$ 243,20} $ 0
$ 14¢€ $ 0
4,70¢ 0
$ 4,851 $ 0
$ 3,35¢ $ 0
1,97 0
$ 5,33¢ $ 0
$ 255,45. $ 0
$ 682 $ 0
194 0
0 5,55¢
$ 87¢ $ 5,55¢
$ 2,82 $ 0
26 0
0 33,05¢
0 2,991
$ 2,84¢ $ 36,05(
$ 3,72¢ $ 41,60t

Total

$ 44,21:
2,06(
$ 46,27:

$ 38,56«
24,72
85,53¢

17,19:
44,11:
32,89(

192

$243,20!
$ 14¢

4,70¢
$ 4,85]

$ 3,35¢

1,97
$ 5,33

$299,66:

$ 682

194
5,55¢
$ 6,431

$ 8,76¢

26
33,05¢
2,991

$ 44,84
$ 51,27¢
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There were no transfers between levels during éaesyended December 31, 2012 and 2011.

The Company'’s level 2 securities are valued udiirg{party pricing sources. The pricing servicabag industry standard valuation
models, including both income—and market-basedagres, for which all significant inputs are obsiie, either directly or indirectly, to
estimate fair value. These inputs include repotadies of and broker/dealer quotes on the samiendassecurities, issuer credit spreads,
benchmark securities, prepayment/default projestlmsed on historical data and other observabigsnp

The Company validates the prices provided by itsltparty pricing services by understanding the aisdised, obtaining market values
from other pricing sources, analyzing pricing dataertain instances and confirming those secugriti@ded in active markets. Due to the
continued volatility associated with market coratit in Greece and reduced trading activity inatgeseign debt, the Company classified its
Greek government-issued bonds as level 2 on DeaeBib2012 and 2011. See Note 5 for further inforomategarding the Company’s
financial instruments.

Liabilities measured at fair value using level Buts were comprised of contingent acquisition adegition payable and asset retirement
obligations.

The Company’s contingent acquisition consideragiapable is estimated using a probability-basednrecapproach utilizing an
appropriate discount rate. Key assumptions usaddyagement to estimate the fair value of contingequisition consideration payable
include estimated probabilities, the estimatedrigmif when a milestone may be attained and assdisedunt periods and rates. Subsequent
changes in the fair value of the contingent actjaisiconsideration payable, resulting from managafraeevision of key assumptions, will be
recorded in Intangible Asset Amortization and Ciogéint Consideration on the Consolidated Statenuéri@perations.

Contingent acquisition consideration payable atdbawer 31, 201 $38,61¢
Changes in the fair value of the contingent actjoiss 8,78¢
Payments of contingent acquisition consideratioapke to former

stockholders of LEAL (6,020

Contingent acquisition consideration payable atdbazer 31, 201 $41,38:

Under certain of the Company’s lease agreemergsCtmpany is contractually obligated to returnédebspace to its original condition
upon termination of the lease agreement. The Coynpanords an asset retirement obligation liabaity a corresponding capital asset in an
amount equal to the estimated fair value of thégakibn when estimatable. In subsequent periodssdoh such lease, the Company records
interest expense to accrete the asset retiremégation liability to full value and depreciatesohacapitalized asset retirement obligation asse!
both over the term of the associated lease agrdaeifiesm Company’s asset retirement obligations &8 million and $3.0 million at
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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The Company acquired intangible assets as a mfsudirious business acquisitions. The estimated/&ue of these lontived assets we
measured using level 3 inputs as of the acquisdate.

(13) STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY

In June 2012, the Company sold 6.5 million shafés @ommon stock at a price of $36.28 per shamni underwritten public offering
pursuant to an effective registration statementiptesly filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdssion. The Company received cash
proceeds of approximately $235.5 million from tpigblic offering.

2012 Inducement Plan

On May 8, 2012, the Company’s Board of Directorgraped the 2012 Inducement Plan (2012 Inducememt) Pivhich provides for
grants of up to 750,000 shabased awards to new employees, including grantssficted stock units (RSUs) and grants of opttonsurchas
common stock at a price equal to the fair mark&tevaf such shares on the date of grant. The avaarisubstantially similar to those granted
under the Compang’2006 Share Incentive Plan as amended and restafdarch 22, 2010 (2006 Share Incentive Plan). 2012 Inducemer
Plan expires in March 2013.

Share Incentive Plan

BioMarin’s Share Incentive Plan, which replaced @mmpany’s previous stock option plans (the 19®¢ISPlan and the 1998 Directors
Options Plan), provides for grants of options tgkyees to purchase common stock at the fair markdee of such shares on the grant dat
well as other forms of equity compensation. As eEBmber 31, 2012, awards issued under the Shaetive Plan include both stock options
and restricted stock units. Stock option awardsighto employees generally vest over a four-yedog on a cliff basis six months after the
grant date and then monthly thereafter. The terth@butstanding options is generally ten yearstiRéed stock units granted to employees
generally vest in a straight-line annually oveoarfyear period after the grant date. Restrictedkstinits granted to directors generally vest in
full one year after the grant date.

As of December 31, 2012, options to purchase afpiately 0.2 million, 12.8 million and 0.9 milliorhares were outstanding under the
2012 Inducement Plan, the Share Incentive Plantftm@ompany’s previous plans, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase PI

Under BioMarin’s ESPP, which was approved in Jub@62and replaced the Company’s previous plan, gyepbmeeting specific
employment qualifications are eligible to partidgpand can purchase shares on established datearsmally through payroll deductions at
the lower of 85% of the fair market value of thecst at the commencement or each purchase date offéring period. Each offering period
will span up to two years. The ESPP permits elegérhployees to purchase common stock through palgdiictions for up to 10% of
qualified compensation, up to an annual limit o5 $®0. The ESPP is intended to qualify as an “egg@iastock purchase plan” under
Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code. Durint2the Company issued 254,285 shares under théokegpStock Purchase Plan. As of
December 31, 2012 there were approximately 0.6anibhares reserved for future issuance.
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Board of Director Grant:

An initial option is granted to each new outsidenmber of BioMarin’s Board of Directors to purchase@®0 shares of common stock at
the fair value on the date of the grant. Until Jag2007, on each anniversary date of becomingegtdir, each outside member was granted
options to purchase 30,000 shares of common statle dair market value on such date. Currentlythendate of each annual meeting of
stockholders, other than newly elected directasheutside director is granted options for thecpase of 15,000 shares of common stock an
2,500 restricted stock units. The options vest over year and have a term of ten years. The restretock units vest on the one year
anniversary of the date of grant.

Stockholders’ Rights Plan

On May 30, 2012, the Company entered into Amendmentl (the Amendment) to the Amended and ResRighits Agreement, dated
February 27, 2009, between the Company and Conghater Shareowner Services LLC (formerly known aididnvestor Services LLC) as
Rights Agent (the Rights Agreement). The Amendnaectlerated the final expiration date of the Corgsapreferred share purchase rights
(the Rights) under the Rights Agreement from Sept23, 2012 to May 30, 2012. As a result, eacktantling share of the Company’s
common stock is no longer accompanied by a Righe. folders of common stock were not entitled to @ayment as a result of the expiration
of the Rights Agreement and the Rights issued thmeter.

(14) STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The following table summarizes activity under then@any’s stock option plans, including the 2012ucement Plan and those
suspended upon the adoption of the Share InceRtare All option grants presented in the table &eercise prices not less than the fair value
of the underlying common stock on the grant date:

Year Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-

Average Average Average
Shares Exercise Pric¢ Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Pric¢
Outstanding, beginning of year 16,319,15 $ 22.3¢ 14,900,24 $ 20.0¢ 14,046,389 $ 19.0¢4
Grantec 2,296,57! $ 37.7( 3,867,46. $ 27.8¢ 3,554,93: $ 21.6:
Exercisec (4,097,27) $ 18.9° (1,92345) $ 15.4 (2,041,98) $ 14.4¢
Expired and forfeiter (648,840 $ 26.1¢ (525,100 $ 24.7( (659,601 $ 23.8(
Outstanding, end of ye. 13,869,60 $ 25.6¢ 16,319,15 $ 22.3: 14,900,24 $ 20.0¢
Options expected to ve 4,444,401 $ 28.8: 5,506,90! $ 23.61 5,125,72! $ 20.9:
Exercisable, end of ye 8,722,41 $ 23.3( 9,904,11 $ 21.0¢ 8,880,544 $ 19.1¢

Weighted-average grant date fair
value of options granted during 1
year $ 16.9¢ $ 13.6C $ 11.2¢
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The aggregate intrinsic value for outstanding omis calculated as the difference between theceseeprice of the underlying awards
and the quoted price of the Company’s common sasolf the last trading day of fiscal 2012. Theltotfinsic value of options exercised
during the years ended December 31, 2012, 2012@b@d was $94.6 million, $25.1 million and $18.0lioil, respectively. The total intrinsic
value of options exercisable at December 31, 2042 $226.6 million. The weighted-average remainimgtractual lives for options
outstanding and options exercisable at Decembe2@®12 was 6.9 years and 5.9 years, respectivebrenlvere 13.8 million options that were
in-the-money at December 31, 2012. The aggregttasit value of options exercised was determiredfahe date of option exercise. Upon
the exercise of the options, the Company issuescoemmon stock from its authorized shares.

At December 31, 2012, an aggregate of approximaf2I8 million unissued shares were authorizeddture issuance under the Share
Incentive Plan.

Determining the Fair Value of Stock Options and SfoPurchase Right:

The fair value of each option award is estimatedhendate of grant using the Bla8icholes valuation model and the assumptions na
the tables below. The expected life of optionsasdal on observed historical exercise patterns.fg&rotiemployees that have similar historical
exercise patterns were considered separately foatian purposes, but none were identified that diatinctly different exercise patterns as of
December 31, 2012. The expected volatility of stoptions is based upon the weighted average diitterical volatility of the Company’s
common stock and the implied volatility of tradgations on the Company’common stock for fiscal periods in which thersufficient trading
volume in options on the Company’s common stocle figk-free interest rate is based on the impliettyon a U.S. Treasury zero-coupon
issue with a remaining term equal to the expeaeau bf the option. The dividend yield reflects ttted Company has not paid any cash
dividends since inception and does not intend {ogrgy cash dividends in the foreseeable future.al@seimptions used to estimate the per ¢
fair value of stock options granted under the 2Bicement Plan and the 2006 Share Incentive Péaa as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Expected volatility 45-46% 46-50% 50-52%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected life 6.5 year: 6.2-6.4 year 6.2 year:
Risk-free interest rat 0.6-1.1% 1.2-2.7% 1.8-2.7%

The Company recorded $32.8 million, $31.7 milliod&28.7 million of compensation costs relateduwent period vesting of stock
options for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2a8d 12010, respectively. As of December 31, 20 {atal unrecognized compensation
cost related to unvested stock options was $70l&miThese costs are expected to be recognized @aweighted average period of 2.6 years

The assumptions used to estimate the per sharealaie of stock purchase rights granted under BieFEwere as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Expected volatility 31% 32-48% 5C-52%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected life 6-24 months 6-24 month 6-24 months
Risk-free interest rat 0.2-0.3% 0.1-0.6% 0.2-1.0%
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The Company recorded $2.9 million, $2.4 million &#&4 million of compensation costs related toamdigranted under the ESPP for
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 ctaspe. As of December 31, 2012, there was $4 Moniof total unrecognize
compensation cost related to unvested stock optisugble under the ESPP. These costs are expgediedecognized over a weighted avel
period of 1.4 years.

Restricted Stock Units with Servi-Based Vesting Conditions

RSUs are generally subject to forfeiture if empleymterminates prior to the release of vestingimigins. The Company expenses the
cost of the RSUs, which is determined to be therfeirket value of the shares of common stock ugtherithe RSUs at the date of grant,
ratably over the period during which the vestingtrietions lapse.

A summary of non-vested restricted stock unit dgtiunder the plan for the year ended DecembepB12 as follows:

Weighted
Average

Grant
Date Fair

Shares Value
Non-vested units as of December 31, 2011 570,90« $ 24.5¢
Grantec 612,27( $ 37.81
Vested (205,98() $ 24.8¢
Forfeited (78,24% $ 28.11
Non-vested units as of December 31, 2 898,94 $ 33.1(C

The Company recorded $7.3 million, $4.5 million &#&1 million of compensation costs related torresd stock units for the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respgctielof December 31, 2012, there was $23.9 milbbtotal unrecognized compensation
cost related to unvested restricted stock unitk sérvice-based vesting conditions. These costexqrected to be recognized over a weighted
average period of 3.0 years.

Restricted Stock Unit Awards with Performance andalet Vesting Condition:

During 2012 and 2011, pursuant to the Board’'s agdraéhe Company granted RSU awards under the Shegative Plan and 2012
Inducement Plan to certain executive officers firavide for a base award of 875,000 RSUs in t®aké RSUs) that may be adjusted to 75%
to 125% depending on the performance of the Comipartgck as discussed further below. A summaryoof-nested Base RSU activity under
the plans for the year ended December 31, 2012 fisllaws:

Weighted
Average
Grant
Date Fair
Base Award: Value
Non-vested units with performance and market vestonglitions
as of December 31, 20: 875,00( $ 32.61
Grantec 140,00( $ 40.2¢
Vested 0
Forfeited (140,000 $ 32.61
Non-vested units with performance and market vestonglitions
as of December 31, 20: 875,00( $ 33.8¢
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The vesting of the Base RSUs under these specdittgis contingent upon the achievement of matg@rformance conditions, as
follows:

Percentage of Bas Base Number o

RSUs to
Vest Upon RSUs Granted
Achievement Before TSR
Strategic Performance Goals of Goal Multiplier

Product Goals
Approval of Vimizim in the U.S. or EU prior 1
December 31, 201 35% 306,25(
Approval of PEG-PAL or any other non-
Vimizim product in the U.S. or EU prior tc
December 31, 201 25% 218,75(
Financial Goal
Total revenues of at least $775.0 million in
fiscal 2015 40% 350,00(

875,00(

The number of RSUs that could potentially vest fithn Base RSUs granted is contingent upon achieveofispecific performance
goals and will be multiplied by the Total Sharelesl®eturn (TSR) multiplier which could range froBP& to 125% to determine the number of
earned RSUs. The TSR multiplier will be determibaded on the Company’s TSR percentile rankingiveléd the TSR of the NASDAQ
Biotechnology Index on December 31, 2015. TSR lsutated based on the 20-trading day average pbese the beginning and end of the
performance period of the Company’s common stockesth comparator company in the NASDAQ Biotechgplmdex. The measurement
period for the performance and TSR conditionsasfthe grant date through December 31, 2015, sutgj@ertain change of control
provisions (the Performance Period). The Compah$R percentile ranking within the NASDAQ Biotechogy Index will result in a TSR
multiplier ranging from 75% to 125%. The RSUs edraethe end of the Performance Period will vesthanfiling date of the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 2015 fiscal yesaubject to certain holding periods. The maximwmher of RSUs that could vest if all
performance conditions are achieved and a TSR piieltiof 125% is applied would be 1,093,750 RSUs.

The Company utilized a Monte Carlo simulation maddetstimate the TSR multiplier and determineddiant date fair value on each of
the grant dates. The assumptions used to estimafait value of the RSUs with performance and reavksting conditions were as follows:

Grant Date
Segtember 5, 201 May 29, 201. June 1, 201
Fair value of the Compangy’common stoc
on grant dat $ 37.4f $ 39.0¢ $ 28.11
Expected volatility 31.7% 44.81% 47.95%
Risk-free interest rat 0.3 0.52% 1.42%
Dividend yield 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%

The Monte Carlo simulation model also assumed taio@s of returns of the stock prices of the Compsmcommon stock and the
common stock of a peer group of companies andrgstastock price volatilities of the peer groupasimpanies. The valuation model also L
terms based on the length of the performance panoddcompound annual growth rate goals for totalldtolder return based on the provisions
of the award.
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Stock-based compensation expense for this awatdevilecognized over the remaining service periegiining in the period the
Company determines the strategic performance gagbals is probable of achievement. Accordinglycauesse the Company’s management ha
not yet determined the goals are probable of aehient as of December 31, 2012, no compensatiomsgg®s been recognized for these
awards for the years ended December 31, 2012 & 20

Compensation expense included in the Company’s @idiased Statements of Operations for all stockeblasompensation arrangements
was as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Cost of sales $ 4,89( $ 5,171 $ 4,26¢
Research and developmt 20,73¢ 16,36" 13,76(
Selling, general and administrati 22,34¢ 22,28: 19,46
Total stocl-based compensation expel $47,97. $43,81¢ $37,49.

Stock-based compensation of $4.3 million, $5.3iarlland $5.1 million was capitalized into inventofyr the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Capitalizedkstimsed compensation is recognized as cost of sdiles the related product is sold.

At December 31, 2012, an aggregate of approximately million unissued shares was authorized fur&uissuance under the
Company'’s stock plans, which includes shares idsuaider the Share Incentive Plan, the 2012 Indeo¢flan and the Company’s ESPP.
Under the Share Incentive Plan and the 2012 IndanéRlan, awards that expire or are cancelled wittelivery of shares generally become
available for issuance under the respective plavards that expire or are cancelled under the Copipanspended 1997 Stock Plan or 1998
Director Option Plan may not be reissued.

(15) EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Potential shares of common stock include shareslids upon the exercise of outstanding employesk siption awards, common stock
issuable under the ESPP, unvested restricted stooknon stock held by the Company’s NonqualifiedeDed Compensation Plan and
contingent issuances of common stock related toertible debt.
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The following table sets forth the computation aiz and diluted earnings/loss per common share:

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Numerator:
Net income (loss), bas $(114,34) $(53,83¢) $205,81!
Interest expense on convertible d 0 0 9,97
Amortization of deferred offering costs relatedhe
convertible deb 0 0 1,54¢
Net income (loss), dilute $(114,34) $(53,83¢) $217,34!
Denominator (in thousands of common shar
Basic weighte-average shares outstand 120,27: 112,12. 103,09:
Effect of dilutive securities
Stock options 0 0 2,40z
Potentially issuable restricted common st 0 0 28¢€
Potentially issuable common stock for ESPP purch 0 0 763
Common stock issuable under convertible 0 0 19,12¢
Fully diluted weighte-average share 120,27: 112,12. 125,67-
Basic earnings (loss) per common st $  (0.9% $ (0.49 $ 2.0C
Diluted earnings (loss) per common sh $ (0.95 $ (0.49 $ 1.7¢

In addition to the equity instruments includedhe table above, the table below presents potesitales of common stock that were
excluded from the computation as they were antitidi¢ using the treasury stock method:

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Options to purchase common stock 13,89¢ 16,31¢ 12,497
Common stock issuable under convertible ¢ 17,36¢ 17,37: 0
Unvested restricted stock un 1,16¢ 1,06¢ 134
Potentially issuable common stock for ESPP purah 263 241 0
Common stock held by the Nonqualified Deferred Cengation Pla 233 172 104

Total 32,92: 35,17 12,73t

F-34



Table of Contents

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amats or as otherwise disclosed)

(16) ACQUISITION OF ZYSTOR THERAPEUTICS, INC.

On August 17, 2010, the Company acquired all ofctygtal stock of ZyStor Therapeutics, Inc. (Zy$tarprivately held biotechnology
company, pursuant to a securities purchase agreetassd August 17, 2010 between the Company, Zy8terholders of outstanding capital
stock and rights to acquire capital stock of ZySted the representative of such holders. ZyStoaged in developing enzyme replacement
therapies for the treatment of lysosomal storagerders. ZyStor’s lead product candidate, ZC-70% referred to as BMN-701, is a novel
fusion of insulin-like growth factor 2 and alphaigbsidase in development for the treatment of PodigeEase.

In connection with its acquisition of ZyStor, ther@pany paid $20.3 million, net of transaction cpstgront for all of the outstanding
common stock of ZyStor. Additionally at the closjtige Company held back $2.0 million of the purehpsce as indemnification against
possible claims to pay any unidentified obligatiofshe former ZyStor stockholders. The Company algreed to pay the ZyStor stockholders
additional consideration in future periods of uB838.0 million (undiscounted) in milestone paymeaht®rtain annual sales, cumulative sales
and development milestones are met. The fair valldlee contingent acquisition consideration payrs@mt the acquisition date was $15.6
million and was estimated by applying a probabiligsed income approach utilizing an appropriateadist rate. This estimation was based or
significant inputs that are not observable in thekat, referred to as level 3 inputs. Key assummgtiocluded a discount rate of 5.6% and
various probability factors. The range of outcorard assumptions used to develop these estimatesdbkawn updated to estimate the fair valus
of the contingent acquisition consideration payattlBecember 31, 2012 (see Note 12 for additioisaldsion regarding fair value
measurements of the contingent acquisition consiaber payable).

The following table presents the allocation of phuechase consideration, including the contingequition consideration payable, ba:
on fair value:

Upfront cash paymen $ 20,25(
Present value of cash held back at clo: 1,89(
Contingent acquisition consideration paye 15,56(
Transaction costs included in Selling, General &ddstrative (SG&A)
expenst (1,75))
Total consideratiol $ 35,94¢
Cash and cash equivalel $ 13
Other current asse 14
Property, plant and equipme 54
Acquired deferred tax asst 7,60(
Intangible asse—In Process Research & Development (IPR¢ 27,60(
Total identifiable assets acquir $ 35,28
Accounts payable and accrued expet $ (1,649
Deferred tax liability (10,697
Total liabilities assume $(12,33¢)
Net identifiable assets acquir $ 22,94t
Goodwill 13,00«
Net assets acquire $ 35,94¢
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A substantial portion of the assets acquired ceexbisf intangible assets related to ZyStor’s leantipct candidate, which the Company
refers to as BMN-701. The Company determined thaestimated acquisitiotiate fair values of the intangible assets relatetie lead produ
candidate were $25.0 million. See Note 6 for furiiscussion related to intangible assets.

The $7.6 million of deferred tax assets resultirmgrf the acquisition was primarily related to federad state net operating loss and tax
credit carryforwards. The $10.7 million of defertad liabilities relates to the tax impact of fudlamortization or possible impairments
associated with the identified intangible assetpiaed, which are not deductible for tax purposes.

The excess of the consideration transferred owefain values assigned to the assets acquiredaitities assumed was $2.3 million,
which represents the amount of goodwill resultirggf the acquisition. The Company believes thagiedwill primarily represents the
synergies and economies of scale expected from ioimglthe Company’s operations with those of ZyShkwne of the goodwill is expected to
be deductible for income tax purposes. The Compacgrded the goodwill in the Company’s consoliddiathnce sheet as of the acquisition
date.

The Company recognized $1.8 million of acquisitiefated transaction costs in selling, general aimdimistrative expenses during 2010,
which consisted primarily of investment banker fdegal fees and transaction bonuses to formerdyShployees and directors related to the
acquisition.

(17) ACQUISITION OF LEAD THERAPEUTICS, INC.

On February 10, 2010, the Company acquired LEAD@teutics, Inc. (LEAD), a small private drug disepwvand early
stage development company with a key compound whielCompany refers to as BMN-673, an orally awéaoly (ADP-ribose)
polymerase (PARP) inhibitor for the treatment difigrats with certain cancers for a total purchaseepof $39.1 million.

In connection with its acquisition of LEAD, the Cpany paid $18.6 million in cash upfront for alltbé outstanding common stock of
LEAD. The Company also agreed to pay the LEAD stotdters additional consideration in future periofisip to $68.0 million (undiscounte
in milestone payments if certain clinical, develamhand sales milestones are met. The fair valtleeo€ontingent acquisition consideration
payments was $20.5 million and was estimated byyapgpa probability-based income approach utilizargappropriate discount rate. This
estimation was based on significant inputs thanatebservable in the market, referred to as I8vaputs. Key assumptions included a
discount rate of 6.4% and various probability fast@he range of outcomes and assumptions usezl/&dap these estimates have been upi
to estimate the fair value of the contingent coassition payable as of December 31, 2012 (see Nbteriadditional discussion regarding fair
value measurements of the contingent acquisitioisideration payable). In December 2010, the Medi&end Healthcare Products Regulator
Agency in the United Kingdom completed its revielitlee Company’s Clinical Trial Application and igslia notice of acceptance for BMN-
673 resulting in a payment of a regulatory milestoh$11.0 million to the former LEAD stockholdehs.October 2012, the Company paid the
former LEAD stockholders $6.0 million for the attaient of a clinical milestone.
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The following table presents the allocation of phuechase consideration, including the contingequition consideration payable, ba:
on fair value:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 1,187
Prepaid expenst 40
Property, plant and equipme 26
Acquired deferred tax asst 7,78¢
Intangible asse—IPR&D 36,08¢
Total identifiable assets acquir $ 45,13(
Accounts payable and accrued expet $ (89))
Deferred tax liability (13,98)
Valuation allowance for acquired deferred tax as (7,789
Total liabilities assume $(22,66()
Net identifiable assets acquir $22,47(
Goodwill 16,63¢
Net assets acquire $ 39,10¢

The deferred tax liability relates to the tax impafcfuture amortization or possible impairmentsasated with the identified intangible
assets acquired, which are not deductible for tapgses. The $16.6 million of goodwill reflects 4.0 million deferred tax liability
recognized in connection with the LEAD acquisitemmd $2.6 million of goodwill attributable to ther®rgies expected from the acquisition .
other benefits that do not qualify for separat@gaition as acquired intangible assets.

See Note 6 for further discussion of the acquintdngible assets.

(18) REVENUE AND CREDIT CONCENTRATIONS

Net Product Revenuedhe Company considers there to be revenue contgientrésks for regions where net product revenuseers ten
percent of consolidated net product revenue. Theeatration of the Company’s net product revenubiwihe regions below may have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s revendaasults of operations if sales in the respeatgtons were to experience difficulties.

The table below summarizes net product revenueectdrations based on patient location for Naglazykuwan and Firdapse and
Genzyme’s headquarters for Aldurazyme. AlthoughzZgere sells Aldurazyme worldwide, the royalties earby the Company on Genzyme's
net sales are included in the U.S. region, asrthesactions are with Genzyme whose headquartetscated in the U.S.

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Region:
United State: 50% 51% 53%
Europe 22% 23% 24%
Latin America 15% 13% 11%
Rest of worlc _13% _13% _12%
Total net product revent _10C% _10C% _10C%
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The following table illustrates the percentagehaf tonsolidated net product revenue attributetiddompany’s three largest customers.

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Customer A 15% 17% 18%
Customer B (1 16% 19% 19%
Customer C _12% __10% %
Total 43% 46% 46%

(1) Genzyme is the Company’s sole customer for rddyme and is responsible for marketing and selitiyrazyme to third-parties. Net
product revenues from Genzyme are comprised oftiegan worldwide net Aldurazyme sales and incretaleproduct transfer revent

The accounts receivable balances at December 32, &t 2011 were comprised of amounts due fronomests for net product sales of
Naglazyme, Kuvan and Firdapse and Aldurazyme promlaicsfer and royalty revenues. On a consolidageis, our two largest customu
accounted for 51% and 13% of the December 31, 28t8unts receivable balance, respectively, comparBe&cember 31, 2011 when the t
largest customers accounted for 49% and 14% adi¢heunts receivable balance, respectively. As eeber 31, 2012 and 2011, accounts
receivable for the Company’s largest customer lz@ancluded $32.4 million and $31.0 million, resjpealy, of unbilled accounts receivable
related to net incremental Aldurazyme product ti@nssto Genzyme. The Company does not requireteadlafrom its customers, but performs
periodic credit evaluations of its customers’ fiogh condition and requires immediate payment iiage circumstances.

The Company'’s product sales to government-owngmeernment-funded customers in certain Europeantdes, including Italy,
Spain, Portugal and Greece are subject to payraanstthat are statutorily determined. Because thest®mers are government-owned or
government-funded, the Company may be impactedeblirgs in sovereign credit ratings or sovereigiaadés in these countries. A significant
or further decline in sovereign credit ratings atedault in these countries may decrease theligetl that the Company will collect accounts
receivable or may increase the discount ratestantehgth of time until receivables are collectedich could result in a negative impact to the
Company’s operating results. For the year endeadéer 31, 2012, approximately 4% of the Compsumgt product revenues were from tt
countries. Additionally, approximately 8% of ther@pany’s outstanding accounts receivable at DeceBhe2012 related to such countries.

The following table summarizes the accounts red#é/hy country that were past due related to It8jyain, Portugal and Greece, the
number of days past due and the total allowancddabtful accounts related to each of these camtt December 31, 2012.

Days Past Due

Total Amount

1220 Allowance for
< 180 Day: Days > 360 Day: Past Due Doubtful Accounts
Italy $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Spain 1,68( 51C 0 2,19( 0
Portugal 0 0] 0 0] 0
Greece 0 0 34¢€ 34¢ 34¢€
Total $ 1,68( $51C $  34¢ $  2,53¢ $ 34¢€
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The Company has not historically experienced aifségmt level of uncollected receivables and haieed continued payments from its
more aged accounts. The Company believes thatltvesaces for doubtful accounts related to thesentiies is adequate based on its analysi
of the specific business circumstances and expecsabf collection for each of the underlying acatsuin these countries.

(19) INCOME TAXES
The provision for (benefit from) income taxes iséd on income (loss) before income taxes as follows

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
U.S. Source $ 45,42 $ 63,64( $ 28,65¢
Nor-U.S. Source (163,700 (107,26) (50,149
Income (loss) before income tax $(118,279) $ (43,62) $(21,490

The U.S. and foreign components of the provisior(lbenefit from) income taxes are as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Provision for current income tax expense (bene
Federa $ 2,25: $ 2,76¢ $ 28¢
State and loce 1,87¢ 1,43¢ 1,35¢
Foreign 1,85¢ 1,641 1,624
$ 5,99( $ 5,84¢ $ 3,26¢
Provision for deferred income tax expense (bene
Federa $(6,05%) $ 7,39¢ $(213,79¢
State and loce (3,89)) (2,959 (16,377
Foreign 25 (78) (409
$(9,92)) $ 4,36 $(230,57)
Provision for (benefit from) income tax $(3,93)) $10,20¢ $(227,309
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The following is a reconciliation of the statutdederal income tax rate to the Company’s effeciim®me tax rate expressed as a
percentage of income (loss) before income taxes:

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Federal statutory income tax rate 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State and local tax¢ (1.9 (1.9 (6.3
Orphan Drug & General Business Cre 27.¢ 43.€ (23.9)
Stock compensation exper (1.€) (8.2 (12.79)
Nondeductible debt conversion expe 0 (0.6) (20.9
Changes in the fair value of contingent acquisittonsideration payab (2.€) 1.t (6.5)
Nondeductible acquisition expens 0 (0.2 (1.9
Section 162(m) limitatiol (1.2) (0.9 (1.6)
Permanent item (0.9 1.3 (1.6
Foreign tax rate differenti (50.0 (86.7) (89.9
Other 2.7 1.C 0
Valuation allowance/Deferred bene (0.€) (5.0 1176.7
Effective income tax rat 3.5% (23.9)% 1057.%

The significant components of the Company’s netrdefl tax assets are as follows:

December 31

2012 2011
Net deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 20,43: $ 33,79¢
Credit and contribution carryforwari 170,32. 162,71(
Property, plant and equipme 1,791 231
Accrued expenses, reserves, and pref 18,77( 12,14¢
Intangible assel 6,161 5,97¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 22,63¢ 22,144
Inventory 17,07 10,951
Capital loss carryforwarc 3,08: 3,101
Other 764 167
Gross deferred tax ass: $261,03( $251,23:
Deferred tax liability related to joint venture madifference (1,807) (1,819
Deferred tax liability related to business acqiosi (31,420 (35,12
Other (75) (215)
Valuation allowanct (6,075 (5,44
Net deferred tax asse $221,65¢ $208,63°
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As of December 31, 2012, the Company had fedetadperating loss carryforwards of approximately 54million and state net
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $55%illion. The Company also had federal researchdevelopment and orphan drug credit
carryforwards of approximately $188.4 million asi#cember 31, 2012, and state research creditaanry of approximately $25.5 million.
The federal net operating loss carryforwards wiphiee at various dates beginning in 2024 througB12i® not utilized. The federal credit
carryforward will expire at various dates beginnin@018 through 2032 of not utilized. The stateaperating loss carryforwards will expire
various dates beginning in 2013 through 2032 ifutiized. Certain state research credit carryovalishegin to expire in 2017 if not utilized,
with others carrying forward indefinitely. The Coemy also has Canadian net operating loss carryfdsaaf $2.0 million and research credit
carryovers of $0.7 million that it currently doest expect to fully utilize and therefore the Compaarries a full valuation allowance on all |
$0.3 million of the research credit carryforwardheTCanadian net operating loss carryforwards asehreh credit carryovers expire from 2014
to 2027 and from 2018 to 2022, respectively.

The Company has elected to recognize the excesditserelated to the exercise of employee stocloaptunder a with and without
approach, which will be accounted for as an incréasadditional paid-in-capital if and when reatizés of December 31, 2012, the Company
had an unrecognized federal benefit of approxinga&B9.0 million and an unrecognized state bewéfipproximately $50.9 million.

The Company’s net operating losses and creditsddmilsubject to annual limitations due to ownershignge limitations provided by
Internal Revenue Code Section 382 and similar giateisions. An annual limitation could result iretexpiration of net operating losses and
tax credit carryforward before utilization. There éimitations on the tax attributes of the ensiteequired in 2010 however the Company does
not believe the limitations will have a materialgact on the utilization of the net operating lossetax credits.

The $31.4 million deferred tax liability relatestte tax impact of future amortization or possibipairments associated with the
intangible assets acquired from ZyStor, LEAD and&ldy, which are not deductible for tax purposes.

Based on projected U.S. taxable income and otheogerating factors, the Company concluded in 20&0it is more likely than not th
a significant portion of the benefit of its defatrimx assets would be realized. As a result, theuatnof the valuation allowance related to the
deferred tax assets expected to be realized wassexy, resulting in a net tax benefit in 2010 &8 million, which was recorded as a tax
benefit in the Company’s consolidated statememipafrations in 2010. The financial projections sufipg the Company’s conclusion to
release a portion of its valuation allowance canggnificant assumptions and estimates of futyperations. If such assumptions were to di
significantly, it may have a material impact of Bempany’s ability to realize its deferred tax &ssAt the end of each period, the Company
will reassess the ability to realize the defer@edlienefits. If it is more likely than not that tBempany will not realize the deferred tax
benefits, then all or a portion of the valuatiolvabnce may need to be re-established, which waaddlt in a charge to tax expense.

In 2012, the valuation allowance increased by $@ilBon due primarily to investment impairments tlaae not more likely than not to be
realized. In 2011 the valuation allowance incredase®1.8 million primarily due primarily to capitidsses associated with the investment loss
that are not more likely than not to be realized.

Effective January 1, 2007 the Company adopted ¢heuating requirements that clarified the critéaarecognizing income tax benefits
and requires disclosures of uncertain tax positidhe financial statement recognition of the berfefi a tax position is dependent upon the
benefit being more likely than not to be
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sustainable upon audit by the applicable taxingeaity. If this threshold is met, the tax beneditihen measured and recognized at the largest
amount that is greater than 50% likely of beindized upon ultimate settlement. A reconciliatiortloé beginning and ending amount of
unrecognized tax benefits for the two years endecehber 31, 2012 is as follows:

December 31

2012 2011
Balance at beginning of period $36,35( $31,11:

Additions based on tax positions related to theaniryeal 7,19( 4,66(

Additions for tax positions of prior yea (9) 57¢
Balance at end of peric $43,53: $36,35(

Included in the balance of unrecognized tax bemefiDecember 31, 2012 are potential benefits 8f3rillion that, if recognized, woL
affect the effective tax rate. The Company’s pofmyclassifying interest and penalties associatitd unrecognized income tax benefits is to
include such items in the income tax expense. Kast or penalties have been recorded by the Quyrtpadate through December 31, 2012.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal jurisdiction and various states and foreigrsglictions. For income tax returns
filed before 2010, the Company is no longer suleetudit by the U.S. federal, state, local or hb8- tax authorities. However, carryforward
tax attributes that were generated prior to 2019 still be adjusted upon examination by tax autiesi Currently, the Company has no
pending or open tax return audits.

U.S. income and foreign withholding taxes havebwsn recognized on the excess of the amount fan€ial reporting over the tax basis
of investments in foreign subsidiaries that areesally permanent in duration. This excess totalpproximately $3.9 million as of
December 31, 2012, which will be indefinitely regsted; therefore, deferred income taxes of apprately $1.4 million have not been
provided on such foreign earnings.

(20) COLLABORATIVE AGREEMENTS
Merck Seronc

In May 2005, the Company entered into an agreemihtMerck Serono S.A. (Merck Serono) for the fetldevelopment and
commercialization of BH4, both in Kuvan for PKU afwd other indications, and PEG-PAL (phenylalarémemonia lyase). Through the
agreement and subsequent amendment, Merck Serquoextexclusive rights to market these productliterritories outside the U.S.,
Canada and Japan, and BioMarin retained exclugisrto market these products in the U.S. and @anthe Company and Merck Serono
may collaborate on the development of Kuvan and PBG. If they agree to collaborate Merck Serond génerally share equally all
development costs following successful completibRltase 2 trials for such product candidate in $ndltation. Merck Serono has “opted-
out” of the PEG-PAL development program, a decisiat does not affect its exclusive rights to PEA-kh its territory. Unless or until
Merck Serono elects to opt-in, it is not obligategbay any of the milestones related to the progsaito reimburse the Company for any of the
PEG-PAL development costs. Merck Serono may eteopt in at any time. If it elects to opt in priorthe unblinding of the first Phase 3 trial,
it must pay 75% of the Phase 3 costs incurred poiopting in and a $7.0 million development mitest if the Phase 3 trial has started. If
Merck Serono opts in after the unblinding of thstfPhase 3 trial for PEG-PAL, it must pay 100%hef Phase 3 costs incurred prior to opting
in and a $7.0 million development milestone.
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BioMarin and Merck Serono are individually respdnesifor the costs of commercializing the producithin their respective territories.
Merck Serono will also pay BioMarin royalties oa itet sales of these products. The term of theeamget is the later of 10 years after the first
commercial sale of the products or the period thhoilne expiration of all related patents within tegitories. As of December 31, 2012 and
2011, amounts due from Merck Serono for reimbuesdblelopment costs for Kuvan totaled $0.4 milkowl $0.1 million, respectively.

Other Agreements

The Company is engaged in research and developrokaborations with various other entities. Thesavfale for sponsorship of resea
and development by the Company and may also prderdexclusive royalty-bearing intellectual propelitenses or rights of first negotiation
regarding licenses to intellectual property develept under the collaborations. Typically, theseeagrents can be terminated for cause by
either party upon 90 days written notice.

In September 2007, the Company licensed to Asub@rRa Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of Daiichi Sankyoglasive rights to data and
intellectual property contained in the Kuvan newglapplication. The Company receives royalties etrsales of the product in Japan.

In October 2012, the Company licensed to CatallisriRaceutical Partners, Inc., the North Americghts to develop and market
Firdapse. In consideration of this licensing aremgnt, the Company received from Catalyst a $5lidomiconvertible promissory note. Under
the terms of the note agreement, the Company red&w million shares of Catalyst common stock ugh@nautomatic conversion of the
convertible promissory note on December 10, 2012 donversion price was based on $0.75 per shaiehwesulted in a $2.0 million loss on
conversion, which was included as a component béQincome (Expense) on the Company’s Consolidatattment of Operations for the
year ended December 31, 2012. In exchange for gmthMmerican rights to Firdapse the Company magike royalties of 7% to 10% on r
product sales of Firdapse in North America.

(21) COMPENSATION AGREEMENTS AND PLANS
Employment Agreemer

The Company has entered into employment agreemattitgertain officers. Generally, these agreemeatsbe terminated without cause
by the Company upon prior written notice and payneéispecified severance, or by the officer upam fweeks’ prior written notice to the
Company.

401(k) Plan

The Company sponsors the BioMarin Retirement Savitign (401(k) Plan). Most employees (Participaauts)eligible to participate
following the start of their employment, at the lmetng of each calendar month. Participants mayrdmute to the 401(k) Plan up to the lesser
of 100% of their current compensation to or an amap to a statutorily prescribed annual limit. T®@mpany pays the direct expenses of the
401(k) Plan and matches 100% of each Participaotisributions, up to a maximum of the lesser of @%he employee’s annual compensatior
or $4,000 per year. The Company’s matching contidbuwests over four years from employment commererg and was approximately $2.8
million, $2.2 million and $1.4 million for the yemended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, resplgctismployer contributions not vested
upon employee termination are forfeited.
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Deferred Compensation Ple

In December 2005, the Company adopted the Def&oadpensation Plan. The Deferred Compensation Blansaeligible employees,
including members of the Board, management andioenighly-compensated employees as designateldeblylan’s Administrative
Committee, the opportunity to make voluntary deflsrof compensation to specified future datesienetent or death. Participants are permi
to defer portions of their salary, annual cash lsemd restricted stock. The Company may not madiadlal direct contributions to the
Deferred Compensation Plan on behalf of the paditts, without further action by the Board. Defdrcempensation is held in trust and
generally invested to match the investment bencksnsglected by participants. The recorded coshpfiraestments will approximate fair
value. Investments of $4.4 million and $3.5 milliand the related deferred compensation liabilit$15.9 million and $9.5 million were
recorded as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, resphctCompany stock issued into the Deferred Commation Plan is recorded and
accounted for similarly to treasury stock in theg value of the employer stock is determined ordtite the restricted stock vests and the sl
are issued into the Deferred Compensation Planrds$tected stock issued into the Deferred Comp@rs®lan upon vesting is recorded in
stockholders’ equity. As of December 31, 2012 a®#l12 the fair value of Company stock held by théelred Compensation Plan was $11.5
million and $5.9 million, respectively. The charigenarket value amounted to a loss of approximak8l2 million in 2012, compared to los:
of $1.3 million in 2011 and $0.8 million in 2010.

(22) JOINT VENTURE

Effective January 2008, the Company and Genzynteumsred BioMarin/Genzyme LLC. Under the revisédicture, the operational
responsibilities for the Company and Genzyme didsignificantly change, as Genzyme continues tbaly market and sell Aldurazyme and
the Company continues to manufacture Aldurazyme.

Genzyme records sales of Aldurazyme to third-pangtomers and pays the Company a tiered paymegingafrom approximately
39.5% to 50% of worldwide net product sales depsnodn sales volume, which is recorded by the Comparproduct revenue. The Company
recognizes a portion of this amount as producsterrevenue when the product is released to Geahguause all of the Company’s
performance obligations are fulfilled at this poamtd title to, and risk of loss for, the producs fi@nsferred to Genzyme. The product transfer
revenue represents the fixed amount per unit ofivdegyme that Genzyme is required to pay the Comahg product is unsold by Genzyme.
The amount of product transfer revenue is dedutted the calculated royalty rate when the prodsadld by Genzyme. Genzyme’s
contractual return rights for Aldurazyme are lirdite defective product. Certain research and dewedmt activities and intellectual property
related to Aldurazyme continue to be managed irjdime venture with the costs shared equally byGloenpany and Genzyme.

The Company presents the related cost of saleisaAtHurazyme-related operating expenses as dpgrakpenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. Equity in the loss oMBidn/Genzyme LLC subsequent to the restructuniveduides BioMarin's 50% share of the
net income (loss) of BioMarin/Genzyme LLC relatedntellectual property management and ongoingarebeand development activities.
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The results of the joint venture’s operations aesented in the table below.

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

(unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited)

Revenue $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Cost of goods sol 0 0 0
Gross profit 0 0 0
Operating expenst 2,53¢ 4,85k 5,93¢
Loss from operation (2,539 (4,85%) (5,939
Other income (expens 4 5 (43
Net loss $ (2,530 $ (4,850 $ (5,98)
Equity in the loss of BioMarin/Genzyme LL $ (1,22) $ (2,420 $ (2,99)

The summarized assets and liabilities of the joe@mture and the components of the Company’s investin the joint venture are as
follows:

December 31

2012 2011
(unaudited) (unaudited)
Assets $ 3,34 $ 2,531
Liabilities (1,749 (1,400
Net equity $ 1,59¢ $ 1,12¢
Investment in BioMarin/Genzyme LLC (50% share of @guity) $ 1,08( $  55¢

(23) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Lease Commitmen

The Company leases office space and researcimgestd manufacturing laboratory space in variousities under operating agreeme
expiring at various dates through 2022. Certaithefleases provide for options by the Company terekthe lease for multiple five-year
renewal periods and also provide for annual mininieneases in rent, usually based on a consumeg prilex or annual minimum increases.
Minimum lease payments for future years are as\ia!

2013 $ 9,01¢
2014 6,74¢
2015 6,99(
2016 6,49¢
2017 5,78(
Thereaftel 22,22¢

Total $57,25¢
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Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2012,and 2010 was $10.1 million, $6.0 million, &%1 million, respectively.
Deferred rent accruals at December 31, 2012 to®l€dd million, of which $1.0 million was currett December 31, 2011 deferred rent
accruals totaled $1.3 million, of which $0.3 mitlisvas current.

Research and Development Funding and Technolognkes

The Company uses experts and laboratories at witiesrand other institutions to perform certaise@ch and development activities.
These amounts are included as research and devahbgxpenses as services are provided.

The Company has also licensed technology, for whiishrequired to pay royalties upon future safject to certain annual minimums.
As of December 31, 2012, such minimum annual comenits were approximately $0.6 million.

Contingencies

From time to time the Company is involved in legalions arising in the normal course of its busindse Company is not presently
subject to any material litigation nor, to managatiseknowledge, is any litigation threatened ageihe Company that collectively is expected
to have a material adverse effect on the Compamyisolidated cash flows, financial condition omfessof operations.

As of December 31, 2012 the Company is also subjembntingent payments totaling approximately $288illion upon achievement of
certain regulatory and licensing milestones if tbegur before certain dates in the future. As ofédeber 31, 2012, the Company has recorde
$41.4 million of contingent acquisition considesatipayable on its Consolidated Balance Sheet, afhw$i10.8 million current.

(24) SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On January 4, 2013, the Company entered into aenagyeement with Zacharon Pharmaceuticals, lrach{@ron), a private
biotechnology company focused on developing smalkoules targeting pathways of glycan and glycdlipietabolism, pursuant to which the
Company acquired all of the outstanding sharespital stock of Zacharon for an upfront cash paymeithe stockholders of Zacharon of
$10.0 million, of which $1.7 million was held in@sw. Additionally, the Company may pay the forrdacharon stockholders up to $134.0
million for the achievement of specified developinand launch milestones.
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CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED
Redacted portions are indicated by [****].
Redacted portions filed separately with
Confidential Treatment Application.

SECOND AMENDMENT TO
STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENTh{s “ Amendment 2) is effective as of October 26, 2012 ¢
amends that certain Stock Purchase Agreement, dateflOctober 20, 2009 (the * Agreem&ras previously amended March 26, 2010 (*
Amendment 1), by and among BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc., da&re corporation (the_* PurchasgrHuxley Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (the_* Compatjy and the stockholders of the Company party tteefeollectively, the “ Stockholders.

RECITALS

A. WHEREAS, pursuant to the Agreement, the Stotdters sold, assigned, transferred and deliverdie Purchaser, and the Purch
purchased and acquired from the Stockholdersigdit, rtitle and interest in and to all of the isdusnd outstanding shares of capital stock of th

Company (the “ Acquisitiofy);

B. WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 12.3 of the A&gnent, the Agreement may not be amended, modifisdpplemented except by
written agreement between the Purchaser and tl&lRiloler Representative (as defined below); and

C. WHEREAS, the Purchaser and Aceras BioMedldaT, in its capacity as the Stockholder Repregerddthe “_Stockholder
Representativ®), desire to modify the Agreement as set fortlhis Amendment 2.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoitigg parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

1. The last sentence of the first paragraph ofi@edt4 of the Agreement, shall be deleted ini$rety and replaced with the
following new sentence
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contaihedein, the Purchas's obligation to make any payments to the Stockéisd
pursuant to this Section 1.4 shall terminate onil/&rth2018.

2. Section 1.4, Section 1.4 (g), Section 1.4(h) amti&e 5.11 (b) shall be revised as follo

a. Section 1.4(g) of the Agreement, previously ateenby Amendment 1, shall be deleted in its entiaeid replaced with the
following new Section 1.4(g



EXECUTION COPY

(@) [

b. Section 1.4(h) of the Agreement, previously adeshby Amendment 1, shall be deleted in its entiaeid replaced with the
following new Section 1.4(h

(h) |****|

C. The paragraph at the end of Section 1.4 of ipeément, previously amended by Amendment 1, blealleleted in its
entirety and replaced with the following new paedr:

[****]

d. Section 5.11(b) of the Agreement is hereby amegeatiding the following as a new clause (

[****] = Certain confidential information containeth this document, marked by brackets, has beettedrand filed separately with The
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to BiE-2 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, asraied.



“(iii) The Stockholders acknowledge that, pursuana License Agreement dated as of October 26, pDE2'License Agreement”)
between the Purchaser and Catalyst PharmaceusidaldPs, Inc. (“Catalyst”), the Purchaser has @@t right to Catalyst to develop,
manufacture, sell, market, distribute and/or pra@veProduct in the United States, Canada and Mégadtectively, the “Territory”). The
Stockholders hereby agree that, notwithstandinghémy to the contrary herein, but without limiti€gction 5.11(b)(ii) with respect to
any country in the world outside the Territory, Btmckholder shall, during the term of the Licengge®ement, in any manner, either
directly, indirectly, individually, in partnershifgintly or in conjunction with any Person, (A) eage in a Competing Business (as define
below) anywhere in the Territory, or (B) have amiggor profit interest in, advise or render seedcelated to a Competing Business (of
an executive, marketing, manufacturing, researchdmvelopment, administrative, financial, consgitor other nature) or lend money to
any Person that engages in a Competing Businesghang in the Territoryprovided, howevethat notwithstanding the foregoing, each
Stockholder may (1) hold, purchase or otherwisaimeqip to but not more than five (5%) in the aggite of any class of equity securi
of any Person, including without limitation, a Rereengaged in a Competing Business, if (i) suchritées are listed on any national
securities exchange and (ii) such Stockholder {tierwise involved or associated, directly oririactly, with the operation of the issuer
of such securities (2) continue to own securitiesther Entities acquired prior to the date of thigeement and (3) engage in any
activities related to a Licensed Compound or CompgeBusiness (as defined below), as permitted itivgrin advance by Catalyst. For
purposes of this Section 5.11(b)(iii), the term t@zeting Business” means developing (including neteag and seeking regulatory
approval) and/or commercialization (including distiting) of any product containing Licensed Compabfmr any indication or
developing and/or commercialization of any otheirempyridine for the treatment of any neuro-muscdiaease, and the term “Licensed
Compound” means 3,4-diaminopyridine and any dexieat isomers, metabolites, prodrugs, acid forraseglforms, salt forms, or
modified versions of 3,4-diaminopyridine. Catallisteby is and shall be a named third party bermefiaf this Section 5.11(b)(iii), with
all rights to enforce the terms of this Sectionlfa)(iii) against the Stockholders; provided, teatept as otherwise set forth in this
Section 5.11(b)(iii), Catalyst shall have no rigbtgemedies arising out of or with respect toAlggeement. The Stockholders
acknowledge and agree that the restrictions s#t fiorthis Section 5.11(b)(iii) are reasonable ardessary to protect the legitimate
interests of Catalyst and that any breach or tarest breach of this Section 5.11(b)(iii) may reBultreparable injury to Catalyst for
which there may be no adequate remedy at law dretent of a breach or threatened breach of tlisdBeb.11(b)(iii) by any
Stockholder, Catalyst shall be authorized andledtib obtain from any court of competent jurisitintinjunctive relief, whether
preliminary or permanent, specific performance, an@quitable accounting of all earnings, profitsj other benefits arising from such
breach, which rights shall be cumulative and init@itto any other rights or remedies to which Gatamay be entitled in law or equity.
The Stockholders agree to waive any requirementQhtalyst post a bond or other security as a ¢mmdior obtaining any such relief or
show irreparable harm, balancing of harms, conataer of the public interest, or inadequacy of ntanedamages as a reme”



EXECUTION COPY

The amendments agreed to in this Paragraph 2fAthiendment 2 are solely agreed to upon and irucetipn with the execution of the
License Agreement (as defined above), and if sucbrise Agreement is not executed or is termindkbeah the amendments agreed to in this
Paragraph 2 will no longer be valid or in forcepyaded, that, if the License Agreement is termidaay payment obligations arising out of
this Amendment 2 that accrued prior to any suamitgation shall survive such termination.

3. Section 5.13 of the Agreement is hereby amendeatiding the following sentenc

“The Purchaser shall provide the Stockholder Repriadive with an executed copy of the License Agrert. The Purchaser shall
not agree to amend, modify or waive any of the geofithe License Agreement in a manner that mdligegad adversely affects the
Stockholders, including their right to receive amisuthat may become due under Section 1.4 heréibiout the prior written
consent of the Stockholder Representative. Thetages shall provide the Stockholder Representatitrecopies of the
Development Plan and Development Reports providede Purchaser by Catalyst.”

4.  The definition of “Sublicensee” in Exhibit A tie Agreement shall be deleted in its entirety mpdaced with the following new
definition:
“ Sublicense€ means an Entity to whom a party, or a directrafiiect sublicensee of a party, has granted a tigtievelop,
manufacture, sell, market, distribute and/or praveProduct.”

5.  The Purchaser shall pay to the Stockholders*[*6f any consideration that may be received byRuechaser or its Affiliates as a
result of any grant of rights, license, sublicerssde or other disposition of a Product, including License Agreement and any
subsequent amendment to the License Agreemenktsunti time as Stockholders have received cum@gayments of [****]
excluding any payments to be made under Sectionfll#e Agreemenprovided, howevethat such consideration shall not incli
[****]. All payments under this Section 5 shall meade to the Stockholders in U.S. dollars withimt$h{30) days after receipt by
Purchaser. The Purchaser shall submit with eadh gaigment a statement reflecting the calculatiothefamount paid to the
Stockholders

[****] = Certain confidential information containeth this document, marked by brackets, has beettedrand filed separately with The
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to BiE-2 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, asraied.



10.

EXECUTION COPY

Capitalized terms used in this Amendment 2 butotioérwise defined herein shall have the meaningfogé in the Agreemen

Except as expressly set forth in this AmendmeasllZyther terms of the Agreement shall remain ihfirce and effect and once t
Amendment 2 is executed by the parties heretoetdtences in the Agreement to “the Agreement’tbis*Agreement,” as
applicable, shall refer to the Agreement, as medifiy this Amendment ;

This Amendment 2 and the relationship of theipsihereto shall be construed in accordance waitt,governed in all respects by,
the internal laws of the State of New York (withguiting effect to principles of conflicts of law¢

This Amendment 2 will apply to, be binding ih@spects upon and inure to the benefit of thessgors and permitted assigns of
the parties

This Amendment 2 may be executed in severaiteoparts, each of which shall be deemed an otigimé all of which shall
constitute one and the same instrument, and shedirbe effective when counterparts have been signeach of the parties and
delivered to the other parties; it being understihad all parties need not sign the same countetpBne exchange of copies of this
Amendment 2 and of signature pages by facsimilestrassion (whether directly from one facsimile @evio another by means of a
dial-up connection or whether mediated by the weid@ web), by electronic mail in “portable documé&rmat” (“.pdf”) form, or

by any other electronic means intended to presieveriginal graphic and pictorial appearance dbeument, or by combination
such means, shall constitute effective executiahdmlivery of this Amendment 2 as to the partied mmay be used in lieu of the
original Amendment 2 for all purposes. Signaturethe parties transmitted by facsimile or othercetenic means shall be deemed
to be their original signatures for all purpos

[ Signature Page Follow]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exetatel delivered this Amendment 2 as of the dase dibove written.

PURCHASER: BIOMARIN PHARMACEUTICAL INC.

By: /s/ G. Eric. Davis

Name G. Eric Davis

Title: SVP, General Couns

STOCKHOLDER REPRESENTATIVE: ACERAS BIOMEDICAL, LLC
On Behalf of Itself and for All Stockholde

By: /s/ John Liato:

Name John Liatos

Title: Managing Membe

AS THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY
OF SECTION 5.11(b)(iii), AS
AMENDED HEREBY: CATALYST PHARMACEUTICAL PARTNERS, INC,

By: /s/ Patrick J. McEnan

Name Patrick J. McEnan

Title: Chairman, President & CE




Subsidiaries of BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. as oDecember 31, 2012

Name

Direct Parent(s)

Huxley Pharmaceuticals Lt
BioMarin GALNSs Ltd.

BMRN 701 Limited

BioMarin Brasil Farmaceutica Ltd
BioMarin Holding Limited
BioMarin Holdings (LUX) S.A.R.L.
BioMarin Europe Ltd

BioMarin Manufacturing Ireland Ltc

BioMarin Pharmaceutical In
BioMarin Pharmaceutical In
BioMarin Pharmaceutical In
BioMarin Pharmaceutical In
BioMarin Pharmaceutical In:
BioMarin Holding Limited
BioMarin Holdings (LUX) S.A.R.L.
BioMarin Holding Limited

Ownership
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Exhibit 21.1

Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Ireland

Ireland

Ireland

Brazil

Ireland

Luxembourg

Ireland

Ireland




Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference irrdéiggstration statements (Nos. 333-168552, 333-636333-84787, 333-85368 and 333-
181697) on Form S-8 and the registration statemeiiorm S-3 (No. 333-181766) of BioMarin Pharmaimaliinc. and subsidiaries of our
reports dated February 26, 2013, with respectdéatinsolidated balance sheets of BioMarin Pharnt@e¢inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related cdasedl statements of operations, comprehensive ¢wss), stockholdergquity and cas
flows for each of the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2012, and the wieeiss of internal control over financial repogti
of December 31, 2012, which reports appear in theehber 31, 2012 annual report on Form 10-K of BidMPharmaceutical Inc. and
subsidiaries.

/sl KPMG LLP

San Francisco, California
February 26, 2013



Exhibit 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N83:B31697, 333-168552, 333-136963,

333-85368 and 333-84787) and Form S-3 (333-181@6BJoMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. of our report daksbruary 24, 2011 relating to the
financial statements of BioMarin/Genzyme LLC, whaghpears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 26, 2013



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Jean-Jacques Bienaimé, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or eondtate a material fact necessan
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsotimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, angdtfie periods presented in this
report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and1B§d)) and internal control over financial repogtias defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresaused such disclosure controls and procedoies designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiairmédion relating to the registrant, including itmsolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is
being preparec

b) designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over fomahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readerasurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentnisineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disctosantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by thi
report based on such evaluation;

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegyi¢'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an atmaport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evélly affect, the registrant’s internal contraler financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaituat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct(@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknessehe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; anc

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifrole in the
registran’'s internal control over financial reportir

Date: February 26, 201

/s/ JEAN-JACQUES BIENAIME
Jear-Jacques Bienain
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Daniel Spiegelman certify that:
6. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc

7. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or eondtate a material fact necessan
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

8. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsodimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, angdtfie periods presented in this
report;

9. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and1B§d)) and internal control over financial repogtias defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoresaused such disclosure controls and procedoies designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiairmédion relating to the registrant, including itmsolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is
being preparec

b) designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over fomahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readerasurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentnisineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disctosantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by thi
report based on such evaluation;

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegyi¢'s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an atmaport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evélly affect, the registrant’s internal contraler financial reporting;
and

10. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dainhave disclosed, based on our most recent el@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct(@spersons performing the
equivalent functions)

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknessehe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; anc

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a signifrole in the
registran’'s internal control over financial reportir

Date: February 26, 201

/s/ DANIEL SPIEGELMAN
Daniel Spiegelma
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fiB@mMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. (the Company) foe trear ended December 31, 2012, a
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiohe date hereof (the Report), we, Jean-JacqumBié, and Daniel Spiegelman, hereby
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopteduyant to 8906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 200, t

(1) the Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgwAct of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

/SI JEAN-JACQUES BIENAIME
Jear-Jacques Bienain

Chief Executive Office
February 26, 201

/S/ DANIEL SPIEGELMAN

Daniel Spiegelma

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
February 26, 201




Exhibit 99.1

BioMarin/Genzyme LLC
Index to Financial Statements

Report of Independent Audito

Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2012 (unau@ited2011 (unauditec 2
Statements of Operations for the Years Ended Deeer3fh, 2012 (unaudited), 2011 (unaudited) and : 3
Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended Deeerilh, 2012 (unaudited), 2011 (unaudited) and : 4
Statements of Changes in Ventu’ Capital for each of the Years Ended 2012 (unaufitd@11 (unaudited) and 20. 5
Notes to Financial Statemer 6-9



Report of Independent Auditors
To the Steering Committee of BioMarin/Genzyme LLC:

In our opinion, the accompanying statement of ajpmra, of cash flows and of changes of ventureagital present fairly, in all material
respects, the results of operations and cash fidBsoMarin/Genzyme LLC (the “Joint Venture”) fané¢ year ended December 31, 2010 in
conformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America. These fir@statements are the responsibility of
the Joint Venture’s management. Our responsibigitp express an opinion on these financial statésrigased on our audit. We conducted oul
audit of these statements in accordance with augdtiandards generally accepted in the United StdtAdmerica. Those standards require tha
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonabdéearance about whether the financial statemeatse® of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgghe amounts and disclosures in the finarstatements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made agagement, and evaluating the overall financiaéstant presentation. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers L
Boston, Massachuse!
February 24, 201



BioMarin/Genzyme LLC
Balance Sheets (unaudited)
(Amounts in thousands)

December 31

2012 2011
ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $3,34: $2,531
Total asset $3,34: $2,531
LIABILITIES AND VENTURERS ' CAPITAL
Current liabilities:
Due to BioMarin Companie $ 60 $ 13€
Due to Genzyme Corporatic 1,68 1,261
Accrued expense — 7
Total liabilities 1,745 1,40¢
Commitments and contingencies (Note — —
Venturer’ capital:
Venturer’ capita—BioMarin Companie: 1,041 563
Venturer’ capita—Genzyme Corporatio 55& 562
Total Venturer' capital 1,59¢ 1,12¢
Total liabilities and Venture’ capital $3,34: $2,531

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofaffesancial statements.

2



Revenues
Net product sale
Operating costs and expens
Cost of products sol
Selling, general and administrati
Research and developmt
Total operating costs and expen
Income (loss) from operatiol
Interest incom:
Net income (loss

Net income (loss) attributable to each Ventu
BioMarin Companie:

Genzyme Corporatio

BioMarin/Genzyme LLC
Statements of Operations
(Amounts in thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011
(unaudited)
$ — $ —
2,53¢ 4,85¢
2,53¢ 4,85¢
(2,53/) (4,855)
4 5
$(2,530  $(4,850
$ (1,265  $(2,425
$ (1,265  $(2,425

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofaHf@sancial statements.

3

2010




BioMarin/Genzyme LLC
Statements of Cash Flows
(Amounts in thousands)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income (loss
Reconciliation of net income (loss) to net cashvigled by (used in) operating activitie
Increase (decrease) in cash from working capitahgbs
Due from (to) BioMarin Companie
Due from (to) Genzyme Corporatit
Accrued expense
Cash flows from operating activitir
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Capital contribution from BioMarin Compani
Capital contribution from Genzyme Corporat
Cash flows provided by financing activiti
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivi
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢

Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011
(unaudited)
$(2,530  $ (4,850

(79) (9)

42€ (77)

@) (40
(2,189 (4,976
1,74: 1,90¢
1,25¢ 1,902
3,001 3,80¢
812 (1,179
2,531 3,702

$ 3,34 $ 2,531

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofalf@sancial statements.

4

2010

$ (6,006




Balance at December 31, 2009

2010 capital contributior
2010 net los:

Balance at December 31, 20

2011 capital contributior
2011 net los:

Balance at December 31, 2011 (unaudi

2012 capital contributior
2012 net los:

Balance at December 31, 2012 (unaudi

BioMarin/Genzyme LLC
Statements of Changes in Venturers’ Capital
(Amounts in thousands)

Venturers’ Capital

BioMarin Genzyme
Companies Corporation
$ 451 $ 451
3,632 3,632
(3,009 (3,009
1,90 1,90z
(2,42%) (2,425
1,74 1,25¢
(1,265 (1,269

$ 1,041 $ 55¢E

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofaffesancial statements.

Total
Venturers’

Capital
$ 914
7,26¢
6,00
$ 2,17(
3,80¢
4,85(

:

3,001

(2,530
$ 1,50¢



BioMarin/Genzyme LLC
Notes to Financial Statements
(unaudited)

A. Nature of Business and Organization

BioMarin/Genzyme LLC, or the Joint Venture, ismilied liability company organized under the lawshe# State of Delaware. The Joint
Venture is owned:

* 50% by BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc., which is reéerto as BioMarin, and BioMarin Genetics, Incwlaolly-owned subsidiary of
BioMarin. BioMarin and its subsidiary are refertedas the BioMarin Companies; a

* 50% by Genzyme Corporation, which is referred tGaszyme

The BioMarin Companies and Genzyme are collectivelgrred to as the Venturers and individually &eaturer. The Joint Venture w
organized in September 1998 to develop and comaimeiAldurazyme® , a recombinant form of the hureamyme alpha-liduronidase, use
to treat a lysosomal storage disorder known as pulgsaccharidosis |, or MPS I. The Joint Venturmomenced operations as of September 4
1998.

The Joint Venture, BioMarin Companies and Genzyntered into a Collaboration Agreement dated asept@nber 4, 1998, which was
subsequently amended and restated on January 8 (#@0‘Amended and Restated Collaboration Agredipddnder the terms of the
Amended and Restated Collaboration Agreement, Geeand the BioMarin Companies granted to the Jé@mture a world-wide, exclusive,
irrevocable, royalty-free right and license or scdhse to develop, manufacture and market Aldurazignthe treatment of MPS | and other
alpha-L-iduronidase deficiencies. Genzyme will recsales of Aldurazyme and will pay BioMarin a édrpayment ranging from
approximately 39.5% to 50% of worldwide net prodsaies, which will also be recorded by BioMarirpasduct revenue. Certain research anc
development activities related to Aldurazyme andliactual property will be managed by the Joinhiee on an equal basis.

BioMarin and Genzyme are required to make quarteafital contributions to the Joint Venture to fundigeted operating costs, as
necessary. All program related costs are equatigdd by BioMarin, on behalf of the BioMarin Compasiand Genzyme. If either BioMarin
or Genzyme fails to make two or more of the quértespital contributions, and the other party doesexercise its right to terminate the
Development Program or compel performance of thelifig obligation, the defaulting party’s (or, iretbase of default by BioMarin, the
BioMarin Companies’) percentage interest in thatlgienture and future funding responsibility wit ladjusted proportionately. In 2012,
BioMarin Companies and Genzyme contributed $1.Tani(unaudited) and $1.3 million (unaudited), restively to the Joint Venture. In
2011, both Venturers contributed $1.9 million (udiéed) and in 2010, both Venturers contributed $8iion to the Joint Venture.

The Steering Committee of the Joint Venture seagethe governing body of the Joint Venture anésponsible for determining the
overall strategy for the program, coordinating\atiis of the Venturers as well as performing othgch functions as appropriate. The Steering
Committee is comprised of an equal number of regiedives of each Venturer.

On April 30, 2003, the United States Food and Dxdginistration, commonly referred to as the FDAamped marketing approval for
Aldurazyme as an enzyme replacement therapy foengatwith the Hurler and Hurler-Scheie forms of MR and Scheie patients with
moderate to severe symptoms. Aldurazyme has beeegr orphan drug status in the United States,hwdenerally provides seven years of
market exclusivity. On June 11, 2003, the Eurog@ammission granted marketing approval for Alduragymtreat the non-neurological
manifestations of MPS | in patients with a confidvidagnosis of the disease. Aldurazyme has beeriggt@rphan drug status in the European
Union, which generally provides ten years of magkatlusivity. In October 2006, Japan’s Health, Lratnod Welfare Ministry granted
marketing approval for Aldurazyme, the first specifeatment approved in Japan for patients wittSMPAldurazyme has been granted orp
drug status in Japan, which generally provides/gans of market exclusivity. To date, Aldurazyms ha

6



BioMarin/Genzyme LLC
Notes to Financial Statements
(Continued)

received marketing approval in over fifty countrigéddurazyme is sold directly to physicians, hoalsit treatment centers, pharmacies and
government agencies through a specialized sales,fas well as through distributors or wholesalers.

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The Joint Venture is considered a partnershipddefal and state income tax purposes. As suchs itéimcome, loss, deductions and
credits flow through to the Venturers. The Ventsareave responsibility for the payment of any incdenes on their proportionate share of the
taxable income of the Joint Venture.

The financial statements for the year ended DeceBthe2010 have been audited.

Accounting Method

The financial statements have been prepared uhdedcrual method of accounting in conformity vétttounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Fiscal Year End
The Venturers have determined that the fiscal gadrof the Joint Venture is December 31.

Use of Estimates

Under accounting principles generally acceptethénUWnited States of America, the Joint Ventureuired to make certain estimates
and assumptions that affect reported amounts etadmbilities, revenues, expenses, and disafosficontingent assets and liabilities in its
financial statements. The Joint Venture's actusiliits could differ from these estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, consisting principdlipaney market funds with initial maturities of @& months or less, are valued at cost
plus accrued interest, which the Joint Venturedwels approximates their fair market value. Moneyketsfunds are typically classified as
Level 1 investments as these products do not regudignificant degree of judgment. All of the ddfienture’s cash is held on deposit at one
financial institution.

Comprehensive Income

The Joint Venture reports comprehensive incomedaom@ance with Financial Accounting Standards B@adounting Standards
Cadification, or ASC, 220, “Comprehensive Incom@dmprehensive income for the years ended Decenihe032, 2011 and 2010 does not
differ from the reported net income.

Transactions with Affiliates

The majority of the Joint Venture’s operating exgenconsist of project expenses incurred by thewers, either for internal operating
costs or for third-party obligations incurred by tienturers on behalf of

7



BioMarin/Genzyme LLC
Notes to Financial Statements
(Continued)

the Joint Venture which are then charged to thetJénture. All charges to the Joint Venture angject to approval by the Steering
Committee. The determination of the amount of imiboperating costs incurred by each Venturer dralbef the Joint Venture requires
significant judgment by each Venturer. As a reghk, financial statements for the Joint Venture matybe indicative of the results that would
have occurred had the Joint Venture obtained atsaohanufacturing, commercialization and researuth development services from third-
party entities. The Joint Venture owed BioMarin G@amies $0.1 million (unaudited) at December 31228dd $0.1 million (unaudited) at
December 31, 2011 for project expenses incurredebalf of the Joint Venture. The Joint Venture ovehzyme Corporation $1.7 million
(unaudited) at December 31, 2012 and $1.3 milliora¢dited) at December 31, 2011 for project expemsrirred on behalf of the Joint
Venture.

Translation of Foreign Currencies

In 2012, 2011 and 2010 all expenses incurred oalbehthe Joint Venture were in U.S. dollars amdforeign currency transaction gains
or losses were incurred.

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensedpeiioe incurred. These costs are primarily comprisiedevelopment efforts
performed by the Venturers or payments to thirdipaimade by the Venturers, both on behalf of thetJ/enture, during the respective
periods.

Income Taxes

The Joint Venture is organized as a pass-througity emd accordingly, the financial statements dbinclude a provision for income
taxes. Taxes, if any, are the liability of the Bialh Companies and Genzyme, as Venturers.

C. Venturers’ Capital

Venturers’capital is comprised of capital contributions mageéhe Venturers to fund expenses of the Joint Menn accordance with t
Collaboration Agreement, and income (losses) alkxt#o the Venturers, net of cash distributionth®Venturers. All funding is shared equi
by the two Venturers.

As of December 31, 2012, the BioMarin Companies@adzyme funded $78.4 million (unaudited) and $78illon (unaudited),
respectively, net of $39.9 million of cash disttid by the Joint Venture to each Venturer.

In 2012, BioMarin Companies and Genzyme contrib&®ed million (unaudited) and $1.3 million (unawdi}, respectively, to cover
operating expenses. In 2011 and 2010, each Vertargributed $1.9 million (unaudited) and $3.6 roill, respectively, to cover the operating
expenses.

D. Commitments and Contingencies
Legal Proceedings

Under the Joint Venture’s operation agreementJdiet Venture indemnifies its affiliates for acerformed under the agreement on
behalf of the Joint Venture, including amounts gaidaffiliates in connection with legal proceedingkated to the Joint Venture or its
operations.



BioMarin/Genzyme LLC
Notes to Financial Statements
(Continued)

There have been four lawsuits filed in Brazil altegthat an affiliate of a member of the Joint est Rio Grande do Sul State, is
contractually obligated to provide drugs at no ¢costeveral patients. In two of the cases, theeSthRio Grande do Sul had already paid fol
supply of Aldurazyme at the time Genzyme joinediefendant. Therefore, there is no amount of rigliegble to the Joint Venture with
respect to these cases, given that the State dbRinde do Sul should, if applicable, pledge nettin in a new Action for Recovery. In the
other two cases, Genzyme continued supplying Alduree during the course of the actions. Therefdreetis no amount of risk applicable to
the Joint Venture with respect to this case either.

Management of the Joint Venture is not able to ipteéte outcome of these cases or estimate witlaiogy the amount or range of any
possible loss the Joint Venture might incur if #ffliate does not prevail in the final, n@ppealable determination of any or all of thesetens
and the Joint Venture has to indemnify the afiitdr amounts paid related to settlement of anthe$e lawsuits

The Joint Venture periodically becomes subjecetal proceedings and claims arising in connectiith ig business. The Joint Venture
is not able to predict the outcome of any legatpealings, to which it may become subject in themabicourse of business, or estimate the
amount or range of any reasonably possible losgdhm Venture might incur if it does not prevailthe final, norappealable determinations
such matters. Therefore, the Joint Venture hasun@ist accruals for these potential contingendiég. Joint Venture cannot provide you with
assurance that legal proceedings will not have temaaadverse impact on its financial conditiorr@sults of operations.
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